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PART I
Item 1. Financial Statements
Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended March

31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Revenues $ 440.4 $ 488.2 
Operating costs:

Cost of revenues 361.1 391.3 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 56.4 51.8 

417.5 443.1 
Total operating profit 22.9 45.1 

Interest expense 2.1 3.3 
Other, net (income) expense 0.5 (0.2)
Income before income taxes 20.3 42.0 

Provision for income taxes 4.4 10.4 

Net income $ 15.9 $ 31.6 

Net income per common share:
Basic $ 0.33 $ 0.65 
Diluted $ 0.32 $ 0.65 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 48.0 47.8 
Diluted 48.8 48.4 

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.05 $ 0.05 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended March

31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Net income $ 15.9 $ 31.6 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Derivative financial instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax expense (benefit) of $0.2 and ($0.9) 0.5 (3.4)
Reclassification adjustments for losses included in net income, net of tax expense (benefit) of ($0.1) and ($0.1) 0.4 0.2 

Currency translation adjustment:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax expense (benefit) of $0.0 and ($0.2) 0.1 (1.1)

1.0 (4.3)
Comprehensive income $ 16.9 $ 27.3 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

(unaudited)
 (in millions)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 81.9 $ 95.8 
Receivables, net of allowance 289.1 260.2 
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies 136.7 114.6 
Work in process 45.0 44.4 
Finished goods 107.6 117.8 

289.3 276.8 
Other 37.5 32.1 

Total current assets 697.8 664.9 

Property, plant, and equipment, net 905.2 913.3 
Goodwill 791.3 794.0 
Intangibles, net 211.7 212.9 
Deferred income taxes 15.2 15.4 
Other assets 44.8 46.2 

$ 2,666.0 $ 2,646.7 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 175.7 $ 144.1 
Accrued liabilities 102.1 115.2 
Advance billings 28.6 44.7 
Current portion of long-term debt 5.8 6.3 

Total current liabilities 312.2 310.3 

Debt 250.1 248.2 
Deferred income taxes 114.1 112.7 
Other liabilities 78.3 83.3 

754.7 754.5 
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock – 200.0 shares authorized 0.5 0.5 
Capital in excess of par value 1,699.4 1,694.1 
Retained earnings 233.2 219.7 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (21.1) (22.1)
Treasury stock (0.7) — 

1,911.3 1,892.2 
$ 2,666.0 $ 2,646.7 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended 

March 31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Operating activities:

Net income $ 15.9 $ 31.6 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 31.4 26.8 
Stock-based compensation expense 4.7 3.7 
Provision for deferred income taxes 1.3 3.2 
Gains on disposition of property and other assets (5.9) (0.8)
(Increase) decrease in other assets 1.5 (2.4)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (4.0) 0.2 
Other 2.2 2.0 
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in receivables (31.9) (7.2)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (14.7) (7.9)
(Increase) decrease in other current assets (5.4) 7.8 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 31.6 14.0 
Increase (decrease) in advance billings (16.1) (9.4)
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (10.2) (20.1)

Net cash provided by operating activities 0.4 41.5 

Investing activities:
Proceeds from disposition of property and other assets 9.5 5.1 
Capital expenditures (19.9) (21.1)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (309.4)

Net cash required by investing activities (10.4) (325.4)

Financing activities:
Payments to retire debt (1.4) (0.3)
Proceeds from issuance of debt — 250.2 
Shares repurchased — (2.0)
Dividends paid to common shareholders (2.4) (2.5)
Purchase of shares to satisfy employee tax on vested stock (0.1) — 
Other — (1.2)

Net cash provided by (required by) financing activities (3.9) 244.2 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (13.9) (39.7)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 95.8 240.4 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 81.9 $ 200.7 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(unaudited)

Common 
Stock Capital in 

Excess of 
Par Value

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Treasury 
Stock Total 

Stockholders’ 
EquityShares

$0.01 Par
Value Shares Amount

(in millions, except par value)
Balances at December 31, 2019 48.3 $ 0.5 $ 1,686.7 $ 122.9 $ (19.7) — $ — $ 1,790.4 
Net income — — — 31.6 — — — 31.6 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (4.3) — — (4.3)
Cash dividends on common stock — — — (2.5) — — — (2.5)
Restricted shares, net — — 4.7 — — — (1.0) 3.7 
Shares repurchased — — — — — (0.1) (2.0) (2.0)
Other — — (0.9) — — — — (0.9)
Balances at March 31, 2020 48.3 $ 0.5 $ 1,690.5 $ 152.0 $ (24.0) (0.1) $ (3.0) $ 1,816.0 

Balances at December 31, 2020 48.2 $ 0.5 $ 1,694.1 $ 219.7 $ (22.1) — $ — $ 1,892.2 
Net income — — — 15.9 — — — 15.9 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 1.0 — — 1.0 
Cash dividends on common stock — — — (2.4) — — — (2.4)
Restricted shares, net — — 5.3 — — — (0.7) 4.6 
Balances at March 31, 2021 48.2 $ 0.5 $ 1,699.4 $ 233.2 $ (21.1) — $ (0.7) $ 1,911.3 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

Note 1. Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Arcosa, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Arcosa,” the “Company,” “we,” or “our”), headquartered in Dallas, Texas, is a provider of infrastructure-related
products  and  solutions  with  leading  brands  serving  construction,  engineered  structure,  and  transportation  markets  in  North  America.  Arcosa  is  a  Delaware
corporation  and  was  incorporated  in  2018  in  connection  with  the  separation  (the  “Separation”)  of  Arcosa  from  Trinity  Industries,  Inc.  (“Trinity”  or  “Former
Parent”) on November 1, 2018 as an independent, publicly-traded company, listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial  Statements are unaudited and have been prepared from the books and records of Arcosa, Inc.  and its  consolidated
subsidiaries.  All  normal  and  recurring  adjustments  necessary  for  a  fair  presentation  of  the  financial  position  of  the  Company  and  the  results  of  operations,
comprehensive income/loss,  and cash flows have been made in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Because of seasonal and other factors, including the unknown potential duration, spread, severity,
and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Arcosa's business, financial condition, and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 may not be
indicative of Arcosa's expected business, financial condition, and results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2021.

These interim financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements of the Company included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Stockholders' Equity

In  December  2020,  the  Company’s  Board  of  Directors  (the  “Board”)  authorized  a  new  $50  million  share  repurchase  program  effective  January  1,
2021 through December 31, 2022. The new program replaced the previous program which expired on December 31, 2020. For the three months ended March 31,
2021, the Company repurchased no shares. As of March 31, 2021, the Company had a remaining authorization of $50.0 million under the program.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured based on the allocation of the transaction price in a contract to satisfied performance obligations. The transaction price does not include
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product
or service to a customer. The following is a description of principal activities from which the Company generates its revenue, separated by reportable segments.
Payments for our products and services are generally due within normal commercial terms. For a further discussion regarding the Company’s reportable segments,
see Note 4 Segment Information.

Construction Products

The Construction Products segment recognizes substantially all revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product has passed to
the customer.

Engineered Structures

Within the Engineered Structures segment, revenue is recognized for our wind tower, certain utility structure, and certain storage tank product lines over time as
the products are manufactured using an input approach based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of production. We recognize revenue over
time for these products as they are highly customized to the needs of an individual customer resulting in no alternative use to the Company if not purchased by the
customer after the contract is executed, and we have the right to bill the customer for our work performed to date plus at least a reasonable profit margin for work
performed. As of March 31, 2021, we had a contract asset of $39.6 million related to these contracts, compared to $82.8 million at December 31, 2020, which is
included in receivables,  net of allowance, within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The decrease in the contract  asset is attributed to large deliveries of finished
structures to customers in the first quarter. For all other products, revenue is recognized when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product
has passed to the customer.

Transportation Products

The Transportation Products segment recognizes revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product has passed to the customer.
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Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
satisfied as of March 31, 2021 and the percentage of the outstanding performance obligations as of March 31, 2021 expected to be delivered during the remainder
of 2021:

Unsatisfied performance obligations at March 31, 2021
Total 

Amount
Percent expected to be

delivered in 2021
 (in millions)
Engineered Structures:

Utility, wind, and related structures $ 379.5 100 %
Storage tanks $ 30.7 100 %

Transportation Products:
Inland barges $ 133.2 91 %

Substantially all unsatisfied performance obligations beyond 2021 are expected to be delivered during 2022.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used to account for income taxes. Deferred income taxes represent the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of  assets  and  liabilities  for  financial  reporting  purposes  and  the  amounts  used  for  income  tax  purposes.  Valuation  allowances  reduce  deferred  tax  assets  to  an
amount that will more likely than not be realized.

The  Company  regularly  evaluates  the  likelihood  of  realization  of  tax  benefits  derived  from  positions  it  has  taken  in  various  federal  and  state  filings  after
consideration  of  all  relevant  facts,  circumstances,  and  available  information.  For  those  tax  positions  that  are  deemed  more  likely  than  not  to  be  sustained,  the
Company recognizes the benefit it believes is cumulatively greater than 50% likely to be realized. To the extent the Company were to prevail in matters for which
accruals have been established or be required to pay amounts in excess of recorded reserves, the effective tax rate in a given financial statement period could be
materially impacted.

Financial Instruments

The  Company  considers  all  highly  liquid  debt  instruments  to  be  cash  and  cash  equivalents  if  purchased  with  a  maturity  of  three  months  or  less.  Financial
instruments  that  potentially subject  the Company to a concentration of credit  risk are primarily cash investments  and receivables.  The Company places its  cash
investments in bank deposits and highly-rated money market funds, and its investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer.
We seek to limit concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables with control procedures that monitor the credit worthiness of customers, together with the
large  number  of  customers  in  the  Company's  customer  base  and  their  dispersion  across  different  industries  and  geographic  areas.  As  receivables  are  generally
unsecured, the Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the expected credit losses. Receivable balances determined to be uncollectible
are charged against the allowance. To accelerate the conversion to cash, the Company may sell a portion of its trade receivables to a third party. The Company has
no  continuing  involvement  or  recourse  related  to  these  receivables  once  they  are  sold,  and  the  impact  of  these  transactions  in  the  Company's  Consolidated
Statements  of  Operations  for  the  three  months  ended  March  31,  2021  was  not  significant.  The  carrying  values  of  cash,  receivables,  and  accounts  payable  are
considered to be representative of their respective fair values.

Derivative Instruments

The Company may, from time to time, use derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates, commodity prices, or changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. For derivative instruments designated as hedges, the Company formally documents the relationship between the derivative instrument and
the hedged item, as well as the risk management objective and strategy for the use of the derivative instrument. This documentation includes linking the derivative
to  specific  assets  or  liabilities  on  the  balance  sheet,  commitments,  or  forecasted  transactions.  At  the  time  a  derivative  instrument  is  entered  into,  and  at  least
quarterly thereafter, the Company assesses whether the derivative instrument is effective in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.
Any change in the fair value of the hedged instrument is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss (“AOCL”) as a separate component of stockholders'
equity and reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The Company monitors its derivative positions and the
credit ratings of its counterparties and does not anticipate losses due to counterparties' non-performance.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

Effective as of January 1, 2020, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses”, (“ASU 2016-13”),
which amends the existing accounting guidance for recognizing credit losses on financial assets and certain other instruments not measured at fair value through
net income, including financial assets measured at amortized cost, such as trade receivables and contract assets. ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss
impairment  model  with  an  expected  credit  loss  model  that  requires  consideration  of  a  broader  range  of  information  to  estimate  expected  credit  losses  over  the
lifetime of the asset. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective as of January 1, 2021, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Updated No. 2019-12, “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”, (“ASU
2019-12”),  which  simplifies  the  accounting  for  income  taxes  by  removing  certain  exceptions  to  the  general  principles  for  income  taxes.  The  adoption  of  this
guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not adopted as of March 31, 2021

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform” (“ASU 2020-
04”) which provides optional guidance for contract modifications, hedging accounting, and other transactions associated with the transition from reference rates
that  are expected to be discontinued.  ASU 2020-04 is effective for all  entities  upon issuance through December 31, 2022. We are still  evaluating the impact of
adoption, but do not expect the guidance to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures

2021 Acquisitions

On April  9,  2021,  we completed  the  stock acquisition  of  StonePoint  Ultimate  Holding,  LLC and affiliated  entities  (collectively  “StonePoint”),  a  top 25 U.S.
construction  aggregates  company,  which  will  be  included  in  our  Construction  Products  segment  for  a  total  purchase  price  of  approximately  $375  million.  The
acquisition will be recorded as a business combination and was funded with proceeds from a private offering of $400.0 million of 4.375% senior unsecured notes
that closed on April 6, 2021. See Note 7 Debt for additional information.

2020 Acquisitions

On January 6, 2020, we completed the stock acquisition of Cherry Industries, Inc. and affiliated entities (collectively “Cherry”), a leading producer of natural
and recycled aggregates in the Houston, Texas market, which is included in our Construction Products segment. The purchase price of $296.8 million was funded
with  a  combination  of  cash  on-hand,  advances  under  a  new  $150.0  million  five-year  term  loan,  and  future  payments  to  the  seller  for  a  net  cash  paid  of
$284.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020. See Note 7 Debt for additional information on our credit  facility.  Non-recurring transaction and
integration costs incurred related to the Cherry acquisition were approximately $0.9 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020. The acquisition was
recorded  as  a  business  combination  with  valuations  of  the  assets  acquired  and  liabilities  at  their  acquisition  date  fair  value  using  level  three  inputs,  defined  as
unobservable  inputs  that  are  supported  by  little  or  no  market  activity  and  that  are  significant  to  the  fair  value  of  the  assets  and  liabilities.  The  following  table
represents our final purchase price allocation:

(in millions)
Accounts receivable $ 30.5 
Inventories 11.8 
Property, plant, and equipment 58.8 
Mineral reserves 17.2 
Goodwill 133.3 
Customer relationships 62.1 
Permits 25.4 
Other assets 4.3 
Accounts payable (7.5)
Accrued liabilities (4.9)
Deferred taxes (32.7)
Other liabilities (1.5)
Total net assets acquired $ 296.8 

10



Table of Contents

The  goodwill  acquired,  none  of  which  is  tax  deductible,  primarily  relates  to  Cherry's  market  position  and  existing  workforce.  The  customer  relationship
intangibles  and  permits  were  assigned  weighted  average  useful  lives  of  14.9  years  and  19.8  years,  respectively.  Revenues  and  operating  profit  included  in  the
Consolidated Statement of Operations from the date of the acquisition were approximately $43.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively, during the three months
ended March 31, 2020.

The  following  table  represents  the  unaudited  pro-forma  consolidated  operating  results  of  the  Company  as  if  the  Cherry  acquisition  had  been  completed  on
January  1,  2019.  The  unaudited  pro-forma  information  makes  certain  adjustments  to  depreciation,  depletion,  and  amortization  expense  to  reflect  the  fair  value
recognized in the purchase price allocation,  removes one-time transaction related costs,  and aligns the Company's debt  financing with that  as of the acquisition
date. The unaudited pro-forma information should not be considered indicative of the results that would have occurred if the acquisition had been completed on
January 1, 2019, nor is such unaudited pro-forma information necessarily indicative of future results.

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 2020

Year Ended 
December 31, 2019

(in millions)
Revenues $ 488.2 $ 1,916.9 
Income before income taxes $ 44.4 $ 163.8 

In  March 2020,  we completed  the  acquisition  of  certain  assets  and liabilities  of  a  traffic  structures  business  in  our  Engineered Structures  segment  for  a  total
purchase price of $25.5 million. The acquisition was recorded as a business combination based on valuations of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition date fair value using level three inputs. The valuation resulted in the recognition of $10.0 million of goodwill in our Engineered Structures segment.
Such assets and liabilities were not significant in relation to assets and liabilities at the consolidated or segment level.

In June 2020, we completed the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of a concrete poles business in our Engineered Structures segment. The purchase price
of the acquisition was not significant.

In July 2020, we completed the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of a telecommunication structures business in our Engineered Structures segment for a
total purchase price of $27.8 million. The acquisition was recorded as a business combination based on valuations of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
their acquisition date fair value using level three inputs. The valuation resulted in the recognition of $8.5 million of goodwill in our Engineered Structures segment.
Such assets and liabilities were not significant in relation to assets and liabilities at the consolidated or segment level.

In August 2020, we completed the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of a natural aggregates business in our Construction Products segment for a total
purchase price of $25.8 million. The acquisition was recorded as a business combination based on valuations of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition date fair  value using level  three inputs.  The valuation resulted in the recognition of $8.7 million of goodwill  in our Construction Products  segment.
Such assets and liabilities were not significant in relation to assets and liabilities at the consolidated or segment level.

In October 2020, we completed the stock acquisition of Strata Materials, LLC (“Strata”), a leading provider of natural and recycled aggregates in the Dallas-Fort
Worth, Texas area, which is included in our Construction Products segment for a total purchase price of $87.0 million. The acquisition was recorded as a business
combination based on valuations of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair value using level three inputs. The preliminary valuation
resulted in the recognition of $51.6 million of permits with an initial weighted average useful life of 22.8 years and $4.0 million of goodwill in our Construction
Products segment. The remaining assets and liabilities were not significant in relation to assets and liabilities at the consolidated or segment level. Adjustments to
the  preliminary  purchase  price  allocation  could  be  material  to  the  purchase  price  allocation,  particularly  with  respect  to  our  preliminary  estimates  of  identified
intangible assets.

In October 2020, we also completed the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities  of a traffic  structures business in our Engineered Structures segment.  The
purchase price of the acquisition was not significant.

Divestitures

There was no divestiture activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

Note 3. Fair Value Accounting

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:
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 Fair Value Measurement as of March 31, 2021
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in millions)
Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 50.0 $ — $ — $ 50.0 
Total assets $ 50.0 $ — $ — $ 50.0 

Liabilities:
Interest rate hedge $ — $ 6.3 $ — $ 6.3 
Contingent consideration — — 9.2 9.2 

Total liabilities $ — $ 6.3 $ 9.2 $ 15.5 

 Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2020
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in millions)
Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 27.1 $ — $ — $ 27.1 
Total assets $ 27.1 $ — $ — $ 27.1 

Liabilities:
Interest rate hedge $ — $ 7.3 $ — $ 7.3 
Contingent consideration — — 9.8 9.8 

Total liabilities $ — $ 7.3 $ 9.8 $ 17.1 

Included in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Current portion included in accrued liabilities and non-current portion included in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market  for  that  asset  or  liability  in  an  orderly  transaction  between  market  participants  on  the  measurement  date.  An  entity  is  required  to  establish  a  fair  value
hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The three levels of inputs that may
be used to measure fair values are listed below:

Level 1 – This level is defined as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The Company’s cash equivalents are instruments of the U.S.
Treasury or highly-rated money market mutual funds.

Level 2 – This level is defined as observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that
are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Interest
rate hedges are valued at exit prices obtained from each counterparty. See Note 7 Debt.

Level 3 – This level is defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities. Contingent consideration relates to estimated future payments owed to the sellers of businesses previously acquired. We estimate the fair value of the
contingent consideration using a discounted cash flow model. The fair value is sensitive to changes in the forecast of sales and changes in discount rates and is
reassessed quarterly based on assumptions used in our latest projections.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1) 
(2) 
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Note 4. Segment Information

The Company reports operating results in three principal business segments:

Construction Products. The Construction Products  segment  produces  and sells  construction aggregates,  including natural  and recycled aggregates  and specialty
materials, and manufactures and sells trench shields and shoring products and services for infrastructure-related projects.

Engineered Structures. The Company renamed this segment as of December 31, 2020 from Energy Equipment to better reflect the products delivered. There have
been no changes to the businesses that have historically comprised this segment. The Engineered Structures segment manufactures and sells engineered structures
primarily  for  infrastructure  businesses,  including  utility  structures  for  electricity  transmission  and  distribution,  structural  wind  towers,  traffic  structures,  and
telecommunication  structures.  These  products  share  similar  manufacturing  competencies  and  steel  sourcing  requirements,  and  can  be  manufactured  across  our
North American footprint. The segment also manufactures storage and distribution tanks.

Transportation Products. The Transportation Products segment manufactures and sells products for the inland waterway and rail transportation industries including
barges, barge-related products, axles, and couplers.

The financial information for these segments is shown in the tables below. We operate principally in North America.

 Three Months Ended March 31,
Revenues Operating Profit (Loss)

 2021 2020 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Aggregates and specialty materials $ 135.3 $ 132.1 
Other 17.9 17.3 

Construction Products 153.2 149.4 $ 15.8 $ 16.8 

Utility, wind, and related structures 164.0 176.4 
Storage tanks 43.0 46.8 

Engineered Structures 207.0 223.2 17.5 24.9 

Inland barges 57.9 89.0 
Steel components 22.3 28.0 

Transportation Products 80.2 117.0 4.1 14.3 

Segment Totals before Eliminations and Corporate 440.4 489.6 37.4 56.0 
Corporate — — (14.5) (10.9)
Eliminations — (1.4) — — 

Consolidated Total $ 440.4 $ 488.2 $ 22.9 $ 45.1 

Note 5. Property, Plant, and Equipment

The following table summarizes the components of property, plant, and equipment as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
March 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
 (in millions)
Land $ 139.9 $ 139.2 
Mineral reserves 247.7 249.9 
Buildings and improvements 306.9 302.3 
Machinery and other 858.7 853.6 
Construction in progress 56.1 49.6 

1,609.3 1,594.6 
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion (704.1) (681.3)

$ 905.2 $ 913.3 
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Note 6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill by segment is as follows:
March 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
 (in millions)
Construction Products $ 316.5 $ 320.0 
Engineered Structures 437.8 437.0 
Transportation Products 37.0 37.0 

$ 791.3 $ 794.0 

The decrease in Construction Products goodwill during the three months ended March 31, 2021 is primarily due to a refinement of the purchase price allocation
of a recent acquisition. The increase in Engineered Structures goodwill during the three months ended March 31, 2021 is due to a refinement of the purchase price
allocation of a recent acquisition. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures.

Intangible Assets

Intangibles, net consisted of the following:

March 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

(in millions)
Intangibles with indefinite lives - Trademarks $ 34.1 $ 34.1 

Intangibles with definite lives:
Customer relationships 123.7 123.8
Permits 77.0 73.6
Other 8.0 8.1

208.7 205.5
Less accumulated amortization (31.1) (26.7)

177.6 178.8
Intangible assets, net $ 211.7 $ 212.9 

Note 7. Debt

The following table summarizes the components of debt as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

March 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

 (in millions)
Revolving credit facility $ 100.0 $ 100.0 
Term loan 148.1 149.1 
Finance leases 8.0 5.6 

256.1 254.7 
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (0.2) (0.2)

Total debt $ 255.9 $ 254.5 

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

On November  1,  2018,  the  Company  entered  into  a  $400.0  million  unsecured  revolving  credit  facility  that  was  scheduled  to  mature  in  November  2023.  On
January 2, 2020, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to increase the revolving credit facility to $500.0 million and add a term
loan facility of $150.0 million, in each case with a maturity date of January 2, 2025. The entire term loan was advanced on January 2, 2020 in connection with the
closing of the acquisition of Cherry. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures. As of March 31, 2021, the term loan had a remaining balance of $148.1 million.
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The interest  rates  under  the  revolving  credit  facility  and  term loan  are  variable  based  on  LIBOR or  an  alternate  base  rate  plus  a  margin.  A commitment  fee
accrues on the average daily unused portion of the revolving facility. The margin for borrowing and commitment fee rate are determined based on the Company’s
leverage as measured by a consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA ratio. The margin for borrowing ranges from 1.25% to 2.00% and was set at
LIBOR plus 1.25% as of March 31, 2021. The commitment fee rate ranges from 0.20% to 0.35% and was set at 0.20% at March 31, 2021. 

As of March 31, 2021, we had $100.0 million of outstanding loans borrowed under the revolving credit facility, and there were approximately $28.7 million of
letters of credit issued, leaving $371.3 million available. Of the outstanding letters of credit as of March 31, 2021, $25.1 million are expected to expire in 2021,
with the remainder in 2022. The majority of our letters of credit obligations support the Company’s various insurance programs and generally renew by their terms
each year.

The  Company's  revolving  credit  and  term loan  facilities  require  the  maintenance  of  certain  ratios  related  to  leverage  and interest  coverage.  As  of  March  31,
2021, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants. Borrowings under the credit agreement are guaranteed by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

In order to increase liquidity in anticipation of the acquisition of StonePoint, the Company entered into an unsecured 364-Day Credit Agreement on March 26,
2021  providing  for  a  revolving  line  of  credit  of  $150.0  million,  with  an  outside  maturity  date  of  March  25,  2022.  Pricing,  covenants,  and  guarantees  were
substantially  similar  to  the  Company’s  existing  revolving  credit  and  term  loan  facilities.  Per  the  terms  of  the  facility,  it  terminated  on  April  6,  2021  upon  the
closing of the Company’s private offering of $400.0 million in senior notes.

The carrying value of borrowings under our revolving credit and term loan facilities approximate fair value because the interest rate adjusts to the market interest
rate (Level 3 input). See Note 3 Fair Value Accounting.

As of March 31,  2021, the Company had $1.6 million of unamortized debt issuance costs  related to the revolving credit  facility,  which are included in other
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The remaining principal payments under existing debt agreements as of March 31, 2021 are as follows:

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter
 (in millions)

Revolving credit facility $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 100.0 $ — 
Term loan 3.7 7.5 8.5 8.4 120.0 — 

Senior Notes

On April 6, 2021, the Company issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.375% senior notes (the “Notes”) that mature in April 2029. Interest on the
Notes is payable semiannually commencing October 2021. The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured
basis by each of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries that is a guarantor under our revolving credit and term loan facilities. The terms of the indenture governing
the Notes, among other things, limit the ability of the Company and each of its subsidiaries to create liens on assets, enter into sale and leaseback transactions, and
consolidate,  merge  or  transfer  all  or  substantially  all  of  its  assets  and  the  assets  of  its  subsidiaries.  The  terms  of  the  Indenture  also  limit  the  ability  of  the
Company’s non-guarantor subsidiaries to incur certain types of debt.

At any time prior to April 15, 2024, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Notes redeemed, plus an applicable make-whole premium and accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. On and after April 15, 2024, the Company may
redeem all or a portion of the Notes at redemption prices set forth in the indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. If a Change of Control
Triggering Event (as defined in the indenture) occurs, the Company must offer to repurchase the Senior Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of
the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase.

The remaining principal payments under all debt agreements, including the Notes issued on April 6, 2021, are as follows:

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2029
 (in millions)

Senior notes $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 400.0 
Revolving credit facility — — — — 100.0 — 
Term loan 3.7 7.5 8.5 8.4 120.0 — 
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Interest rate hedges

In  December  2018,  the  Company entered  into  an interest  rate  swap instrument,  effective  as  of  January  2,  2019 and expiring  in  2023,  to  reduce  the  effect  of
changes in the variable interest  rates  associated with borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit  Agreement.  The instrument  carried an initial  notional
amount of $100 million, thereby hedging the first $100 million of borrowings. The instrument effectively fixes the LIBOR component of borrowings at a monthly
rate  of  2.71%.  As  of  March  31,  2021,  the  Company  has  recorded  a  liability  of  $6.3  million  for  the  fair  value  of  the  instrument,  all  of  which  is  recorded  in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. See Note 3 Fair Value Accounting.

Note 8. Leases

We have various leases primarily for office space and certain equipment. At inception, we determine if an arrangement contains a lease and whether that lease
meets the classification criteria of a finance or operating lease. For leases that contain options to purchase, terminate, or extend, such options are included in the
lease term when it  is reasonably certain that the option will  be exercised.  Some of our lease arrangements contain lease components and non-lease components
which are accounted for as a single lease component as we have elected the practical expedient to group lease and non-lease components for all leases.

As  most  of  our  leases  do  not  provide  an  implicit  rate,  we  use  our  incremental  borrowing  rate  based  on  information  available  at  commencement  date  in
determining the present value of lease payments.

Operating Leases

The following tables present information about the Company's operating leases as of March 31, 2021:

March 31, 2021
(in millions)

Maturity of Lease Liabilities
2021 (remaining) $ 3.8 
2022 3.7 
2023 2.8 
2024 2.5 
2025 2.2 
Thereafter 8.9 

Total undiscounted operating lease payments 23.9 
Less imputed interest (4.3)

Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 19.6 

Balance Sheet Classification
March 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
(in millions)

Other assets $ 16.2 $ 17.9 

Accrued liabilities 4.0 4.8 
Other liabilities 15.6 16.4 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 19.6 $ 21.2 

Finance Leases

Finance leases are included in property, plant, and equipment, net and debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The associated amortization expense and interest
expense  are  included  in  depreciation  and  interest  expense,  respectively,  on  the  Consolidated  Statements  of  Operations.  These  leases  are  not  material  to  the
Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2021.
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Note 9. Other, Net

Other, net (income) expense consists of the following items:

 
Three Months Ended 

March 31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Interest income $ — $ (0.2)
Foreign currency exchange transactions 0.6 — 
Other (0.1) — 
Other, net (income) expense $ 0.5 $ (0.2)

Note 10. Income Taxes

For  interim  income  tax  reporting,  we  estimate  our  annual  effective  tax  rate  and  apply  it  to  our  year  to  date  ordinary  income  (loss).  Tax  jurisdictions  with  a
projected or year to date loss for which a tax benefit cannot be realized are excluded. The tax effects of unusual or infrequently occurring items, including changes
in judgment about valuation allowances and effects of changes in tax laws or rates, are reported in the interim period in which they occur. We have open tax years
from 2014 to 2019 with various significant tax jurisdictions.

Our effective tax rates  of 21.7% and 24.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively,  differ  from the U.S. federal  statutory rate of
21.0% due to state income taxes, statutory depletion deductions, nondeductible expenses related to acquisitions, and foreign nondeductible expenses.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 27, 2020 the U.S. Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES
Act”),  which includes  certain  tax  relief  and benefits  that  may impact  the  Company.  As of  March 31,  2021,  the  Company has  deferred  $9.7  million  in  payroll-
related taxes in accordance with the provisions of the CARES Act.

Note 11. Employee Retirement Plans

Total employee retirement plan expense, which includes related administrative expenses, is as follows:
Three Months Ended 

March 31,
2021 2020

(in millions)
Defined contribution plans $ 2.7 $ 2.6 
Multiemployer plan 0.4 0.4 

$ 3.1 $ 3.0 

The Company contributes to a multiemployer defined benefit plan under the terms of a collective-bargaining agreement that covers certain union-represented
employees at  one of the facilities  of Meyer Utility Structures,  a subsidiary of Arcosa. The Company contributed $0.4 million to the multiemployer plan for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. Total contributions to the multiemployer plan for 2021 are expected to be approximately $1.7 million.
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Note 12. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Currency 
translation 
adjustments

Unrealized 
loss on 

derivative 
financial 

instruments

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
loss

 (in millions)
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ (16.3) $ (3.4) $ (19.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, before reclassifications (1.1) (3.4) (4.5)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax expense (benefit)
of $0.0, ($0.1), and ($0.1) — 0.2 0.2 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (1.1) (3.2) (4.3)
Balances at March 31, 2020 $ (17.4) $ (6.6) $ (24.0)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ (16.6) $ (5.5) $ (22.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, before reclassifications 0.1 0.5 0.6 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax expense (benefit)
of $0.0, ($0.1), and ($0.1) — 0.4 0.4 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 0.1 0.9 1.0 
Balances at March 31, 2021 $ (16.5) $ (4.6) $ (21.1)

Note 13. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation totaled approximately $4.7 million and $3.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 14. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income remaining after allocation to unvested restricted shares, which includes unvested restricted
shares of Arcosa stock held by employees of the Former Parent, by the weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding for the period. Except when
the  effect  would  be  antidilutive,  the  calculation  of  diluted  earnings  per  common  share  includes  the  weighted  average  net  impact  of  nonparticipating  unvested
restricted  shares.  Total  weighted  average  restricted  shares  were  1.8  million  and  1.5  million  shares  for  the  three  months  ended  March  31,  2021  and  2020,
respectively.

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share follows.     

 
Three Months Ended 

March 31, 2021
Three Months Ended 

March 31, 2020

 
Income 
(Loss)

Average 
Shares EPS

Income 
(Loss)

Average 
Shares EPS

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Net income $ 15.9 $ 31.6 

Unvested restricted share participation (0.1) (0.3)
Net income per common share – basic 15.8 48.0 $ 0.33 31.3 47.8 $ 0.65 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Nonparticipating unvested restricted shares — 0.8 — 0.6 
Net income per common share – diluted $ 15.8 48.8 $ 0.32 $ 31.3 48.4 $ 0.65 
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Note 15. Contingencies

The Company is involved in claims and lawsuits incidental to our business arising from various matters including commercial disputes, alleged product defect
and/or  warranty  claims,  intellectual  property  matters,  personal  injury  claims,  environmental  issues,  employment  and/or  workplace-related  matters,  and  various
governmental  regulations.  At  March  31,  2021,  the  range  of  reasonably  possible  losses  for  such  matters,  taking  into  consideration  our  rights  in  indemnity  and
recourse to third parties is $0.3 million to $0.4 million.

The  Company  evaluates  its  exposure  to  such  claims  and  suits  periodically  and  establishes  accruals  for  these  contingencies  when  probable  losses  can  be
reasonably estimated. At March 31, 2021, total accruals of $1.1 million are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
Company believes any additional liability from such claims and suits would not be material to its financial position or results of operations.

Arcosa  is  subject  to  remedial  orders  and  federal,  state,  local,  and  foreign  laws  and  regulations  relating  to  the  environment.  The  Company  has  reserved  $1.1
million as of March 31, 2021 to cover our probable and estimable liabilities with respect to the investigations, assessments, and remedial responses to such matters,
taking into account currently available information and our contractual rights to indemnification and recourse to third parties.

On  July  22,  2019,  the  Company  was  served  with  a  breach  of  contract  lawsuit  filed  by  Thomas  &  Betts  Corporation  (“T&B”)  against  the  Company  and  its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Trinity Meyer Utility Structures, LLC, now known as Meyer Utility Structures, LLC (“Meyer”), in the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, New York County. T&B’s claims relate to responsibility for alleged product warranty claims pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement,
dated June 24,  2014,  entered into  by and between T&B and Meyer  with  respect  to  Meyer’s  purchase  of  certain  assets  of  T&B’s utility  structure  business.  The
Company and Meyer subsequently removed the litigation to federal court.  The case is filed under Case No. 1:19-cv-07829-PAE; Thomas & Betts Corporation,
now known as,  ABB Installation  Products,  Inc.,  Plaintiff,  v.  Trinity  Meyer  Utility  Structures,  LLC,  formerly  known as  McKinley  2014  Acquisition,  LLC,  and
Arcosa, Inc., Defendants; In the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court"). The Company and Meyer have filed a motion to
dismiss T&B’s claims, and an Answer and Counterclaims against T&B. On July 30, 2020, the Court granted the Company's and Meyer's motion and dismissed
T&B's claims. In its ruling, the Court likewise dismissed Meyer's counterclaims. On August 28, 2020, T&B filed its Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit. On November 9, 2020, T&B filed its Appellant’s Brief with the Appellate Court. The Company and Meyer filed its Appellees’
Brief on February 8, 2021. T&B filed its Reply Brief on April 9, 2021. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves in the subsequent appeal of this matter. Based on
the  facts  and  circumstances  currently  known  to  the  Company,  (i)  we  cannot  determine  that  a  loss  is  probable  at  this  time,  and  therefore  no  accrual  has  been
included in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements; and (ii) a possible loss is not reasonably estimable.

Estimates of liability arising from future proceedings, assessments, or remediation are inherently imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will
not become involved in future litigation or other proceedings, including those related to the environment or, if we are found to be responsible or liable in any such
litigation or proceeding, that such costs would not be material to the Company.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to provide a reader of our financial statements
with a narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and certain other factors that may affect our
future results. Our MD&A is presented in the following sections:

• Company Overview
• Potential Impact of COVID-19 On Our Business
• Executive Overview
• Results of Operations
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Recent Accounting Pronouncements
• Forward-Looking Statements

Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of Arcosa, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Arcosa,” “Company,” “we,” or “our”)
and related Notes in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements and related Notes in Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (“2020 Annual Report on Form 10-
K”).

Company Overview

Arcosa,  headquartered  in  Dallas,  Texas,  is  a  provider  of  infrastructure-related  products  and  solutions  with  leading  brands  serving  construction,  engineered
structures,  and transportation markets in North America.  Arcosa is a Delaware corporation and was incorporated in 2018 in connection with the separation (the
“Separation”) of Arcosa from Trinity Industries, Inc. (“Trinity” or “Former Parent”) on November 1, 2018 as an independent, publicly-traded company, listed on
the New York Stock Exchange.

Potential Impact of COVID-19 On Our Business

Our highest priority is the health and safety of our employees and communities. Our businesses support critical infrastructure sectors, pursuant to the Department
of  Homeland  Security’s  Cybersecurity  and  Infrastructure  Security  Agency  standards. Our  plants  have  continued  to  operate  throughout  the  COVID-19  crisis.
However, as of the date of this filing, uncertainty exists concerning the potential magnitude of the impact and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following
possible  events  related  to  the  COVID-19  pandemic  may  potentially  adversely  impact  our  business,  liquidity  and  financial  condition,  or  results  of  operations:
customer demand for our products and services may decrease; reductions in our customers' capex spending; our supply chain may have disruption preventing us
from  obtaining  the  necessary  materials  and  equipment  to  manufacture  our  products  and  provide  services;  our  employees’  ability  to  continue  to  work  may  be
impacted because of COVID-19 related illness or local, state, or federal orders requiring them to stay at home; the effect of governmental regulations imposed in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic may result in shutdowns of our operations; limitations on the ability of our customers to conduct their business and purchase
our products and services; disruptions to our customers’ supply chains or purchasing patterns; and limitations on the ability of our customers to pay us on a timely
basis.

We believe that, based on the various standards published to date, our employees are part of the Essential Critical Infrastructure Workforce, and the work they
perform is critical, essential, and life-sustaining. We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions that alter our business operations
as may be required by federal, state, or local authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, suppliers, and shareholders.

In addition to the extensive health and safety protocols already in place across our plants, we estimate that are incurring $1-2 million per quarter of incremental
costs related to COVID-19 for personal protective equipment, health screenings, deep cleaning services, and facilities re-configurations. We do not anticipate that
the enhanced health and safety protocols will have a material impact on the productivity of our plants.

The preparation of the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. At this time, we have not observed any material impairments of our assets or a significant change in the fair value of assets
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, due to the factors discussed above, we are unable to determine or predict the overall impact the COVID-19 pandemic
will have on our business, results of operations, liquidity, or capital resources.
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Market Outlook

• Within our Construction Products segment, we have experienced better than anticipated construction demand since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic as
construction activity in Texas has remained resilient  and other states have reopened for business.  However,  we did experience a softening of demand for our
specialty  materials  and  shoring  products  businesses  following  the  outbreak  that  has  recently  shown  signs  of  improvement  but  remains  below  pre-pandemic
levels. The outlook for public and private construction activity has improved as expectations for U.S. economic growth have increased following the roll-out of
vaccines and associated re-opening of the economy, but the environment continues to be uncertain. Our Construction Products segment has the largest exposure
to Texas, where construction demand is expected to be more favorable than national averages.

• Within our Engineered Structures segment, our backlog as of March 31, 2021 provides a healthy level of production visibility for the remainder of 2021, but at a
lower level than at the same period last year. Our customers remain committed to taking delivery of these orders. In utility structures, order and inquiry activity
continues to be strong, as customers remain focused on grid hardening and reliability initiatives. We continue to actively work with our wind tower customers on
new order inquiries; however, we expect a lower level of wind tower production in 2021 as the wind industry continues to transition from 100% Production Tax
Credit ("PTC") support. In 2021, we will benefit from a full-year of revenues from the newly acquired traffic and telecom structures businesses, where demand
conditions are very favorable. Order and inquiry activity in the storage tank business has improved since the onset of COVID-19 after taking a pause initially, as
certain customers deferred new tank installations.

• Within our Transportation Products segment, our backlog for inland barges as of March 31, 2021 provides a base level of production visibility for 2021, but is
62% lower than the backlog level at the same period last year. Our customers remain committed to taking delivery of these orders. Barge order levels fell sharply
in the second and third quarters of 2020, as our customers’ barge utilization rates declined from the COVID-19 related economic slowdown. Lower demand for
refined products, including gasoline and jet fuel, and low, but increasing, oil prices negatively impacted order quantities for liquid barges in 2020 and inquiries
remain very low thus far in 2021. Conversely, the underlying fundamentals for a dry barge replacement cycle remain in place, evidenced by strong order levels
in the fourth quarter of 2020 at a level consistent with pre-pandemic demand. However, a sharp and sustained increase in steel prices since the end of 2020 has
negatively impacted first quarter 2021 order levels and the near-term outlook for dry barge demand. We have reduced our capacity in all three barge operating
plants to align with lower production levels in 2021, and, in March 2021, we notified employees we expect to idle our Madisonville, Louisiana facility in the
third quarter to further reduce our cost structure. We continue to remain flexible to allow time for fundamentals to recover. Demand for steel components, which
was  softening  pre-COVID-19  due  to  a  weakening  North  American  rail  transportation  market,  remains  depressed  but  is  showing  some  signs  of  a  near-term
bottoming as third party forecasts indicate higher railcar industry deliveries in 2022.

• In February 2021, Winter Storm Uri, which impacted Texas and the broader Southern United States, negatively impacted our first quarter performance as we lost
more than one week of production across a significant part of our operating footprint. We estimate a decline in operating profit of $4.0 to $5.0 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 related to the storm, primarily in our Construction Products segment.

Executive Overview

Recent Developments

In  April  2021,  we  completed  the  stock  acquisition  of  StonePoint  Ultimate  Holding,  LLC  and  affiliated  entities  (collectively  “StonePoint”),  a  top  25  U.S.
construction  aggregates  company,  which  will  be  included  in  our  Construction  Products  segment  for  a  total  purchase  price  of  approximately  $375  million.  The
acquisition will be recorded as a business combination and was funded with proceeds from a private offering of $400.0 million of 4.375% senior unsecured notes
that closed on April 6, 2021.

Financial Operations and Highlights

• Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2021 decreased 9.8% to $440.4 million compared to the same period in 2020, primarily due to lower volumes in
our Engineered Structures and Transportation Products segments, partially offset by increased volumes in our Construction Products segment.

• Operating profit for the three months ended March 31, 2021 totaled $22.9 million representing a decrease of $22.2 million for the three months ended March 31,
2021 compared to the same period in 2020.

• Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased by 8.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 when compared to the prior year period largely due
to increased corporate costs and additional costs from acquired businesses. As a percentage of revenue, selling, general, and administrative expenses increased to
12.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to 10.6% for the same period in 2020.
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• The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was 21.7% compared to 24.8% for the same period in 2020. The decrease in the tax rate for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 is primarily due to decreased state taxes in the current  period.  See Note 10 Income Taxes of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

• Net income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $15.9 million compared to $31.6 million for the same period in 2020.

Our Engineered Structures and Transportation Products segments operate in cyclical industries. Additionally, results in our Construction Products segment are
affected by weather and seasonal fluctuations with the second and third quarters historically being the quarters with the highest revenues.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations (Backlog)

As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, our unsatisfied performance obligations, or backlog, were as follows:

March 31, 
2021

March 31, 
2020

 (in millions)
Engineered Structures:

Utility, wind, and related structures $ 379.5 $ 475.6 
Storage tanks 30.7 29.0 

Transportation Products:
Inland barges $ 133.2 $ 348.3 

Substantially all of the unsatisfied performance obligations for our utility, wind, and related structures in our Engineered Structures segment are expected to be
delivered  during  2021.  All  of  the  unsatisfied  performance  obligations  for  our  storage  tanks  business  in  our  Engineered  Structures  segment  are  expected  to  be
delivered during 2021. Approximately 91% of unsatisfied performance obligations for inland barges in our Transportation Products segment are expected to be
delivered during 2021, with the remainder expected to be delivered during 2022.

Results of Operations

Overall Summary

Revenues
 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020

Percent Change (in millions)
Construction Products $ 153.2 $ 149.4 2.5 %
Engineered Structures 207.0 223.2 (7.3)
Transportation Products 80.2 117.0 (31.5)

Segment Totals before Eliminations 440.4 489.6 (10.0)
Eliminations — (1.4)
Consolidated Total $ 440.4 $ 488.2 (9.8)

2021 versus 2020

• Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2021 decreased by 9.8% from the prior year period.
• Revenues  from  Construction  Products  increased  primarily  due  to  higher  volumes  from  recently  acquired  businesses  and  in  our  legacy  natural  aggregates

business.
• Revenues from Engineered Structures decreased primarily due to lower volumes in wind towers.
• Revenues from Transportation Products decreased primarily due to lower volumes in inland barge and steel components.
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Operating Costs

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020

Percent Change (in millions)
Construction Products $ 137.4 $ 132.6 3.6 %
Engineered Structures 189.5 198.3 (4.4)
Transportation Products 76.1 102.7 (25.9)

Segment Totals before Eliminations and Corporate Expenses 403.0 433.6 (7.1)
Corporate 14.5 10.9 33.0 
Eliminations — (1.4)
Consolidated Total $ 417.5 $ 443.1 (5.8)

2021 versus 2020

• Operating costs for the three months ended March 31, 2021 decreased by 5.8%.
• Cost of revenues for Construction Products increased primarily due to higher depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense.
• Cost of revenues for Engineered Structures decreased primarily due to lower volumes in our wind towers business and the gain on the sale of a non-operating

facility.
• Cost of revenues for Transportation Products decreased primarily due to lower volumes in all product lines.
• As  a  percentage  of  revenues,  selling,  general,  and  administrative  expenses,  including  Corporate  expenses,  increased  to  12.8%  for  the  three  months  ended

March 31,  2021 compared to 10.6% for the same period in 2020.  The increase is  largely due to increased corporate costs  and additional  costs  from acquired
businesses.

Operating Profit (Loss)

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020

Percent Change (in millions)
Construction Products $ 15.8 $ 16.8 (6.0)%
Engineered Structures 17.5 24.9 (29.7)
Transportation Products 4.1 14.3 (71.3)

Segment Totals before Corporate Expenses 37.4 56.0 (33.2)
Corporate (14.5) (10.9) 33.0 
Consolidated Total $ 22.9 $ 45.1 (49.2)

2021 versus 2020

• Operating profit for the three months ended March 31, 2021 decreased by 49.2%.
• Operating  profit  in  Construction  Products  decreased  primarily  due  to  the  higher  depreciation,  depletion,  and  amortization  expense  and  the  impact  of  Winter

Storm Uri in February 2021.
• Operating  profit  in  Engineered  Structures  decreased  primarily  due  to  lower  volumes  in  wind  towers  partially  due  to  the  temporary  idling  of  a  facility  and

operating inefficiencies in utility structures.
• Operating profit in Transportation Products decreased primarily due to lower volumes in all product lines.

For a further discussion of revenues, costs, and the operating results of individual segments, see Segment Discussion below.

Other Income and Expense

Other, net (income) expense consists of the following items:

 
Three Months Ended 

March 31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Interest income $ — $ (0.2)
Foreign currency exchange transactions 0.6 — 
Other (0.1) — 
Other, net (income) expense $ 0.5 $ (0.2)
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Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes results in effective tax rates that differ from the statutory rates. The Company's effective tax rate for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 was 21.7% compared to 24.8% for the same period in 2020. The decrease in the tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2021 is primarily
due to decreased state taxes.

Our effective tax rate  reflects  the Company's  estimate for  its  state income tax expense,  excess tax benefits  related to equity compensation,  and the impact  of
foreign tax benefits. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of income taxes.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 27, 2020 the U.S. Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES
Act”), which includes certain tax relief and benefits that may impact the Company. Approximately $15 million of federal and state income tax payments deferred
during the first half of 2020 were paid during the third quarter of 2020. As of March 31, 2021, the Company has deferred $9.7 million in payroll-related taxes in
accordance with the provisions of the CARES Act. We expect to pay $4.9 million during the year ending December 31, 2021, with the remainder to be paid during
2022.

Segment Discussion

Construction Products
 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020 Percent
 ($ in millions) Change
Revenues:

Aggregates and specialty materials $ 135.3 $ 132.1 2.4 %
Other 17.9 17.3 3.5 

Total revenues 153.2 149.4 2.5 

Operating costs:
Cost of revenues 118.9 115.0 3.4 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 18.5 17.6 5.1 

Operating profit $ 15.8 $ 16.8 (6.0)

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization $ 17.1 $ 13.8 23.9 

 Depreciation, depletion, and amortization are components of operating profit.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
• Revenues increased 2.5% compared to last year more than offsetting challenges related to Winter Storm Uri in February 2021. The revenue increase was driven

by strong natural aggregates volumes serving construction end markets, partially offset by reduced volumes in plants serving oil and gas markets. Revenue also
increased due to higher volumes from recently acquired businesses. Revenues from our trench shoring business increased 3.5% due to a recovery in demand after
consecutive quarters of depressed demand following the outbreak of the pandemic.

• Cost of revenues increased 3.4% primarily due to higher depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense. As a percent of revenue, cost of revenues excluding
depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense declined slightly year over year due to operating efficiencies.

• Selling, general, and administrative costs increased due to additional costs from acquired businesses. Selling, general, and administrative costs as a percentage of
revenues remained flat due to a decrease in total costs in our legacy businesses year over year.

• Operating profit decreased 6.0%, due to increased depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense, partially offset by increased revenues. Operating profit was
impacted by approximately $3.0 million to $4.0 million due to Winter Storm Uri in February 2021, but dry weather across most of our footprint in March 2021
helped offset the negative impacts of the storm.

• Depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense increased primarily due to recently acquired businesses.

(1)

(1)
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Engineered Structures
 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020 Percent
 ($ in millions) Change
Revenues:

Utility, wind, and related structures $ 164.0 $ 176.4 (7.0)%
Storage tanks 43.0 46.8 (8.1)

Total revenues 207.0 223.2 (7.3)

Operating costs:
Cost of revenues 171.1 181.0 (5.5)
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 18.4 17.3 6.4 

Operating profit $ 17.5 $ 24.9 (29.7)

Depreciation and amortization $ 8.4 $ 7.4 13.5 

 Depreciation and amortization are components of operating profit.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
• Revenues  decreased  7.3%  driven  primarily  by  lower  volumes  in  wind  towers,  partially  offset  by  increased  volumes  in  utility  structures  and  sales  from  our

acquired traffic and telecom structures businesses. The lower volumes in our wind towers business was partially due to a temporary idling of one of our facilities
for a planned product changeover that was completed during the quarter.

• Cost of revenues decreased 5.5% driven by lower volumes in our wind towers business, partially offset by increased volumes in utility structures and the addition
the  acquired  traffic  and  telecom structures  businesses.  Cost  of  revenues  also  decreased  due  a  gain  of  $3.9  million  recognized  on  the  sale  of  a  non-operating
facility.

• Selling, general, and administrative costs increased 6.4% primarily due to the additional costs from acquired businesses.
• Operating profit decreased 29.7% primarily due to the temporary idling of a wind tower facility, operating inefficiencies in utility structures, and Winter Storm

Uri  that  impacted  production  in  our  Texas  and  Oklahoma  plants  for  approximately  one  week  of  the  quarter.  Operating  profit  was  positively  impacted  by
improved margins in our storage tank product line as well as the gain on the sale of a non-operating facility.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations (Backlog)
As of March 31, 2021, the backlog for utility, wind, and related structures was $379.5 million, compared to $334.0 million and $475.6 million as of December

31, 2020 and March 31, 2020, respectively, substantially all of which is expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2021. Future wind tower
orders  are  subject  to  uncertainty as PTC eligibility  for  new wind farm projects  is  currently  in a  phase-out  period that  extends until  2025.  Pricing of  orders  and
individual order quantities reflect a market transitioning from PTC incentives. As of March 31, 2021, the backlog for our storage tank business was $30.7 million,
all of which is expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2021.

(1)

(1)
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Transportation Products
 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020 Percent
 ($ in millions) Change
Revenues:

Inland barges $ 57.9 $ 89.0 (34.9)%
Steel components 22.3 28.0 (20.4)

Total revenues 80.2 117.0 (31.5)

Operating costs:
Cost of revenues 71.1 96.7 (26.5)
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 5.0 6.0 (16.7)

Operating profit $ 4.1 $ 14.3 (71.3)

Depreciation and amortization $ 4.6 $ 4.4 4.5 

Depreciation and amortization are components of operating profit.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

• Revenues decreased 31.5%. Revenues from inland barges decreased 34.9% due to lower hopper and tank barge deliveries  as demand has weakened from the
COVID-19 pandemic and increased steel  prices.  Steel  component  revenues decreased 20.4% due to decreased deliveries  and lower contractual  pricing as  the
North American railcar market remains depressed.

• Cost of revenues decreased 26.5% driven by lower volumes in all product lines.
• Selling, general, and administrative costs decreased 16.7% due to lower compensation costs.
• Operating profit decreased 71.3%, due to lower volumes and declines in operational efficiencies from reduced capacity utilization.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations (Backlog)
As  of  March  31,  2021,  the  backlog  for  inland  barges  was  $133.2  million,  compared  to  $175.5  million  and  $348.3  million  as  of  December  31,  2020  and

March 31, 2020, respectively.  Approximately 91% of unsatisfied performance obligations for inland barges are expected to be delivered during the year ending
December 31, 2021 with the remainder expected to be delivered in 2022.

Corporate
 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2021 2020 Percent
 (in millions) Change
Corporate overhead costs $ 14.5 $ 10.9 33.0 %

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

• Corporate overhead costs increased 33.0%. Corporate costs increased due to higher acquisition-related transaction and integration costs of $1.7 million for the
current period compared to $0.9 million in the prior period, as well as higher compensation costs.

• We  estimate  full-year  corporate  costs  of  approximately  $13-14  million  per  quarter,  excluding  non-recurring  acquisition  and  integration  expenses,  for  the
remainder of 2021. Acquisition and related integration costs are expected to be approximately $6 million in the second quarter of 2021 and $2 million in each of
the third and fourth quarters of 2021.

(1)

(1) 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Arcosa’s primary liquidity requirement consists of funding our business operations, including capital expenditures, working capital investment, and disciplined
acquisitions. Our primary sources of liquidity include cash flow from operations, our existing cash balance, availability under the revolving credit facility, and, as
necessary, the issuance of additional long-term debt or equity. To the extent we have available liquidity, we may also consider undertaking new capital investment
projects, executing additional strategic acquisitions, returning capital to stockholders, or funding other general corporate purposes.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:

 
Three Months Ended 

March 31,
 2021 2020
 (in millions)
Total cash provided by (required by):

Operating activities $ 0.4 $ 41.5 
Investing activities (10.4) (325.4)
Financing activities (3.9) 244.2 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (13.9) $ (39.7)

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $0.4 million compared to $41.5 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2020.

• The changes in current assets and liabilities resulted in a net use of cash of $46.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to a net use of
cash of $22.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. The current year activity was primarily driven by increased receivables.

Investing Activities. Net cash required by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $10.4 million compared to $325.4 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2020.

• Capital expenditures for the three months ended March 31, 2021 were $19.9 million compared to $21.1 million for the same period last year. Full-year capital
expenditures  are expected to be approximately  $110 to $120 million in 2021.  We expect  maintenance capital  expenditures  of  approximately  $90 million and
capital expenditures related to additional growth to be $20 to $30 million in 2021.

• Proceeds from the sale of property,  plant,  and equipment and other assets totaled $9.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to $5.1
million for the same period in 2020.

• There was no acquisition activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired of $309.4 million for
the same period in 2020. There was no divestiture activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

Financing Activities. Net cash required by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $3.9 million compared to net cash provided
by financing activities of $244.2 million for the same period in 2020.

• Current year to date activity primarily related to repayments of debt and dividend payments. Prior year to date activity was primarily related to proceeds from the
issuance of a new $150 million term loan and advances of $100 million under the Company's revolving credit facility.

Other Investing and Financing Activities

Revolving Credit Facility and Senior Notes

On January 2, 2020, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to increase the revolving credit facility to $500.0 million and added
a term loan facility of $150.0 million, in each case with a maturity date of January 2, 2025. The entire term loan was advanced on January 2, 2020 in connection
with the closing of the acquisition of Cherry.

The  interest  rates  under  the  revolving  credit  facility  and  term loan  are  variable  based  on  LIBOR or  an  alternate  base  rate  plus  a  margin.  A commitment  fee
accrues  on  the  average  daily  unused  portion  of  the  revolving  facility.  The  margin  for  borrowing  and  commitment  fee  rate  are  determined  based  on  Arcosa’s
leverage as measured by a consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA ratio. The margin for borrowing ranges from 1.25% to 2.00% and was set at
LIBOR plus 1.25% as of March 31, 2021. The commitment fee rate ranges from 0.20% to 0.35% and was set at 0.20% as of March 31, 2021. 

As of March 31, 2021, we had $100.0 million of outstanding loans borrowed under the revolving credit facility and there were approximately $28.7 million of
letters of credit issued, leaving $371.3 million available for borrowing.
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The Company's  revolving  credit  and  term loan  facilities  require  the  maintenance  of  certain  ratios  related  to  leverage  and interest  coverage.  As  of  March  31,
2021, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants. Borrowings under the credit agreement are guaranteed by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

In order to increase liquidity in anticipation of the acquisition of StonePoint the Company entered into an unsecured 364-Day Credit Agreement on March 26,
2021  providing  for  a  revolving  line  of  credit  of  $150.0  million,  with  an  outside  maturity  date  of  March  25,  2022,  with  pricing,  covenants,  and  guarantees
substantially  similar  to  the  Company’s  existing  revolving  credit  and  term  loan  facilities.  Per  the  terms  of  the  facility,  it  terminated  on  April  6,  2021  upon  the
closing of the Company’s private offering of $400 million in senior notes.

On April 6, 2021, the Company issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.375% senior notes (the “Notes”) that mature in April 2029. Interest on the
Notes is payable semiannually commencing October 2021. The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured
basis by each of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries that is a guarantor under our revolving credit and term loan facilities.

We believe, based on our current business plans, that our existing cash, available liquidity, and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to fund necessary
capital expenditures and operating cash requirements for the foreseeable future. The Company further believes that its financial resources will allow it to manage
the anticipated impact of COVID-19 on the Company's business operations for the foreseeable future. The macroeconomic uncertainties posed by COVID-19 are
evolving rapidly. Consequently, the Company will continue to evaluate its financial position in light of future developments, particularly those relating to COVID-
19.

Dividends and Repurchase Program

In March 2021, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per share to be paid on April 30, 2021.

In December 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a new $50 million share repurchase program effective January 1, 2021 through December 31,
2022. The new program replaced the previous program which expired on December 31, 2020. The Company did not repurchase any shares during the three months
ended March 31, 2021. As of March 31, 2021, the Company had a remaining authorization of $50.0 million under the program. See Note 1 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Derivative Instruments

In  December  2018,  the  Company entered  into  an interest  rate  swap instrument,  effective  as  of  January  2,  2019 and expiring  in  2023,  to  reduce  the  effect  of
changes in the variable interest  rates  associated with borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit  Agreement.  The instrument  carried an initial  notional
amount of $100.0 million, thereby hedging the first $100.0 million of borrowings. The instrument effectively fixes the LIBOR component of the borrowings at a
monthly rate of 2.71%. As of March 31, 2021, the Company has recorded a liability of $6.3 million for the fair value of the instrument, all of which is recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. See Note 3 and Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of  March  31,  2021,  we  had  letters  of  credit  issued  under  our  revolving  credit  facility  in  an  aggregate  principal  amount  of  $28.7  million,  of  which  $25.1
million  are  expected  to  expire  in  2021,  with  the  remainder  in  2022.  The  majority  of  our  letters  of  credit  obligations  support  the  Company’s  various  insurance
programs and generally renew by their terms each year. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about recent accounting pronouncements.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This  quarterly  report  on  Form  10-Q  contains  forward-looking  statements  within  the  meaning  of  the  Private  Securities  Litigation  Reform  Act  of  1995.  Any
statements  contained  herein  that  are  not  historical  facts  are  forward-looking  statements  and  involve  risks  and  uncertainties.  These  forward-looking  statements
include  expectations,  beliefs,  plans,  objectives,  future  financial  performances,  estimates,  projections,  goals,  and  forecasts.  Arcosa  uses  the  words  “anticipates,”
“assumes,”  “believes,”  “estimates,”  “expects,”  “intends,”  “forecasts,”  “may,”  “will,”  “should,”  and  similar  expressions  to  identify  these  forward-looking
statements. Potential factors, which could cause our actual results of operations to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, among
others:

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our sales, operations, supply chain, employees, and financial condition;
• market conditions and customer demand for our business products and services;
• the cyclical nature of the industries in which we compete;
• variations in weather in areas where our construction products are sold, used, or installed;
• naturally-occurring  events  and  other  events  and  disasters  causing  disruption  to  our  manufacturing,  product  deliveries,  and  production  capacity,  thereby

giving rise to an increase in expenses, loss of revenue, and property losses;
• competition and other competitive factors;
• our ability to identify, consummate, or integrate acquisitions of new businesses or products;
• the timing of introduction of new products;
• the timing and delivery of customer orders or a breach of customer contracts;
• the credit worthiness of customers and their access to capital;
• product price changes;
• changes in mix of products sold;
• the costs incurred to align manufacturing capacity with demand and the extent of its utilization;
• the operating leverage and efficiencies that can be achieved by our manufacturing businesses;
• availability and costs of steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;
• changing technologies;
• surcharges and other fees added to fixed pricing agreements for steel, component parts, supplies and other raw materials;
• interest rates and capital costs;
• counter-party risks for financial instruments;
• long-term funding of our operations;
• taxes;
• the stability of the governments and political and business conditions in certain foreign countries, particularly Mexico;
• changes in import and export quotas and regulations;
• business conditions in emerging economies;
• costs and results of litigation;
• changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting policies;
• legal, regulatory, and environmental issues, including compliance of our products with mandated specifications, standards, or testing criteria and obligations

to remove and replace our products following installation or to recall our products and install different products manufactured by us or our competitors;
• actions  by  the  executive  and  legislative  branches  of  the  U.S.  government  relative  to  federal  government  budgeting,  taxation  policies,  government

expenditures, U.S. borrowing/debt ceiling limits, and trade policies, including tariffs, and border closures;
• the inability to sufficiently protect our intellectual property rights;
• the  improper  use  of  social  and  other  digital  media  to  disseminate  false,  misleading,  and/or  unreliable  or  inaccurate  information  about  the  Company  or

demonstrate actions that negatively reflect on the Company;
• if the Company's ESG efforts are not favorably received by stockholders;
• if the Company does not realize some or all of the benefits expected to result from the Separation, or if such benefits are delayed;
• if  the  distribution  of  shares  of  Arcosa  resulting  from  the  Separation,  together  with  certain  related  transactions,  does  not  qualify  as  a  transaction  that  is

generally  tax-free  for  U.S.  federal  income tax purposes,  the Company's  stockholders  at  the time of  the distribution and the Company could be subject  to
significant tax liability; and

• if the Separation does not comply with state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws and legal dividend requirements.

Any forward-looking statement  speaks only as  of  the date  on which such statement  is  made.  Arcosa undertakes  no obligation to  update  any forward-looking
statement  to  reflect  events  or  circumstances  after  the  date  on which such statement  is  made.  For  a  discussion of  risks  and uncertainties  that  could cause  actual
results  to  differ  from  those  contained  in  the  forward-looking  statements,  see  Item  1A,  “Risk  Factors”  in  our  2020  Annual  Report  on  Form  10-K  and  future
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There has been no material change in our market risks since December 31, 2020 as set forth in our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K. See Note 9 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that it is able to collect and record the information it is required to disclose in the
reports it files with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and to process, summarize, and disclose this information within the time periods specified
in the rules of the SEC. The Company’s Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining these procedures and, as
required by the rules of the SEC, evaluating their effectiveness. Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures that took place as
of the end of the period covered by this report, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers believe that these procedures are effective to 1) ensure that the
Company is able to collect, process, and disclose the information it is required to disclose in the reports it files with the SEC within the required time periods and
2)  accumulate  and  communicate  this  information  to  the  Company’s  management,  including  its  Chief  Executive  and  Chief  Financial  Officers,  to  allow  timely
decisions regarding this disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or
are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 15 of the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in the Company's risk factors from those set forth in our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

This table provides information with respect to purchases by the Company of shares of its common stock during the quarter ended March 31, 2021:

Period
Number of Shares

Purchased 
Average Price

Paid per Share 

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plans
or Programs 

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar Value)
of Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plans

or Programs

January 1, 2021 through January 31, 2021 354 $ 62.33 — $ 50,000,000 
February 1, 2021 through February 28, 2021 1,344 $ 62.27 — $ 50,000,000 
March 1, 2021 through March 31 2021 88 $ 63.65 — $ 50,000,000 
Total 1,786 $ 62.35 — $ 50,000,000 

These columns include the surrender to the Company of 1,786 shares of common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting
of restricted stock issued to employees.

In December 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a new $50 million share repurchase program effective January 1, 2021 through December
31, 2022. The new program replaced the previous program which expired on December 31, 2020.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

The  information  concerning  mine  safety  violations  or  other  regulatory  matters  required  by  Section  1503(a)  of  the  Dodd-Frank  Wall  Street  Reform  and
Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is included in Exhibit 95 to this Form 10-Q.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

(1) (1) (2)  (2)

        

(1)     

(2)     
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Item 6. Exhibits
NO. DESCRIPTION

2.1 Unit Purchase Agreement by and among StonePoint Ultimate Holding, LLC, Arcosa Materials, Inc., the persons identified as sellers on
the signature pages thereto, and the representative named therein dated March 22, 2021 (filed herewith).

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228098).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q, for the quarter-ended March 31, 2020, File No. 001-38494).

4.1 Indenture, dated April 6, 2021, among Arcosa, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2021, File No. 001-38494).

4.2 Form of 4.375% Senior Note due 2029 (included in Exhibit 4.1 and incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed April
9, 2021, File No. 001-38494).

10.1 Amendment Number One to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 26, 2021 by and among Arcosa, Inc., as
borrower, the lenders thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (filed herewith).

10.2 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of March 26, 2021, among Arcosa, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, Bank of
America, N.A., as syndication agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed March 29, 2021, File
No. 001-38494).

31.1 Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith).
31.2 Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith).
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

95 Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit (filed herewith).
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (filed electronically herewith).

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

ARCOSA, INC. By /s/ Scott C. Beasley
Registrant  

 Scott C. Beasley
 Chief Financial Officer
 April 30, 2021
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StonePoint Ultimate Holding, LLC 
(a Delaware limited liability company),

Arcosa Materials, Inc. 
(a Delaware Corporation),

The Persons Identified as Sellers on the Signature Pages Hereto,

and

The Representative Named Herein

March 22, 2021
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UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS  UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this  "Agreement"),  dated  as  of  March  22,  2021,  is  made  by  and  among  (i)  StonePoint
Ultimate  Holding,  LLC,  a  Delaware  limited  liability  company  (the  "Company"),  (ii)  Arcosa  Materials,  Inc.,  a  Delaware  corporation
(the "Purchaser"), (iii) the Persons identified as Sellers on the signature pages hereto (each a "Seller" and, collectively, the "Sellers"), and (iv)
Sun StonePoint Aggregator, LP, a Delaware limited partnership as representative for the Sellers, the Optionholders, and the Phantom Award
Recipients (the "Representative"). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set forth in Article I.

WHEREAS, collectively, the Sellers own all of the issued and outstanding Common Units of the Company (the "Units"); and

WHEREAS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Sellers desire to sell to the Purchaser, and the
Purchaser desires to purchase from the Sellers, all of the Units.

NOW,  THEREFORE,  in  consideration  of  the  mutual  covenants  contained  herein  and  other  good  and  valuable  consideration,  the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Article I 

DEFINITIONS

1.01    Definitions. For purposes hereof, the following terms when used herein shall have the respective meanings set forth below:

    "280G Approval" is defined in Section 7.08(b).

"Abandonment and Reclamation Obligations" means all legally binding unperformed obligations to (i) abandon, shut-down,
close,  decommission,  dismantle  and  remove  any  and  all  fixtures,  improvements,  tangible  personal  property,  structures,  foundations,
buildings, pipelines, equipment and other physical facilities located on any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property, or lands pooled or
unitized  therewith,  or  any real  property  used or  previously  used by the  Company or  any of  their  respective  Subsidiaries  in  respect  of  any
mining  or  mine-related  processing,  storage,  transportation  or  other  mining  activities;  and  (ii)  investigate,  monitor,  restore,  remediate  and
reclaim the  surface  and subsurface  locations,  if  any,  of  such  Owned Real  Property  or  Leased  Real  Property,  and  lands  pooled  or  unitized
therewith, and any lands used to gain access thereto, including such obligations relating to any mining or mine-related processing, storage,
transportation, production or other mining facilities used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their predecessors in interest for
which the Company or such Subsidiary may have continuing responsibility pursuant to a Lease that were abandoned or decommissioned, in
whole  or  in  part,  prior  to  the  Closing,  and  including  the  investigation,  monitoring,  remediation,  restoration  and  reclamation  of  any  other
surface and subsurface lands affected by any environmental damage, contamination or other environmental issues emanating from or relating
to such mining or mine-related processing, storage, transportation, production or other mining facilities; in the case of each of clauses (i) and
(ii), that are required pursuant to any Lease or any Laws.

"Accounting Principles" means GAAP as applied by the Company and its Subsidiaries in the Latest Balance Sheet.
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"Affiliate"  of  any particular  Person means any other  Person controlling,  controlled by or  under common control  with such
particular  Person,  where  "control"  means  the  possession,  directly  or  indirectly,  of  the  power  to  direct  the  management  and  policies  of  a
Person whether through the ownership of voting securities, Contract or otherwise.

"Affordable  Care  Act"  means  the  Patient  Protection  and  Affordable  Care  Act  of  2010,  as  amended,  and  the  rules  and
regulations issued thereunder.

"Agreement" is defined in the Preamble.

"Ancillary  Documents"  means,  (i)  the  Escrow  Agreement,  (ii)  the  Business  Covenants  Agreement,  dated  as  of  the  date
hereof, by and among the Purchaser, Sun Capital Advisors, Inc. and the other parties thereto, (iii) the Consulting Termination Agreement, (iv)
the executed affidavit delivered to the Purchaser pursuant to Section 7.05, (v) the resignation letters delivered to the Purchaser pursuant to
Section 7.06, (vi) the certificates delivered pursuant to Section 3.01(c) and Section 3.02(c), (viii) any unit transfer powers delivered pursuant
to Section 2.03(a), and (ix) that certain Equity Commitment Letter dated as of the date hereof by and among Sun Capital Partners VI, L.P., a
Cayman  Islands  exempted  limited  partnership,  Sun  Capital  Partners  VI  Employee  Co-Invest  Vehicle,  L.P.,  a  Cayman  Islands  exempted
limited partnership, and the Representative.

"Applicable  Option Portion" means,  for  each Optionholder,  an amount  equal  to  such Optionholder's  Pro Rata  Share  of  the
Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds in respect  of  such Optionholder's  Options, less the aggregate exercise price of the Options held by such
Optionholder.

"Applicable Phantom Award Portion" means, for each Phantom Award Recipient, an amount equal to such Phantom Award
Recipient's Pro Rata Share of the Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds in respect of such Phantom Award Recipient's Phantom Units.

"Audited Financial Statements" is defined in Section 5.04(c).

"Authorized Representative" is defined in Section 7.02.

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which all banking institutions of New York, New
York are authorized or obligated by Law or executive order to close.

"Capital  Lease Obligation"  means,  without  duplication  of  any  item that  would  otherwise  be  included  in  Indebtedness,  any
obligation (including accrued interest) of the Company or its Subsidiaries under a lease agreement that is required to be capitalized pursuant
to  GAAP as  in  effect  on  the  date  hereof.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  Capital  Lease  Obligations  shall  not  include  any  breakage  costs,
prepayment  penalties  or  fees  or  other  similar  amounts  payable  in  connection  with  any  capitalized  leases; provided,  that  Capital  Lease
Obligations shall include breakage costs, prepayment penalties or fees or other similar amounts in connection with a capitalized lease to the
extent  that  the  capital  lease  requires  prepayment  penalties  or  fees  or  other  similar  amounts  in  connection  with  the  consummation  of  the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"CARES Act" means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (Pub. L. 116-136) and any administrative or
other guidance published with respect thereto by any Governmental Body, or any other Law or executive order or executive memo intended
to address the consequences of COVID-19 (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (Pub. L. 116-260),
the
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Presidential  Memorandum on "Deferring Payroll  Tax Obligations in Light of the Ongoing COVID-19 Disaster" dated August 8,  2020 and
IRS Notice 2020-65), and the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (Pub. L. 117-2).

"Cash"  means,  as  of  a  given  time,  an  amount  equal  to  the  aggregate  amount  of  all  cash,  cash  equivalents  and  marketable
securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including all outstanding security or similar deposits, but net of (i) Restricted Cash, and
(ii) checks written but not yet cashed, in each case calculated in accordance with the Accounting Principles.

"Closing" is defined in Section 2.02.

"Closing Balance Sheet" is defined in Section 2.04(a).

"Closing Date" is defined in Section 2.02.

"Closing Cash Proceeds" means (i) the Enterprise Value, minus (ii) the amount of Indebtedness outstanding as of the Closing,
plus (iii) the amount of Cash as of the Measurement Time, minus (iv) the Representative Holdback, plus (v) the aggregate exercise price of
all Options, minus (vi)  all Transaction Expenses, minus (vii) the Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Amount. For the avoidance of doubt, no
items  included  in  the  definitions  of  Cash,  Indebtedness  or  Transaction  Expenses  shall  be  double  counted  for  purposes  of  calculating  the
Closing Cash Proceeds hereunder.

"Closing Option Amount"  means  an  amount  equal  to  the  total  sum of  the  Optionholders'  aggregate  Pro  Rata  Share  of  the
Estimated  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  in  respect  of  the  Optionholders'  Options,  less  the  aggregate  exercise  price  of  the  Options  held  by  the
Optionholders.

"Closing Phantom Award Amount" means an amount equal to the total sum of the Phantom Award Recipients' aggregate Pro
Rata Share of the Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds in respect of the Phantom Units.

"Closing Statement" is defined in Section 2.04(a).

"Closing Working Capital" means Working Capital as of the Measurement Time.

"Closing Working Capital Maximum" means $30,730,000.

"Closing Working Capital Minimum" means $22,730,000.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Common Units" means the Common Units of the Company

"Company" is defined in the Preamble.

"Company Counsel" is defined in Section 13.15.

"Company Documents" is defined in Section 5.03(a).

"Company Intellectual Property" means any and all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by the Company
and its Subsidiaries, including the Scheduled Company Intellectual Property and any
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other trade secret, technology, software or other copyrightable, patentable, trademarkable or otherwise proprietary work owned or purported
to be owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries.

"Company IT Assets" is defined in Section 5.11(b)(xv).

"Confidentiality Agreement" is defined in Section 8.05.

"Consulting  Agreement"  means  that  certain  Consulting  Agreement,  dated  as  of  December  11,  2018,  by  and  between
StonePoint Materials LLC (f/k/a VantaCore Partners LLC) and Sun Consultant, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 22, 2020.

"Consulting Termination Agreement" means the Consulting Termination Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit C.

"Contract" means any contract, lease, license, indenture, note, bond, mortgage, loan, instrument or other agreement (including
any amendments and other modifications thereto), whether written or oral.

"COVID-19" means SARS-CoV-2 or any disease or infections resulting therefrom, including COVID-19 and any mutations
thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics or disease outbreaks.

"COVID-19 Measures" means any quarantine, "shelter in place," "stay at home," workforce reduction, social distancing, shut
down, closure, sequester or any other Laws, directives, guidelines or recommendations by any Governmental Body in connection with or in
response to COVID-19, including the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act.

"D&O Tail Policies" is defined in Section 8.02(a).

"Disclosure Schedules" is defined in Section 13.06.

"DL" is defined in Annex I.

"Electronic Delivery" is defined in Section 13.10.

"Enterprise Value" means Three Hundred Seventy Five Million Dollars ($375,000,000).

"Environmental  Laws"  means  all  Laws  concerning  pollution  or  protection  of  the  environment,  natural  resources,  or  the
protection of human health and safety from exposure to hazardous substances.

"Environmental Permit" is defined in Section 5.16(a)(iv).

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"ERISA  Affiliate"  of  the  Company  means  any  other  corporation  or  trade  or  business  controlled  by,  controlling,  or  under
common control with the Company (within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001(a)(14) or 4001(b) of ERISA).

"Escrow Agent" means Citibank, N.A., or its successor, in its capacity as such pursuant to the Escrow Agreement.

"Escrow Agreement" means an escrow agreement in the form of Exhibit A.
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"Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds" is defined in Section 2.04(a).

"Excluded Claims" is defined in Section 10.04(a).

"Financial Statements" is defined in Section 5.04(c).

"Firm" is defined in Section 2.04(d).

"Fraud"  means,  with  respect  to  a  Person,  the  knowing and intentional  fraud of  such Person  in  such Person's  making of  an
express representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or contained in any certificate delivered by such Person at Closing pursuant to
this  Agreement,  with  the  actual  knowledge  of  such  Person  that  such  representation  or  warranty  was  false  when  made  (as  opposed  to  the
making of a representation or warranty (affirmatively or by omissions) negligently, recklessly or without actual knowledge of its truthfulness)
and  which  was  made  with  the  actual  intent  of  such  Person  of  deceiving  and  inducing  the  party  hereto  to  whom  such  representation  and
warranty was made herein or in such certificate to enter into or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and upon which
such party hereto reasonably and justifiably relied (subject, for the avoidance of doubt, to Sections 8.06 and 10.01) to its detriment.

"Fundamental Representations"  means  the  representations  and  warranties  set  forth  in Section 4.01 (Authority  Validity  and
Effect), Section  4.02 (Title  to  Units), Section  4.03(a) (No  Violation), Section  4.06 (Brokerage), Section  5.01 (Organization  and  Power),
Section  5.02 (Subsidiaries), Section  5.03(a) (Authorization;  No  Breach), Section  5.04(a) through (d) (Capitalization)  and Section  5.18
(Brokerage).

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

"Governmental Body" means any (i) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other
jurisdiction of any nature, or any political subdivision thereof, (ii) federal, state, provincial, local, municipal, non-U.S., or other government,
or (iii) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission,
instrumentality, official, organization, regulatory body, or other entity and any court, arbitrator, or other tribunal).

"Hazardous Substance" means any substance, material or waste that is regulated, listed, defined, designated or classified as,
or  otherwise  determined  to  be,  hazardous,  radioactive,  or  toxic  or  a  pollutant  or  a  contaminant,  or  words  of  similar  meaning  or  regulator
effect,  under  or  pursuant  to  any  Environmental  Laws,  including  petroleum  and  derivatives  thereof,  radiation,  per-  and  polyfluoroalkyl
substances and friable asbestos.

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

"Incentive Plans" is defined in Section 5.14(a).

"Indebtedness" means, without duplication, as of any particular time, (i) the amount of all indebtedness for borrowed money
of the Company and its  Subsidiaries  (including any unpaid principal,  premium, accrued and unpaid interest,  related expenses,  prepayment
penalties,  commitment  and  other  fees,  reimbursements,  indemnities  and  all  other  amounts  payable  in  connection  therewith)  (other  than  in
respect  of  the  PPP  Loan);  (ii)  Liabilities  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  evidenced  by  bonds,  debentures,  notes,  or  other  similar
instruments or debt securities; (iii) Liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services
(other  than  in  respect  of  any  trade  payables  incurred  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business,  any  holdback  arrangements  for  which  the  cash
subject  thereto  constitutes  Restricted  Cash,  or  any  earnouts  or  similar  obligations  related  to  past  acquisitions  set  forth  on  the Earnout
Obligations Schedule); (iv) Liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries in respect of letters of credit,
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performance bonds, bankers acceptances or similar obligations, but only to the extent drawn or called, as applicable; (v) all Liabilities of the
Company and its Subsidiaries arising out of interest rate and currency swap arrangements and any other arrangements designed to provide
protection against fluctuations in interest or currency rates; (vi) the amount of the Capital Lease Obligations, (vii) the Tax Liability Amount;
and (viii) any "success fees" or bonuses payable to employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at or in connection with the Closing
arising solely from or otherwise triggered solely by the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (excluding (a) any payments to the
Phantom  Award  Recipients  with  respect  to  their  Phantom  Units  in  accordance  with  this  Agreement  to  the  extent  all  payment  obligations
pursuant to the Phantom Units are otherwise satisfied in full pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (except, for the avoidance of doubt, as
set forth in subsection (ix) below regarding certain obligations of the Company and its Subsidiaries) and (b) any consideration payable to any
employee due to actions or decisions made by the Purchaser at or after the Closing),  including the employer's  portion of any employment,
payroll  or  social  security  Taxes;  (ix)  Liabilities  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  in  respect  of  payroll  or  withholding  Taxes,  Federal
Insurance Contribution Act Taxes and any unemployment insurance with respect to any amounts paid by the Company to the Optionholders
and Phantom Award Recipients pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that any such Taxes shall not include the Social Security tax portion of
Federal Insurance Contribution Act Taxes payable with respect to the recipients of such payments who are employees of the Company or its
Subsidiaries whose total  compensation (other than the amounts paid in respect of their  Options pursuant to this Agreement) that would be
payable to them by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, during the calendar year in which the Closing occurs (assuming all
such recipients remained employed by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries for the entire year and disregarding any transaction, retention
or  change-in-control  bonus  payment  payable  in  connection  with  the  transaction contemplated  hereby)  is  anticipated to  be  in  excess  of  the
social security wage base for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs, (x) Liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries in respect of
rental equipment hour overages in the amount of $250,000 (which amount, for the avoidance of doubt, is fixed and not subject to adjustment
hereunder) and (xi) in respect of all obligations of Indebtedness referred to above, in the foregoing clauses (i) through (x) payment of which is
the responsibility or Liability of the Company or its Subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor, surety or otherwise, including
guarantees  of  such  obligations,  or  which  is  secured  by  a  Lien  on  any  property  or  asset  of  the  Company  (other  than  a  Permitted  Lien);
provided, that "Indebtedness" shall not include any such liabilities or obligations between or among the Company or any of the Company's
Subsidiaries or any liabilities or obligations with respect to any undrawn or uncalled customs, surety or performance bonds (or any similar
instruments).

"Insurance Policies" is defined in Section 5.15.

"Intellectual Property" means all rights, title and interest in and to all intellectual property in any jurisdiction throughout the
world,  whether  registered or  unregistered,  including:  (i)  patents,  patent  applications  and patent  disclosures;  (ii)  trademarks,  service  marks,
trade dress, corporate names, trade names, logos and slogans, together with all goodwill associated with each of the foregoing (collectively
"Trademarks"); (iii) copyrights, copyrightable works and works of authorship; (iv) registrations and applications for any of the foregoing in
clauses (i) through (iii); (v) trade secrets, proprietary information, know how, inventions, methods and processes (whether or not patentable);
(vi) Internet domain names and website content; and (vii) intellectual property rights in computer software (including source code, executable
code,  algorithms,  data,  and  databases);  all  of  the  foregoing,  including  the  right  to  sue  for  past,  present  and  future  infringement,
misappropriation or other violation thereof, and the right (if any) to receive all damages, payments, costs, and fees associated therewith.
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"Intermediate" means StonePoint Intermediate Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"JAMS" is defined in Section 13.12(a).

"K&E LLP" is defined in Section 13.14(g).

"Knowledge" means, with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge of Kevin Black, Nick Coder, Sean Cotham, Perry
Donahoo, Barry Fink, Sean McGrath, and Colin Oerton.

"Latest Balance Sheet" is defined in Section 5.04(c).

"Law" means any law, statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, Order, decree, or other pronouncement having the
effect of law of any Governmental Body.

"Lease" is defined in Section 5.08(b).

"Leased Real Property" is defined in Section 5.08(b).

"Liability"  means  any  liability,  debt,  obligation,  Tax,  penalty,  fine,  damage,  claim,  assessment,  amount  to  be  paid  in
settlement, judgment or other loss, cost or expense of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent,
known or unknown, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become due.

"Liens" means liens, security interests, charges or encumbrances, other than licenses of Intellectual Property.

"Losses" means, with respect to any Person, any losses, Liabilities,  or damages (including interest,  penalties,  attorneys'  and
other  professionals'  fees  and  expenses,  and  court  costs)  against  or  affecting  such  Person;  provided,  Losses  will  not  include  "punitive"
damages unless such punitive damages are actually paid to a third-party.

"Material Adverse Change" means any event, act, change, or circumstance that has had or would reasonably be expected to
have  a  materially  adverse  effect  on  the  condition,  financial  or  otherwise,  business  or  results  of  operations  of  the  Company  and  its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and shall exclude any change resulting or arising from: (i) any change in any Law; (ii) any change in interest
rates,  credit  markets,  currency  exchange  rates  or  general  economic  conditions  (including  changes  in  the  price  of  gas,  oil  or  other  natural
resources,  commodities  or  chemicals);  (iii)  any  change  that  is  generally  applicable  to  the  industries  in  which  the  Company  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries  operates;  (iv)  the  entry  into  this  Agreement  or  the  announcement  or  consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this
Agreement and the other agreements referenced herein; (v) any action taken by or at the request of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates; (vi)
any omission to act or action taken with the consent of the Purchaser (including those omissions to act or actions taken which are permitted
by this Agreement); (vii) any national or international political event or occurrence, including acts of war or terrorism; (viii) any natural or
manmade disasters, hurricanes, floods, tornados, tsunamis, earthquakes or other acts of God; (ix) any epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak
(including  COVID-19),  or  any  Law  issued  by  a  Governmental  Body,  the  Centers  for  Disease  Control  and  Prevention,  the  World  Health
Organization or industry group providing for business closures, "sheltering-in-place," curfews or other restrictions that relate to, or arise out
of, an epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak (including COVID-19) or any worsening of such
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conditions;  (x)  any  political  or  social  conditions,  civil  unrest,  protests,  public  demonstrations  or  the  response  of  any  Governmental  Body
thereto  or  any  escalation  or  any  worsening  thereof;  (xi)  the  availability  or  cost  of  equity,  debt  or  other  financing  to  the  Purchaser  and  its
Affiliates; or (xii) any failure by the Company or any Subsidiary thereof to meet any projections, forecasts or estimates of revenue or earnings
(it  being  understood  that  this clause  (ix) shall  not  prevent  a  determination  that  any  change  underlying  such  failure  to  meet  projections,
forecasts or estimates has resulted in a Material Adverse Change (to the extent the effect(s) of such change is not otherwise excluded from
this definition of Material Adverse Change)); provided, that, in the case of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (v), (vi), (vii), and (viii) if such
effect disproportionately affects the Company and its Subsidiaries as compared to other Persons or businesses that operate in the industry and
in the markets in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate, then the disproportionate aspect of such effect may be taken into account
in determining whether a Material Adverse Change has occurred or will occur.

"Measurement Time" means 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date.

"Mines"  means  all  Leased  Real  Property  and  Owned  Real  Property  used  in  and  necessary  for  the  mining  and  processing
operations (including dredging) of the Company and its Subsidiaries and including non-operational quarries and plants and real property held
by the Company and its Subsidiaries for future reserves exploitation.

"Non-Recourse Party" means, with respect to a party, any of such party's former, current and future equityholders, controlling
Persons, directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, Affiliates, members, managers, general or limited partners, or assignees (or
any former, current or future equityholder, controlling Person, director, officer, employee, agent, representative, Affiliate, member, manager,
general or limited partner, or assignee of any of the foregoing).

"Objection Notice" is defined in Section 2.04(d).

"Optionholder" means any holder of Options.

"Options" means all options to acquire Common Units which are exercisable (or will become exercisable as a result of the
transactions contemplated hereby (whether pursuant to the terms of such options or at the election of the Company's board of managers)), as
of immediately prior to Closing.

"Order" means any order, judgment, ruling, decree or writ of any Governmental Body.

"Ordinary  Course  of  Business"  means  the  usual  and  ordinary  course  of  normal  day-to-day  operations  of  the  business,
consistent  (in  scope,  manner,  amount  and  otherwise)  with  the  Company's  and  its  Subsidiaries'  past  practices  through  the  date  of  this
Agreement.

"Outside Date" is defined in Section 9.01(c).

"Owned Real Property" is defined in Section 5.08(c).

"Party-Appointed Arbitrators" is defined in Section 13.12(a).

"Pension Plans" is defined in Section 5.14(a).

"Permit"  means  any  approvals,  authorizations,  consents,  licenses,  permits,  registrations  or  certificates  of  a  Governmental
Body.
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"Permitted Liens" means (i) Liens securing liabilities which are reflected or reserved against in the Latest Balance Sheet to
the extent so reflected or reserved; (ii) Liens for Taxes and other governmental charges not yet due or payable or the validity or amount of
which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established and are maintained in
accordance with GAAP; (iii) landlord's, mechanic's, materialmen's, and other similar statutory Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course
of  business  securing  amounts  not  yet  due  and  payable  or  which  are  being  contested  in  good  faith  by  appropriate  proceedings  for  which
adequate reserves have been established and are maintained in accordance with GAAP; (iv) purchase money Liens (except with respect to
Owned  Real  Property)  and  Liens  securing  rental  payments  under  capital  lease  arrangements;  (v)  Liens  set  forth  on  the Permitted  Liens
Schedule; (vi) zoning, building codes and other land use Laws regulating the use, occupancy or operation of any real property or the activities
conducted  thereon  which  are  imposed  by  any  Governmental  Body,  that  do  not  materially  impair  the  value  or  current  use,  occupancy  or
operation  of  the  affected  real  property;  (vii)  easements,  rights,  covenants,  conditions  and  restrictions  of  public  record  or  that  would  be
disclosed by a current, accurate survey or title insurance policy and do not materially interfere with the use, occupancy or operation of such
real property or materially impact the value of such real property; (viii) Liens arising in the ordinary course of business (including customer
return  rights,  warranty  claims,  rebates,  refunds  and  other  discounts  to  customers)  and  not  incurred  in  connection  with  the  borrowing  of
money; (ix) Liens in the form of security deposits or otherwise collateralized with letters of credit or similar instruments; and (x) Liens that
will be terminated in connection with the Closing.

"Person" means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company,
a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization or a Governmental Body.

"Phantom Award Agreements" means the Equity Equivalent Agreements, dated as of April 12, 2019 and April 15, 2019, by
and between the Company and each of Nick Coder and Colin Oerton, respectively.

"Phantom Award Recipients" means each of Nick Coder and Colin Oerton.

"Phantom Units" has the meaning set forth in the Phantom Award Agreements.

"Plans" is defined in Section 5.14(a).

"PPP Loan" means that certain U.S. Small Business Administration Loan # 55430770-03, dated as of April 14, 2020, made
by Woodforest National Bank to River Aggregates, LLC, in the principal amount of $286,900.00.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and, with respect to any Straddle
Period, the portion of such Straddle Period through the end of the Closing Date.

"Privileged Materials" is defined in Section 13.15.

"Privileges" is defined in Section 13.15.

"Pro Rata Share" means, for any Person, an amount (expressed as a percentage) equal to a fraction, the numerator of which is
(i) the sum of (A) the total number of Common Units (if any), plus (B) the total number of Common Units that are issuable upon the exercise
of Options (if any), plus (C) the total number of Phantom Units (if any), in each case, owned by such Person as of immediately prior to the
Closing, and the denominator of which is (ii) the sum of the (A) the total number of Common Units, plus (B) the total number of

9



Common  Units  that  are  issuable  upon  the  exercise  of  all  Options, plus (C)  the  total  number  of  Phantom  Units,  in  each  case,  issued  and
outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing.

"Proceeding"  means  any  action,  suit,  charge,  complaint,  grievance,  arbitration,  inquiry,  mediation,  audit,  investigation,
litigation or other similar proceeding (whether civil, criminal or administrative) brought, conducted or heard by or before any Governmental
Body or arbitrator.

"Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Account" is defined in Section 2.03(f).

"Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Amount" means an amount equal to Three Million dollars ($3,000,000).

"Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Funds" means the amount of cash held from time to time by the Escrow Agent in the
Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Account pursuant to the Escrow Agreement.

"Purchaser" is defined in the Preamble.

"Purchaser Adjustment Amount" is defined in Section 2.04(g)(i).

"Purchaser Documents" is defined in Section 6.01.

"Purchaser Indemnified Parties" is defined in Section 11.03.

"R&W Insurance Policy" means that certain representations and warranties insurance policy attached hereto as Exhibit B.

"Released Claims" is defined in Section 10.04(a).

"Releasee" is defined in Section 10.04(a).

"Releasor" is defined in Section 10.04(a).

"Representative" is defined in the Preamble.

"Representative Holdback Amount" means an amount equal to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).

"Restricted Cash" means any (a) cash and cash equivalents included on the balance sheet of the Company or its Subsidiaries
that is (i) held in foreign bank accounts or (ii) not freely usable by the Company or its Subsidiaries immediately following Closing due to
restrictions  or  limitations  on  use  or  distribution  by  Law or  Contract  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  the  indemnification  holdback
amount set forth in the Road Builder APA (such indemnification holdback amount equaling $2,650,000)), or (b) cash held by the Company
and its Subsidiaries for third parties, in each case, that would otherwise be included in Cash.

"Retained Employees" is defined in Section 10.03(a).

"RICO" is defined in Section 10.01.
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"Road  Builder  APA"  means  that  certain  Asset  Purchase  Agreement,  dated  as  of  November  8,  2019,  by  and  amount  RB
Aggregates, LLC, RB Paving and Construction, LLC, RB Parkway, LLC, Road Builders, LLC, Laura Dozer, Teresa Dozer, John Stovall and
the John Stovall Business Trust and The Laura Michelle Elliott Trust.

"Schedule" means a schedule of the Disclosure Schedules.

"Scheduled Company Intellectual Property" is defined in Section 5.11(a).

"Seller Adjustment Amount" is defined in Section 2.04(g)(ii).

"Sellers" are defined in the Preamble.

"Straddle Period" means a taxable period beginning on or before the Closing Date and ending after the Closing Date.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation of which a majority of the total voting power of shares of
stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the
time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one (1) or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination
thereof, or any partnership, association or other business entity of which a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interest is at
the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one (1) or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof.
For purposes of this definition, a Person is deemed to have a majority ownership interest in a partnership, association or other business entity
if  such  Person  is  allocated  a  majority  of  the  gains  or  losses  of  such  partnership,  association  or  other  business  entity  or  is  or  controls  the
managing director or general partner of such partnership, association or other business entity.

"Sun Consultant" means Sun Capital Partners Management VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"Tax" means (i) any United States, federal, state, local or non-U.S. tax, assessment, fee, duty, levy or other like charge of any
Governmental  Body  whether  or  not  disputed  (including  any  income,  gross  receipts,  capital  stock,  capital  gains,  franchise,  branch  profits,
profits, windfall profits, withholding, social security (or similar), ad valorem, value added, payroll, employment, unemployment, disability,
real  property,  personal  property,  escheat  and  unclaimed  property  obligations,  customs  duties,  stamp,  excise,  registration,  production,
occupation, sales, use, goods and services, harmonized sales, provincial sales, transfer, net worth, alternative and add-on minimum, premium,
estimated or other similar tax); (ii) any fine, interest,  penalty, additional taxes or addition to tax with respect thereto, imposed, assessed or
collected by or under the authority of any Governmental Body; and (iii) any liability in respect of any items described in clauses (i) or (ii)
payable  by reason of  Contract,  assumption,  transferee or  successor  liability,  operation of  Law, or  Treasury Regulations §1.1502-6 (or  any
similar provision of applicable Law or any predecessor or successor thereof).

"Tax Liability Amount" means the amount (which shall not be below zero) equal to the sum of (i) accrued and unpaid income
Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries for any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning on or after January 1, 2020 and ending on or
before  the Closing Date  (calculated for  any Straddle  Period in  accordance with Section 12.01),  including,  for  the avoidance of doubt,  any
amounts that, in accordance with GAAP, would be properly accrued as income Tax liabilities (including by reason of Treasury Regulations
§1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of applicable Law or any predecessor or successor thereof)) payable on the balance sheet of the Company
or its Subsidiary; and (ii) any amount of unpaid payroll Taxes that have been deferred by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as permitted
under the CARES Act that otherwise
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would  have  been  required  to  be  withheld  and  paid  (and,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  excluding  any  such  Taxes  constituting  Indebtedness
hereunder). In the case of each of the preceding clauses (i) and (ii), the Tax Liability Amount shall be calculated (A) as of the Closing as if
the taxable year of the Company or its Subsidiary ended on the day of Closing, (B) by excluding all deferred Tax liabilities and deferred Tax
assets, (C) by including in taxable income all adjustments under Code §481 that, as of the Closing Date, have not previously been included in
income by the Company or its Subsidiaries, (D) by taking into account any payments of estimated Taxes (including, for avoidance of doubt,
any overpayments available to offset such Taxes), (E) in accordance with past practices of the Company and its Subsidiaries, unless otherwise
required by Law, (F) by taking into account any Transaction Tax Deductions (to the extent such Transaction Tax Deductions are deductible
against such Taxes under applicable Tax Law), and (G) without regard to any transactions or events outside the ordinary course of business
occurring after the Closing.

"Tax Returns" means any return,  amended return,  claims for  refund,  tax credit,  estimated Tax,  incentive or  benefit,  report,
information  return,  declaration,  or  other  document  (including  schedules  thereto  or  amendments  thereof,  or  any  related  or  supporting
information)  filed  with  or  submitted  to,  or  required  to  be  filed  with  or  submitted  to,  any  Governmental  Body  in  connection  with  the
determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or the administration of any Laws relating to any Tax.

"Transaction Expenses"  means,  without  duplication,  to  the  extent  not  paid  prior  to  the  Closing,  the  amount  of  (i)  all  fees,
costs and expenses (including fees, costs and expenses of legal counsel, investment bankers, brokers or other representatives and consultants)
incurred by the Sellers or the Company prior to the Closing in connection with this Agreement, (ii) all fees payable by the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries to the Sun Consultant or its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (iii) 50% of
the costs, fees and expenses of the D&O Tail Policies; and (iv) 50% of any costs, fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent. Notwithstanding
the  foregoing,  "Transaction  Expenses"  will  exclude  all  costs,  fees  and  expenses  and  payment  obligations  to  the  extent  included  in
Indebtedness.

"Transaction Tax Deductions" means, without duplication, the aggregate amount of all income tax deductions available at a
"more likely than not" (or higher) level of comfort resulting from fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
related to or arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including (i) any and all stay bonuses, sale bonuses, change in
control  payments,  retention  payments,  synthetic  equity  payments,  or  similar  payments  made  or  to  be  made  by  the  Company or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries in connection with or  resulting from the Closing,  (ii)  all  fees,  expenses and interest  (including amounts  treated as  interest  for
U.S. federal income Tax purposes), original issue discount, unamortized debt financing costs, breakage fees, tender premiums, consent fees,
redemption, retirement or make-whole payments, defeasance in excess of par or similar payments incurred in respect of the Indebtedness in
connection  with  the  Closing,  (iii)  all  fees,  costs  and  expenses  incurred  by  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  in  connection  with  or
incident  to  this  Agreement  and  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby,  including,  to  the  extent  "more  likely  than  not"  deductible,  any  such
legal,  accounting  and  investment  banking  fees,  costs  and  expenses,  (iv)  all  deductions  in  respect  of  the  exercise,  or  payment  for  the
cancellation of, Options in connection with the Closing, and (v) any employment or payroll Taxes with respect to the amounts set forth in the
foregoing clauses (i) and (iv). The parties shall apply the safe harbor election set forth in Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure 2011-
29 to determine the amount of any success based fees for purposes of the foregoing clause (iii).

"Transfer Taxes" is defined in Section 12.02.
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"Treasury Regulations" means the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated under the Code, and any reference to any
particular Treasury Regulation section shall be interpreted to include any final or temporary revision of or successor to that section regardless
of how numbered or classified.

"Units" is defined in the Recitals.

"Valuation Firm" is defined in Section 2.04(d).

"Waived 280G Benefits" is defined in Section 7.08(b).

"WARN" means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended.

"Warranty" is defined in Section 5.27(b).

"Water Rights" is defined in Section 5.24(f).

"Welfare Plans" is defined in Section 5.14(a).

"Working Capital" means (i) only those specific line items designated as "current assets" on the Working Capital Schedule,
minus (ii) only those specific line items designated as "current liabilities" on the Working Capital Schedule, in each case, for the Company
and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis calculated in accordance with the Accounting Principles and subject to the specific adjustments
set  forth  on  the Working  Capital  Schedule.  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  Working  Capital  shall  exclude  Cash,  Indebtedness,  Transaction
Expenses and any current or deferred income Tax assets or liabilities. The Working Capital Schedule sets forth an illustrative example of the
calculation of  Working Capital  (including any such specific  adjustments thereto for  purposes of  calculating Working Capital),  as  of  12:01
a.m.  Eastern  Time  on  February  28,  2021.  Such  calculation  is  included  for  reference  purposes  only,  and  notwithstanding  anything  to  the
contrary, neither the Company nor any other Person makes any representation or warranty in respect thereof.

"Working Capital Purchaser Adjustment Amount" is defined in Section 2.04(g)(iii).

"Working Capital Seller Adjustment Amount" is defined in Section 2.04(g)(iv).

1.02    Other Definitional Provisions.

(a)    Accounting Terms. Accounting terms which are not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to
them under GAAP. To the extent that the definition of an accounting term defined in this Agreement is inconsistent with the meaning of such
term under GAAP, the definition set forth in this Agreement will control.

(b)     "Hereof,"  etc.  The  terms  "hereof,"  "herein"  and  "hereunder"  and  terms  of  similar  import  are  references  to  this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

(c)     Successor Laws.  Any  reference  to  any  particular  Code  section  or  any  other  Law  will  be  interpreted  to  include  any
revision of or successor to that section regardless of how it is numbered or classified.

(d)    "Including," etc. The term "including," "includes" and terms of similar import have the inclusive meaning frequently
identified with the phrase "but not limited to" or "without limitation".
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(e)    Singular and Plural Forms. Unless the context otherwise clearly indicates,  each defined term used in this Agreement
shall have a comparable meaning when used in its plural or in its singular form.

(f)    "Or". The word "or" is not exclusive.

(g)    "To the extent". The phrase "to the extent" means the degree by which, and not "if."

(h)     Internal  References.  References  herein  to  a  specific  article,  section,  subsection,  clause,  recital,  schedule,  annex  or
exhibit shall refer, respectively, to articles, sections, subsections, clauses, recitals, schedules, annexes or exhibits of this Agreement, unless
otherwise specified.

(i)    Gender. References herein to any gender shall include each other gender.

(j)     Heirs,  Executors,  etc.  References  herein  to  any  Person  shall  include  such  Person's  heirs,  executors,  personal
representatives,  administrators,  successors  and  assigns; provided, however,  that  nothing  contained  in  this Section  1.02(j) is  intended  to
authorize any assignment or transfer not otherwise permitted by this Agreement.

(k)    Capacity.  References herein to a Person in a particular  capacity or  capacities  shall  exclude such Person in any other
capacity.

(l)     Time Period.  With  respect  to  the  determination  of  any  period  of  time,  the  word  "from"  or  "since"  means  "from and
including" or "since and including," as applicable, and the words "to" and "until" each means "to but excluding".

(m)    Contract. References herein to any Contract mean such Contract as amended, supplemented or modified (including any
waiver thereto).

(n)    Calendar Days. References to any period of days shall be deemed to be the relevant number of calendar days, unless
otherwise specified.

(o)    Business Day. If the last day for the giving of any notice or the performance of any act required or permitted under this
Agreement is a day that is not a Business Day, then the time for the giving of such notice or the performance of such action shall be extended
to the next succeeding Business Day.

(p)    "Dollar," etc. The terms "dollars" or "$" mean dollars in the lawful currency of the United States of America and all
payments made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in United States dollars.

Article II 

PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE UNITS

2.01    Purchase and Sale of the Units

.  At  the  Closing,  upon  the  terms  and  subject  to  the  conditions  set  forth  in  this  Agreement,  the  Purchaser  shall  purchase  from the
Sellers, and the Sellers shall sell, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to the Purchaser, all of the Units, free and clear of all Liens (other than
Liens and any other transfer restrictions arising under applicable securities Laws).
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2.02    The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place remotely via the
exchange of documents and signature pages at 9:00 a.m. prevailing Eastern Time on the third (3rd) Business Day following full satisfaction
or  due  waiver  of  all  of  the  closing  conditions  set  forth  in Article  III (other  than  those  to  be  satisfied  at  the  Closing,  but  subject  to  the
satisfaction  or  waiver  of  those  conditions  at  Closing)  or  on  such  other  date  as  is  mutually  agreed  to  in  writing  by  the  Purchaser  and  the
Company; provided, that in no event shall the Closing take place prior to April 9, 2021, unless an earlier date is specified in writing by the
Purchaser upon at least five (5) Business Days' prior written notice to the Representative. The date of the Closing is referred to herein as the
"Closing Date".

2.03    The Closing Transactions. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the parties hereto shall consummate
the following transactions on the Closing Date:

(a)     the  Sellers  shall  deliver  to  the  Purchaser  all  of  the  certificates,  if  any,  evidencing  the  Units,  accompanied  by  duly
executed unit powers or other applicable forms of assignment and transfer;

(b)    the Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to each Seller an amount equal to such Seller's Pro Rata Share of the
Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds in respect of such Seller's Common Units, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s)
designated by such Seller;

(c)    the Purchaser shall deliver to the Company an amount equal to the Closing Phantom Award Amount for distribution by
the Company to each Phantom Award Recipient of an amount equal to such Phantom Award Recipient's Applicable Phantom Award Portion
through the payroll processing system of the Company in accordance with the Company's payroll processes and procedures;

(d)     the  Purchaser  shall  deliver  to  the  Company  an  amount  equal  to  the  Closing  Option  Amount  for  distribution  by  the
Company to each Optionholder of an amount equal to such Optionholder's Applicable Option Portion through the payroll processing system
of the Company in accordance with the Company's payroll processes and procedures;

(e)    the Purchaser shall repay, or cause to be repaid, on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, all amounts
necessary  to  discharge  fully  the  then-outstanding  balance  of  all  Indebtedness  identified  on  the Indebtedness Schedule by  wire  transfer  of
immediately available funds to the account(s) designated by the holders of such Indebtedness;

(f)     the  Purchaser  shall  deliver  the  Purchase  Price  Adjustment  Escrow Amount  to  the  Escrow Agent  for  deposit  into  an
escrow account (the "Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Account") established pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement;

(g)    the Purchaser shall pay, on behalf of the Company, all Transaction Expenses (other than Transaction Expenses that are
compensatory payments to employees or other service providers of the Company or its Subsidiaries, if any) to each Person who is owed a
portion thereof;

(h)     the  Purchaser  shall  deliver  to  the  Company  an  aggregate  amount  equal  to  all  Transaction  Expenses  that  are
compensatory payments to employees or other service providers of the Company or its Subsidiaries, if any, in each case, for distribution by
the Company to such employees or  other  service providers  through the payroll  processing system of the Company in accordance with the
Company's payroll processes and procedures;

(i)    the Purchaser shall deliver the Representative Holdback Amount by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
account(s) designated by the Representative;
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(j)    the Company shall deliver to the Purchaser the Consulting Termination Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit
C, duly executed by the Sun Consultant and StonePoint Materials LLC;

(k)    the Company shall deliver to Purchaser a certificate of good standing (or its equivalent), dated not more than ten (10)
days prior to the Closing Date,  with respect to the Company and its  Subsidiaries,  in each instance,  issued by the Secretary of State (or its
equivalent) of the applicable jurisdiction of organization of such Person;

(l)     the Company shall deliver to the Purchaser copies of resolutions of the Company's Board of Managers approving the
termination  of  the  Company  401(k)  Plan  one  Business  Day  prior  to  Closing  contingent  upon  the  consummation  of  the  transaction
contemplated by this Agreement; and

(m)    the parties hereto shall make such other deliveries as are required by Article III.

2.04    Closing Cash Proceeds Adjustment.

(a)    At least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall prepare and deliver to the Purchaser a
good faith estimate of the Closing Cash Proceeds (the "Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds"), including each of the components thereof, based
on  the  Company's  and  its  Subsidiaries'  books  and  records  and  other  information  then  available.  Following  delivery  of  the  Company's
calculation of the Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds, to the extent reasonably requested by the Purchaser, the Company shall make available
to  the  Purchaser  supporting  documentation  used  in  preparing  the  Estimated  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  and  the  Company  shall  consider  any
reasonable comments provided by the Purchaser in good faith based on the Purchaser's review of the Estimated Closing Cash Proceeds and
such documentation, provided,  that  if  there  is  a  dispute  over  the  Estimated  Closing  Cash  Proceeds,  the  Estimated  Closing  Cash  Proceeds
delivered by the Company shall govern and the obligation of the Company to consider such reasonable comments of the Purchaser regarding
the  Estimated  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  shall  in  no  event  require  that  the  Company  revise  its  calculation  of  the  Estimated  Closing  Cash
Proceeds or that the contemplated Closing be postponed or otherwise delayed.

(b)     As  promptly  as  practicable  after  the  Closing,  but  in  no  event  later  than  ninety  (90)  days  after  the  Closing  Date,  the
Purchaser  shall  prepare  and  deliver  to  the  Representative  a  statement  (the  "Closing  Statement")  setting  forth  the  Purchaser's  good  faith
calculation of  the Closing Cash Proceeds,  including each of  the components thereof,  a  consolidated balance sheet  of  the Company and its
Subsidiaries as of the Measurement Time (the "Closing Balance Sheet"), and the Purchaser's good faith calculation of the Closing Working
Capital.

(c)     The  Closing  Balance  Sheet  shall  (i)  be  prepared,  and  Cash  and  Closing  Working  Capital  (subject  to  the  specific
adjustments  set  forth  on  the Working  Capital  Schedule)  shall  be  determined,  in  accordance  with  the  Accounting  Principles,  and  (ii)  not
include any changes in assets or liabilities as a result of purchase accounting adjustments, changes arising from or resulting as a consequence
of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  changes  due  to  events  or  circumstances  occurring  or  arising  following  the  Closing.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, the inventory of the Company and its Subsidiaries
which is able to be measured in such fashion shall be measured by unmanned aerial vehicle(s) surveillance by a provider mutually acceptable
to the Company, the Purchaser, and the Representative on or immediately prior to the Closing Date, and the Purchaser and the Representative
agree to use the measured amount of such inventory for purposes of calculating Closing Working Capital pursuant to this Section 2.04.
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(d)    The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall (i) permit the Representative and
its  representatives  to  have  reasonable  access  to  the  books,  records  and  other  documents  (including  work  papers,  schedules,  financial
statements, memoranda, etc.) pertaining to or used in connection with the preparation of the Closing Statement or the Closing Balance Sheet
and  the  Purchaser's  calculation  of  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  and  Closing  Working  Capital  and  provide  the  Representative  with  copies
thereof (as reasonably requested by the Representative) and (ii)  provide the Representative and its representatives reasonable access to the
Purchaser's  and  its  Subsidiaries'  (including  the  Company's  and  its  Subsidiaries')  employees  and  advisors  (including  making  their  chief
financial officer(s) and accountants available to respond to reasonable written or oral inquiries of the Representative or its representatives);
provided,  that  such access  does  not  unreasonably  interfere  with  the  normal  operations  of  the  Purchaser  and its  Subsidiaries  (including the
Company and its Subsidiaries), shall be subject to customary confidentiality requirements, is permissible under applicable Law (after taking
into  account  any  applicable  COVID-19  Measures)  and  does  not  jeopardize  the  health  and  safety  of  any  employee  of  the  Purchaser  or  its
Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries). If the Representative disagrees with any part of the Purchaser's calculation of the
Closing Cash Proceeds or Closing Working Capital as set forth on the Closing Statement or the Closing Balance Sheet, the Representative
shall, within thirty (30) days after the Representative's receipt of the Closing Statement and the Closing Balance Sheet, notify the Purchaser in
writing of such disagreement by setting forth the Representative's calculation of the Closing Cash Proceeds or Closing Working Capital, as
applicable,  including  each  of  the  components  thereof,  and  describing  in  reasonable  detail  the  basis  for  such  disagreement  (an  "Objection
Notice").  If  an  Objection  Notice  is  delivered  to  the  Purchaser,  then  the  Purchaser  and  the  Representative  shall  negotiate  in  good  faith  to
resolve their  disagreements  with respect  to  the computation of  the Closing Cash Proceeds or  Closing Working Capital,  as  applicable.  The
Purchaser and the Sellers acknowledge and agree that all discussions related to the Objection Notice are, without prejudice, communications
made in confidence with the intent of attempting to resolve a litigious dispute and are subject to settlement privilege. In the event that the
Purchaser  and the Representative are  unable  to  resolve all  such disagreements  within thirty  (30)  days after  the Purchaser's  receipt  of  such
Objection  Notice  or  such  longer  period  as  the  Purchaser  and  the  Representative  may  mutually  agree  in  writing,  the  Purchaser  and  the
Representative shall submit such remaining disagreements to Deloitte, or, if such firm refuses or is otherwise unable to act in such capacity, a
nationally-recognized valuation or consulting firm as is acceptable to the Purchaser and the Representative (the "Firm").

(e)    The Firm shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator, and make a final and binding determination with respect to the
Purchaser's and the Company's compliance with this Section 2.04 and the computation of the Closing Cash Proceeds, including each of the
components  thereof,  and  Closing  Working  Capital  to  the  extent  such  amounts  are  in  dispute,  in  accordance  with  the  guidelines  and
procedures set forth in this Agreement and on Exhibit E. The Purchaser and the Representative shall cooperate with the Firm during the term
of its engagement and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Firm to resolve all remaining disagreements with respect to the
computation of the Closing Cash Proceeds, including each of the components thereof, and Closing Working Capital as soon as practicable.
The Firm shall consider only those items and amounts in the Purchaser's and the Representative's respective calculations of the Closing Cash
Proceeds, including each of the components thereof, and Closing Working Capital that are in the Objection Notice and identified as being
items and amounts to which the Purchaser and the Representative have been unable to agree. In resolving any disputed item, the Firm may
not assign a value to any item greater than the greater value for such item claimed by either party in its Initial Report (as defined on Exhibit
E)  which may not  be  greater  than the  corresponding amount  in  the  Closing Statement  or  Objection  Notice,  as  applicable,  or  less  than the
smaller  value  for  such  item  claimed  by  either  Person  in  its  Initial  Report  (as  defined  on Exhibit  E)  which  may  not  be  less  than  the
corresponding amount in the Closing Statement or Objection Notice, as applicable. Except as permitted on Exhibit E hereto in order to clarify
or  understand  any  position  or  argument  made  by  a  party  in  a  written  submission,  the  Firm's  determination  of  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds,
including each
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of the components thereof, and Closing Working Capital shall be based solely on written presentations submitted by the Purchaser and the
Representative which are in accordance with the guidelines and procedures (including the definitions of each of the components thereof) set
forth in this Agreement (i.e., not on the basis of an independent review). The determination of the Firm shall be conclusive and binding upon
the parties hereto and shall not be subject to appeal or further review.

(f)     The  costs  and  expenses  of  the  Firm  in  determining  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds,  including  each  of  the  components
thereof, and Closing Working Capital shall be borne by the Purchaser, on the one hand, and the Representative, on the other hand, based upon
the percentage which the portion of the contested amount not awarded to each party bears to the amount actually contested by such party. For
example, if the Purchaser claims the Closing Cash Proceeds or Closing Working Capital are, in the aggregate, one thousand dollars ($1,000)
less  than  the  amount  determined  by  the  Representative,  and  the  Representative  contests  only  five  hundred  dollars  ($500)  of  the  amount
claimed by the Purchaser, and if the Firm ultimately resolves the dispute by awarding the Purchaser three hundred dollars ($300) of the five
hundred  dollars  ($500)  contested,  then  the  costs  and  expenses  of  the  Firm  will  be  allocated  sixty  percent  (60%)  (i.e.,  300  ÷  500)  to  the
Representative and forty percent (40%) (i.e., 200 ÷ 500) to the Purchaser. Prior to the Firm's determination of the Closing Cash Proceeds and
Closing Working Capital, (i) the Purchaser, on the one hand, and the Representative (on behalf of the Sellers), on the other hand, shall retain
the Firm and each pay fifty percent (50%) of any retainer paid to the Firm, and (ii) during the engagement of the Firm, the Firm will bill fifty
percent (50%) of the total charges to each of the Purchaser, on the one hand, and the Representative (on behalf of the Sellers), on the other
hand. In connection with the Firm's determination of the Closing Cash Proceeds and Closing Working Capital, the Firm shall also determine,
pursuant to the terms of the first and second sentences of this Section 2.04(f), and taking into account all fees, costs and expenses of the Firm
already paid by each of the Purchaser, on the one hand, and the Representative, on the other hand, as of the date of such determination, the
allocation of the Firm's fees, costs and expenses between the Purchaser and the Representative, which such determination shall be conclusive
and binding upon the parties hereto.

(g)    Within five (5) Business Days after the Closing Cash Proceeds, including each of the components thereof, and Closing
Working Capital is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.04:

(i)     if  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  as  finally  determined  pursuant  to  this Section 2.04 are  less  than the  Estimated
Closing Cash Proceeds, then the Purchaser and the Representative shall cause the Escrow Agent to pay to the Purchaser from
the Purchase Price Adjustment  Escrow Funds an amount  (which in  no case shall  exceed the amount  of  the Purchase Price
Adjustment Escrow Funds) (the "Purchaser Adjustment Amount") equal to such deficiency;

(ii)    if the Closing Cash Proceeds as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.04 are greater than the Estimated
Closing Cash Proceeds (the total amount of such excess, the "Seller Adjustment Amount"), then the Purchaser shall pay or
cause to be paid (1) to the Representative, for the benefit of and for further distribution to each Seller, each such Seller's Pro
Rata  Share  in  respect  of  such  Seller's  Common  Units  of  the  Seller  Adjustment  Amount,  and  (2)  to  the  Company,  for  the
benefit  of  and  for  further  distribution  to  each  Optionholder  and  Phantom Award  Recipient  through  the  payroll  processing
system  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  in  accordance  with  the  Company's  payroll  processes  and  procedures,  an
aggregate  amount  equal  to  (x)  each such Optionholder's  Pro  Rata  Share  in  respect  of  such Optionholder's  Options  and (y)
each such Phantom Award Recipient's Pro Rata Share in respect of such Phantom Award Recipient's Phantom Units, in each
case, of the Seller Adjustment Amount;
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(iii)     if  the  Closing  Working  Capital  as  finally  determined  pursuant  to  this Section 2.04 is  less  than  the  Closing
Working Capital Minimum, then the Purchaser and the Representative shall cause the Escrow Agent to pay to the Purchaser
from the Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Funds remaining after distribution of any amount to the Purchaser pursuant to
Section 2.04(g)(i) an  amount  (which  in  no  case  shall  exceed  the  amount  of  the  Purchase  Price  Adjustment  Escrow Funds
remaining after distribution of any amount to the Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.04(g)(i)) (the "Working Capital Purchaser
Adjustment Amount") equal to such deficiency;

(iv)    if the Closing Working Capital as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.04 is greater than the Closing
Working Capital  Maximum (the  total  amount  of  such  excess,  the  "Working Capital  Seller  Adjustment  Amount"),  then the
Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid (1) to the Representative, for the benefit of and for further distribution to each Seller,
each such Seller's Pro Rata Share in respect of such Seller's Common Units of an amount equal to the Working Capital Seller
Adjustment  Amount,  and  (2)  to  the  Company,  for  the  benefit  of  and  for  further  distribution  to  each  Optionholder  and
Phantom Award Recipient through the payroll processing system of the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with the
Company's payroll processes and procedures, an aggregate amount equal to (x) each such Optionholder's Pro Rata Share in
respect  of  such  Optionholder's  Options  and  (y)  each  such  Phantom  Award  Recipient's  Pro  Rata  Share  in  respect  of  such
Phantom  Award  Recipient's  Phantom  Units,  in  each  case,  of  the  amount  equal  to  the  Working  Capital  Seller  Adjustment
Amount;

(v)    if after taking into account the adjustments required by Section 2.04(g)(i) through Section 2.04(g)(iv) there are
any remaining Purchase Price Escrow Funds, then the Purchaser and the Representative shall cause the Escrow Agent to pay
(A) to the Representative, for the benefit of and for further distribution to each Seller, each such Seller's Pro Rata Share in
respect of such Seller's Common Units of such remaining Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Funds, and (B) to the Company,
for  the  benefit  of  and  for  further  distribution  to  each  Optionholder  and  Phantom  Award  Recipient  through  the  payroll
processing system of the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with the Company's payroll processes and procedures,
an aggregate amount equal to (x) each such Optionholder's Pro Rata Share in respect of such Optionholder's Options and (y)
each such Phantom Award Recipient's Pro Rata Share in respect of such Phantom Award Recipient's Phantom Units, in each
case, of such remaining Purchase Price Adjustment Escrow Funds; and

(vi)    in no event shall either (A) the sum of the Purchaser Adjustment Amount and the Working Capital Purchaser
Adjustment  Amount  exceed  the  amount  of  the  Purchase  Price  Adjustment  Escrow  Funds,  or  (B)  the  sum  of  the  Seller
Adjustment Amount or the Working Capital Seller Adjustment Amount exceed the amount of the Purchase Price Adjustment
Escrow Funds.

(h)    All payments to be made pursuant to Section 2.04(g) shall (x) be treated by all parties for tax purposes as adjustments to
the Enterprise Value and (y) be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) designated by the Purchaser or the
Representative,  as applicable.  The payments described in Section 2.04(g) shall  be the sole  and exclusive remedy of  the Purchaser  and the
Sellers for any and all claims arising under this Agreement with respect to this Section 2.04.
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2.05    Certain Payments. The Company shall act as paying agent in effecting (a) the payment of the Closing Phantom Award Amount
to  the  Phantom  Award  Recipients  through  the  Company's  or  one  of  its  Subsidiary's  payroll  system  on  the  Closing  Date,  subject  to  the
Phantom Award Agreements, and (b) any other payments that are compensatory for income Tax purposes and are made in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby to any individual employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any payments made
hereunder to any Optionholder or pursuant to Section 2.03(h)). The Company (or any other Person that has any withholding obligation with
respect to any payment made pursuant to this Section 2.05) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any payments to be made pursuant
to this Section 2.05 any Taxes required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payments under the Code or any other
applicable provision of Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and timely paid over to the applicable taxing authority, such withheld
amounts shall be treated for all purposes as having been paid to such Phantom Award Recipient, Optionholder or other Person, as applicable,
on behalf of whom such deduction and withholding was made.

2.06    Withholding.  The Purchaser  (and any other  Person that  has  any withholding obligation  with  respect  to  any payment  made
pursuant to this Agreement) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Person in
such amounts as the Purchaser or such other Person is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the
Code  or  any  other  applicable  provision  of  Law; provided,  that  the  Purchaser  or  such  other  Person  shall  provide  the  Representative  with
reasonable notice at least three (3) Business Days prior to withholding any amounts pursuant to this Section 2.06, and shall work in good faith
with the Representative and the Sellers to minimize any such withheld amounts. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and are timely
paid over to the applicable Tax authority in accordance with applicable Law, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement
as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.

Article III 

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

3.01     Conditions  to  the  Purchaser's  Obligation.  The  obligation  of  the  Purchaser  to  consummate  the  Closing  is  subject  to  the
satisfaction of the following conditions immediately prior to the Closing:

(a)     (i)  the  representations  and  warranties  set  forth  in Article  IV and Article  V of  this  Agreement  (other  than  the
Fundamental  Representations)  shall  be  true  and  correct  (without  giving  effect  to  any  limitation  or  qualification  that  includes  the  word
"material," "materiality" or "Material Adverse Change" set forth therein) as of the Closing Date, except (A) to the extent that the failure of
such representations and warranties to be true and correct does not constitute a Material Adverse Change, and (B) for those representations
and warranties which expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct
(without  giving  effect  to  any  limitation  or  qualification  that  includes  the  word  "material,"  "materiality"  or  "Material  Adverse  Change"  set
forth therein) as of such earlier date except to the extent that the failure of such representations and warranties to have been true and correct
as of such earlier date did not constitute a Material Adverse Change; (ii) the Fundamental Representations (other than the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 5.04(a) through (d)) shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, except for those
representations and warranties which expressly relate to an earlier date,  in which case such representations and warranties shall  have been
true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; (iii) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.04(a) through (d)
shall  be  true  and  correct  in  all  respects,  except  for de minimis inaccuracies,  as  of  the  Closing  Date,  except  for  those  representations  and
warranties which expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations
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and warranties shall have been true and correct in all respects, except for de minimis inaccuracies, as of such earlier date; (iv) there shall not
have occurred a Material Adverse Change since the date hereof;

(b)    the Company, the Representative and the Sellers shall have performed in all material respects all of the covenants and
agreements required to be performed by them under this Agreement prior to the Closing; and

(c)     the  Company shall  have delivered to  the Purchaser  a  certificate  signed by an officer  of  the Company in  the form of
Exhibit F, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 3.01(a) and 3.01(b) have been satisfied.

3.02    Conditions to the Company's and the Sellers' Obligations. The obligations of the Company, the Representative and the Sellers
to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions immediately prior
to the Closing:

(a)    the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date, except to the
extent such failure to be so true and correct would prevent, materially impair or materially delay the ability of the Purchaser to consummate
any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(b)    the Purchaser shall have performed in all material respects all the covenants and agreements required to be performed
by it under this Agreement prior to the Closing; and

(c)    the Purchaser shall have delivered to the Company and Representative a certificate signed by an officer of the Purchaser
in  the form of Exhibit G,  dated  as  of  the  Closing  Date,  certifying  that  the  conditions  specified  in Sections 3.02(a) and 3.02(b) have been
satisfied.

3.03     Conditions  to  All  Parties'  Obligations.  The  obligation  of  each  of  the  Company,  the  Sellers,  the  Representative  and  the
Purchaser  to  consummate  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  is  subject  to  the  satisfaction  of  the  following  conditions  as  of
immediately prior to the Closing:

(a)     no  final,  binding  and  non-appealable  injunction,  order,  judgment,  decision,  decree  or  ruling  shall  have  been  issued,
promulgated, enacted or enforced by any Governmental Body after the date hereof enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the performance of this
Agreement or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby; and

(b)    this Agreement shall not have been terminated in accordance with Section 9.01.

3.04    Frustration of Closing Conditions. No party hereto may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in Section 3.01, 3.02 or
3.03, as the case may be, if such failure was caused by such party's failure to comply with any provision of this Agreement.

Article IV 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS

Each Seller, with respect to such Seller only and severally (and not jointly and severally), represents and warrants to the Purchaser
that the statements in this Article IV are true and correct, except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules.
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4.01    Authority, Validity and Effect. Such Seller has all requisite power and authority or legal capacity, to the extent applicable to
such Seller, to enter into and perform such Seller's obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which such Seller is a
party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby,  and this  Agreement  and each of  the Ancillary Documents,  as
applicable,  has  been  duly  executed  and  delivered  by  such  Seller  pursuant  to  all  necessary  corporate  (or  comparable)  authorization,  to  the
extent applicable to such Seller, and is the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Seller, enforceable against such Seller in accordance
with its terms, except as limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors'
rights or to general principles of equity.

4.02    Title to Units. Such Seller legally and beneficially owns the Common Units set forth on the Capitalization Schedule as being
owned by such Seller free and clear of any and all Liens, other than Liens under securities Laws and, at the Closing, such Seller shall deliver
to the Purchaser good and valid title to the Common Units owned by such Seller as set forth on the Capitalization Schedule, free and clear of
all Liens other than Liens and transfer restrictions arising under applicable securities Laws. Except for (a) such Seller's Pro Rata Share of the
Closing Cash Proceeds (whether in respect of such Seller's Common Units, Options or Phantom Units), (b) any cash payment or release of
funds from escrow to such Seller pursuant to Section 2.04, and (c) as set forth on the Capitalization Schedule, such Seller is not entitled to
any payments or other consideration with respect to any Units or other equity securities of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

4.03    No Violation. Such Seller is not subject to or obligated under (a) its governing documents, (b) any applicable Law, (c) any
Contract,  franchise  or  permit,  or  (d)  any  Order,  which  would  be  breached,  violated  or  conflict  with  such  Seller's  execution,  delivery  or
performance of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which such Seller is a party or result in any Lien on any of the Units, other
than, in the case of clauses (b), (c) and (d), such breaches, violations or conflicts that would not prevent, materially delay or materially impair
the ability of such Seller to execute and deliver this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which such Seller is a party or consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

4.04    Governmental Bodies; Consents. Except for the requirements of the HSR Act that have been satisfied prior to the date hereof,
such Seller is not required to submit any notice, report or other filing with any Governmental Body in connection with the execution, delivery
or performance of this  Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  No consent,  approval or  authorization of
any Governmental Body or any other party or Person is required to be obtained by such Seller in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

4.05    Litigation. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of such Seller, threatened against or affecting such Seller at
law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Body, which would adversely affect such Seller's performance under this Agreement or
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

4.06     Brokerage.  There  are  no  claims  for  brokerage  commissions,  finders'  fees  or  similar  compensation  in  connection  with  the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of such Seller.
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Article V 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company represents and warrants to the Purchaser that the statements in this Article V are true and correct, except as set forth in
the Disclosure Schedules.

5.01    Organization and Power. The Company is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the applicable Laws of the
State  of  Delaware,  and  the  Company  has  all  requisite  limited  liability  company  power  and  authority  to  own,  operate,  use  or  lease  its
properties  and  to  carry  on  its  businesses  as  now  conducted.  The  Company  is  qualified  to  do  business  and  is  in  good  standing  (or  the
equivalent)  in  every  jurisdiction  in  which  its  ownership  or  leasing  of  property  or  the  conduct  of  business  as  now  conducted  requires  the
Company to qualify,  except  where the failure  to be so qualified would not,  whether  individually  or  in the aggregate,  constitute  a  Material
Adverse Change.

5.02    Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on the Subsidiary Schedule, the Company does not own or hold the right to acquire any stock,
partnership interest or joint venture interest or other equity interest in any other Person. Except as set forth on the Subsidiary Schedule, the
Company owns, directly or indirectly, of record and beneficially, all shares, capital stock and other equity interests in each of its Subsidiaries,
free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens and Liens arising under applicable securities Laws), and all such shares, capital stock
and other equity interests are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable (to the extent such concept is applicable to such equity interests).
Each of the Subsidiaries of the Company is duly incorporated, formed or organized, validly existing and in good standing (or its equivalent, if
applicable)  under  the  applicable  Laws  of  its  jurisdiction  of  incorporation,  formation  or  organization,  and  each  of  the  Subsidiaries  of  the
Company  has  all  requisite  corporate  (or  comparable)  power  and  authority  to  own,  operate,  use  or  lease  its  properties  and  to  carry  on  its
businesses as now conducted. Each of the Subsidiaries of the Company is qualified to do business and is in good standing (or its equivalent)
in every jurisdiction in which its ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business as now conducted requires it to qualify, except
where the failure to be so qualified would not constitute a Material Adverse Change.

5.03    Authorization; No Breach.

(a)    The Company has full limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each
Ancillary  Document  to  be  executed  by the  Company in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  by this  Agreement  (the  "Company
Documents"), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Company Documents by the Company and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by all requisite limited liability company
action, and no other limited liability company Proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this
Agreement. This Agreement has been, and each of the Company Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly authorized,
executed  and  delivered  by  the  Company,  and  assuming  that  this  Agreement  and  each  of  the  Company  Documents  is  a  valid  and  binding
obligation of the other parties hereto and thereto,  this Agreement constitutes,  and each of the Company Documents when so executed and
delivered will  constitute,  a  legal,  valid and binding obligation of  the Company,  enforceable against  the Company in accordance with their
respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights or to
general  principles  of  equity.  The  Company  has  delivered  to  Purchaser  true,  correct  and  complete  copies  of  the  certificates  of  formation,
incorporation or articles of association or bylaws or other organizational
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documents of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, in each case as amended and in effect on the date hereof.

(b)    Except for the requirements of the HSR Act that  have been satisfied prior to the date hereof,  and as set  forth on the
Authorization Schedule, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Company Documents by the Company
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, or compliance by the Company or its Subsidiaries with any of
the  provisions  hereof  or  thereof,  do  not  and  will  not  conflict  with,  result  in  any  material  breach  of,  require  any notice  under,  constitute  a
material default under (with or without notice or lapse of time or both), result in a material violation of, result in the creation of any Lien upon
any  material  properties  or  assets  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  under,  give  rise  to  any  right  of  termination,  cancellation  or
acceleration  of  any  material  obligation  or  to  loss  of  a  material  benefit  under,  or  give  rise  to  any  obligation  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries to make any material payment under, or require any material action by or in respect of, or material filing with, any Governmental
Body under, any provision of (i) any of the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' articles of incorporation, by-laws, limited liability company
agreement or other organizational documents, (ii) any contract required to be set forth on the Contracts Schedule, (iii) any outstanding Order
applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any
applicable Law to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is subject.

5.04    Capitalization.

(a)     As  of  the  date  hereof,  the  Units  consist  of  1,072,121.95  Common Units,  which  are  held  of  record  by  the  Sellers  as
indicated on the Capitalization Schedule. None of the Units are in certificated form. The Sellers own all of the issued and outstanding Units.
All of the Units have been validly issued in compliance with all applicable state and federal securities laws, and were not issued in violation
of any purchase or call option, right of first refusal, subscription right, preemptive right or any similar right.

(b)     66,000 Common Units  are  issuable  upon exercise  of  outstanding Options  and are  held  of  record as  indicated on the
Optionholders Schedule. The Optionholders Schedule includes, with respect to each Option that was outstanding prior to the Closing: (i) the
name of the holder of such Option; (ii) the total number of Common Units that are subject to such Option and the number of Common Units
with respect to which such Option is immediately exercisable; (iii) the date on which such Option was granted and the term of such Option;
(iv)  the  vesting  schedule  for  such  Option  (including  any  vesting  acceleration  triggers);  and  (v)  the  exercise  price  per  Common  Unit
purchasable under such Option. Effective as of the Closing, all outstanding Options are canceled and no longer of any force or effect.

(c)    Except as set forth on the Optionholders Schedule, there are no outstanding options, warrants,  rights to subscribe to,
purchase  rights,  calls,  equity  appreciate  rights,  phantom equity  rights,  profits  interests,  scrip  or  commitments  of  any  character  whatsoever
(whether or not currently exercisable) relating to, or securities or rights convertible into, or exchangeable for,  any shares,  shares of capital
stock, securities or any other equity interests containing any equity features of the Company, or Contracts, commitments, understandings or
arrangements, by which the Company is or may become bound to issue additional shares, shares of its capital stock or other equity interests
or options,  warrants,  rights to subscribe to,  purchase rights,  calls,  equity appreciate rights,  phantom equity rights,  profits interests,  scrip or
commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities or rights convertible into, any shares, shares of capital stock, securities or
any other equity interests containing any equity features of the Company.

(d)     Except  as  set  forth  on  the Capitalization  Schedule,  there  are  no  securities  or  rights  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries, or Contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which
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the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire
any shares, shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on the Capitalization
Schedule, none of the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other similar obligations, the holders
of  which  have  the  right  to  vote  (or  which  are  convertible  into  or  exercisable  for  equity  securities  having  the  right  to  vote)  with  the
equityholders of any of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on any matter. Except as set forth on the Capitalization Schedule, there are no
voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting of
the shares, shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(e)    None of the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have taken any action or entered into any transaction that has resulted
in, or that will or would reasonable be expected to result in, any material Liability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any current,
former or alleged equityholder of the Company in such Person's capacity (or alleged capacity) as an equityholder of the Company.

5.05    Financial Statements.

(a)    Attached to the Financial Statements Schedule are: (a) the Intermediate's unaudited consolidated balance sheets as of
January  31,  2021  (the  "Latest  Balance  Sheet")  and  the  related  statement  of  income  for  the  twelve  (12)-month  period  then  ended,  and
(b) Intermediate's audited consolidated balance sheet and statement of income and cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020
and the period from December 11, 2018 through December 31, 2019 (the "Audited Financial Statements" and, collectively with the Latest
Balance Sheet, the "Financial Statements"). The Financial Statements (including in all cases the notes thereto, if any) have been based upon
the  information  contained  in  the  Company's  and  its  Subsidiaries'  books  and  records,  have  been  prepared  in  conformity  with  GAAP
consistently applied by the Intermediate without modification of the accounting principles used in preparation thereof throughout the periods
presented (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), and present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the times and for the periods referred to therein,  subject in the case of the unaudited
financial  statements  to  (i)  the  absence  of  footnote  disclosures  and  other  presentation  items,  (ii)  changes  resulting  from  normal  year-end
adjustments, and (iii) such other exceptions to GAAP as are set forth on the Financial Statement Schedule.

(b)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have financial reporting systems and maintain adequate internal control procedures
over  financial  reporting  that  provide  reasonable  assurance  that  (i)  transactions  are  executed  in  all  material  respects  with  the  appropriate
authorization of the management of the Company, (ii) transactions are recorded accurately, promptly and as reasonably necessary to permit
preparation  of  the  Financial  Statements  and  to  maintain  accountability  for  the  Company's  and  its  Subsidiaries'  consolidated  assets  and
liabilities,  and  (iii)  accounts,  notes  and  other  receivables  are  recorded  accurately  and  properly  and  adequate  procedures  in  light  of  the
Company's and its Subsidiaries' size, operations and industry are implemented to effect the collection thereof on a current and timely basis.

5.06    Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth on the Undisclosed Liabilities Schedule, as of immediately prior to the
Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries will not have any liabilities, other than liabilities (a) that are taken into account in calculating the
Closing Cash Proceeds as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.04, (b) set forth or reflected on the Latest Balance Sheet or disclosed in the
notes thereof or in the notes to the other Financial Statements, (c) which have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business after the date of the
Latest Balance Sheet (none of which is a liability for breach of contract, tort, violation of Law, infringement or misappropriation), (d) arising
under executory Contracts described on the Contracts Schedule or entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and are not required to be
disclosed on the Contracts Schedule
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pursuant to Section 5.10 (none of which is a liability for breach thereof), (e) incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, or (f) for which the Purchaser, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to be responsible pursuant to this Agreement or
any of the other Purchaser Documents or Company Documents, or (g) which are not, and would not reasonably be expected to be, materially
adverse to the Company or its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

5.07    No Material Adverse Change; Absence of Certain Developments.

(a)    Except as set forth on the Developments Schedule, since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet through the date hereof,
there has not been any Material Adverse Change.

(b)    Except as set forth on the Developments Schedule, since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet, there has not been any
destruction or Loss, whether or not covered by insurance, with respect to the property and assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
having a replacement cost of more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for any single damage, destruction or Loss or one hundred thousand
dollars ($100,000) for all such destruction or Losses.

(c)    Except as set forth on the Developments Schedule, and except in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement,  since  the  date  of  the  Latest  Balance  Sheet  through  the  date  hereof,  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  have  conducted  their
business  and  operations  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business  in  all  material  respects.  Without  limiting  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  and
except as set forth on the Developments Schedule and except in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, since the
date of the Latest Balance Sheet through the date hereof, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has:

(i)     (A)  amended  or  proposed  to  amend  the  respective  certificates  of  formation,  incorporation  or  articles  of
association or bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in any manner or (B) split,
combined or reclassified the shares, capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(ii)     issued,  sold,  pledged,  transferred,  or  disposed  of,  or  agreed  to  issue,  sell  pledge,  transfer  or  dispose  of,  any
shares, shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or issued any shares, shares
of  capital  stock  or  equity  interests  of  any  class  or  issue  or  become  a  party  to  any  subscriptions,  warrants,  rights,  options,
convertible securities or other agreements or commitments of any character relating to the issued or unissued shares, capital
stock  or  other  equity  interests  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  (other  than  this  Agreement  and  the  agreements
contemplated hereby), or grant any equity appreciation or similar rights;

(iii)    (A) redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired any outstanding shares, shares of capital stock or other equity
interests of the Company or any of its  Subsidiaries or declared or paid any non-cash dividend or made any other non-cash
distribution to any Person other than the Company or one (1) or more of its Subsidiaries; or (B) declared, set aside or made
any  payment  or  distribution  of  cash  or  other  property  to  any  of  its  equityholders  or  their  Affiliates  with  respect  to  such
equityholder's equity interest or otherwise, other than (x) to the Sun Consultant pursuant to the Consulting Agreement or (y)
as wages or other compensation or benefits paid to employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries in the Ordinary Course of
Business;
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(iv)    (A) granted to any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any material increase in compensation,
except (1) for pay increases, promotions, and bonuses made in the Ordinary Course of Business, (2) as may be required by
applicable  Law  or  the  terms  of  any  Plan,  or  (3)  in  connection  with  annual  renewals  of  any  welfare  plans;  (B)  materially
amended  or  established  any  Plan  (or  any  arrangement  that  would  constitute  a  Plan,  if  adopted),  except  (1)  to  the  extent
required by Law or the terms of any Plan or Contract or (2) as would not be material and would be in the Ordinary Course of
Business; (C) terminated the employment of any employee in the position of vice president or above, other than for cause; or
(D) implemented any employee layoffs in violation of the WARN Act;

(v)     sold,  leased,  transferred,  or  otherwise  disposed  of,  any  material  property  or  material  assets  owned  by  the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except for (A) the sale, lease, licensing, transfer or disposition of inventory or obsolete
machinery, equipment, or other assets in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) as to the Leased Real Property, the expiration
or  termination  of  any  Lease  pursuant  to  its  terms,  and  (C)  the  expiration  of  Intellectual  Property  in  accordance  with  its
statutory terms;

(vi)    except for amendments in the Ordinary Course of Business, amended or terminated (except for a termination
resulting from the expiration of a Contract in accordance with its terms) any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule;

(vii)    acquired any business or Person, by merger or consolidation, purchase of assets or equity interests, or by any
other manner, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions;

(viii)    except in accordance with the capital budget of the Company and its Subsidiaries, committed or authorized
any  commitment  to  make  any  capital  expenditures  in  excess  of  two  hundred  fifty  thousand  dollars  ($250,000)  in  the
aggregate, or failed to make material capital expenditures in accordance with such budget;

(ix)     made  any  material  change  in  any  method  of  accounting  or  auditing  practice,  including  any  working  capital
procedures or practices, other than changes required as a result of changes in GAAP or applicable Law;

(x)     made  any  loans,  advances  or  capital  contributions  to,  or  investments  in,  any  other  Person  other  than  loans,
advances or capital contributions by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (A) to any Subsidiary of the Company, or (B) to
any  employee  in  connection  with  travel,  entertainment  or  related  business  expenses  or  other  customary  out-of-pocket
expenses in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xi)     (A)  changed or  revoked any Tax  election,  (B)  made  any Tax election  other  than  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of
Business, (C) changed any annual Tax accounting period, (D) changed any method of Tax accounting principles, methods,
policies  or  practices,  (E)  entered  into  any  "closing  agreement"  as  described  in  Section  7121  of  the  Code  (or  any  similar
provision of Law) with any taxing authority relating to Taxes, (F) settled or compromised any claim or assessment in respect
of any material amount of Taxes or Liability, (G) consented to any extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to
any Tax claim, assessment or reassessment, (H) prepared or filed any amended Tax Return, (I) surrendered any claim for a
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Tax refund, or (J) incurred any liability for Taxes other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xii)    issued, created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed any Indebtedness;

(xiii)    released, assigned, compromised, settled or agreed to settle any material legal Proceeding or material dispute
with any customer; or

(xiv)    authorized or agreed to take any action described in this Section 5.07(b).

(d)     Since  February  28,  2021,  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  have  not  accelerated  the  collection  of,  or  discounted,
accounts receivable, or delayed the payment of accounts payable or accrued expenses, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.

5.08    Title to Properties.

(a)    The Company and its Subsidiaries own good and valid title to, or hold a valid leasehold interest in, all of the material
tangible personal property used by them in the conduct of their business, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens. Each such
item  of  material  tangible  personal  property  is  in  all  material  respects  in  operable  condition  and  repair,  subject  to  normal  wear  and  tear,
ongoing repairs or refurbishments in the Ordinary Course of Business and obsolescence in the Ordinary Course of Business.

(b)    The Leased Real Property Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all real property leased, subleased, licensed
or  otherwise  occupied  by  each  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  as  of  the  date  hereof  (the  "Leased  Real  Property")  and  includes  the
address and parties and a description of all material lease documents related to the Leased Real Properties. The Company has delivered or
made  available  to  the  Purchaser  a  true  and  complete  copy  of  the  underlying  lease,  together  with  copies  of  all  amendments,  extensions,
renewals, and guaranties executed in connection therewith (each, a "Lease"). Except as set forth on the Leased Real Property Schedule, with
respect to each of the Leases: (i) to the Knowledge of the Company, either the Company or one (1) of its Subsidiaries has a valid, binding and
enforceable leasehold interest in each parcel or tract of real property leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise occupied by it, except as limited
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights or to general principles of
equity; (ii) none of the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any existing defaults thereunder by the Company
or  its  Subsidiary  (as  applicable)  nor,  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  are  there  any  existing  defaults  by  the  lessor  thereof;  (iii)  the
Company's (or its Subsidiary's,  as applicable)  possession and quiet enjoyment of the Leased Real Property has not been disturbed; (iv) the
Company (or its Subsidiary, as applicable) has not assigned, sublet or granted any person the right to use, operate or occupy such Leased Real
Property; (v) to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred which (with notice, lapse of time or both) would constitute a material
breach or default thereunder by any of the Company or its Subsidiaries (as applicable) or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party
thereto;  (vi)  none of  the  Company nor  any of  its  Subsidiaries  has  received any written  notice  of  any pending or  threatened condemnation
proceedings in  connection with the Leased Real  Property;  and (vii)  none of  the Company nor  any of  its  Subsidiaries  has  entered into any
COVID-19 related amendments to any Leases that defer the payment of rents or performance of other obligations by the tenant thereunder.

(c)    The Owned Real Property Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all real property owned in fee by each of the
Company and its Subsidiaries (the "Owned Real Property"). With respect to each parcel of Owned Real Property: (i) either the Company or a
Subsidiary of the Company owns good and marketable title to such parcel of real property, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted
Liens; (ii) except as set forth on the Owned Real Property Schedule, there are no leases, subleases, licenses, concessions or other
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agreements  entered  into  by  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  granting  to  any  party  or  parties  the  right  of  use  or  occupancy  of  any
portion of such parcel of real property; (iii) there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal to purchase such parcel of real property,
any portion thereof or interest therein granted by the Company or any Subsidiary; (iv) none of the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has
received any written notice of any pending or threatened condemnation proceedings in connection with such parcel of real property; and (v)
the  use,  operation  and occupancy of  the  Owned Real  Property,  as  currently  used,  operated  and occupied,  and  the  conduct  of  the  business
thereon, as currently conducted, complies in all material respects with all deed restrictions related thereto.

(d)     The  Owned  Real  Property  and  Leased  Real  Property  constitute  all  of  the  real  property  used  and  operated  by  the
Company or  its  Subsidiaries  in  connection with  Ordinary  Course  of  Business  mining and mining related activities.  No other  Person has  a
right to use or occupy any of the Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property in a manner that would materially interfere with or impair the
conduct  of  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business  of  the  Company or  its  Subsidiaries  or  the  operation  of  the  Mines,  except  for  any  such rights
which constitute a Permitted Lien and except as permitted by applicable Law or as set forth in any lease for the Leased Real Property.

5.09    Tax Matters

. Except as set forth on the Taxes Schedule:

(a)    the Company and its Subsidiaries have timely filed all income and other material Tax Returns that are required to be
filed by them or with respect to them and have timely paid, or caused to be timely paid, all material amounts of Taxes due and owing by them
or with respect to them to the proper Governmental Body whether or not shown due on any Tax Return, and all such Tax Returns are true,
correct and complete in all material respects;

(b)     all  material  amounts  of  Taxes  which the  Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  is  obligated  to  withhold  from amounts
owing to any employee, creditor or third-party have been fully paid or properly accrued. The Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in
all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the payment and withholding of Taxes and have duly and timely withheld and paid
over to the appropriate Governmental Body all amounts required to be so withheld and paid under all applicable Laws;

(c)    the Company and its Subsidiaries have collected all material amounts of sales and use, value added, goods and services
and  other  similar  Taxes  required  to  be  collected,  and  have  remitted,  or  will  remit  on  a  timely  basis,  such  amounts  to  the  appropriate
Governmental Body, or have been furnished properly completed exemption certificates;

(d)     neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has  received  from  any  taxing  authority  any  notice  of  proposed
deficiency or adjustment of any amount of material amounts of Taxes that has not been either satisfied by payment, or withdrawn;

(e)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any agreement or arrangement with any Governmental
Body in connection with Taxes that requires the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take any action or to refrain from taking any action,
and  neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  is  a  party  to  any  agreement  with  any  taxing  authority  that  would  be  terminated  or
adversely affected as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(f)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) requested or consented to extend the time (A) within which to file
any Tax Return (other than extensions granted in Ordinary Course of
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Business), which Tax Return has since not been filed, or (B) in which any income or other material Tax may be assessed or collected by any
taxing  authority  of  any  Governmental  Body,  which  extension  is  still  in  effect,  or  (ii)  waived  any  statute  of  limitations  in  respect  of  any
income or other material amounts of Taxes, which waiver is currently in effect;

(g)    there are no ongoing or pending income or other material Tax audits, investigations or other actions or administrative or
judicial proceedings by any taxing authority of any Governmental Body against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(h)     neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  is  a  party  to  or  bound  by,  or  has  any  obligation  under  any  Tax
allocation, sharing, or indemnity agreement or similar Contract (excluding any Contract entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and
not primarily related to Taxes) or any other obligation to indemnify any other Person with respect to Taxes that will have an effect after the
Closing;

(i)    there are no Liens (other than Permitted Liens) with respect to Taxes on any of the assets of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries;

(j)    the Company and its Subsidiaries will not be required to include any item of income in taxable income for any taxable
period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing that was realized (or reflects economic income) prior to the Closing, including as a result
of any (i) change in accounting method or the use of an improper accounting method, in each case, on or prior to the Closing, (ii) closing
agreement or similar agreement entered into on or prior to the Closing, (iii) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described in the
Treasury Regulations under Code §1502 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law), (iv) installment sale
or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing, or (v) prepaid amount received or deferred revenue realized on or prior to the
Closing outside of the Ordinary Course of Business;

(k)     neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  (i)  is  subject  to  any  private  letter  ruling  of  the  IRS  or  comparable
rulings of any other Governmental Body, (ii) has had (or currently has) a permanent establishment in any country other than the country of its
organization, or has ever been (or currently is) subject to Tax in a jurisdiction outside the country of its organization, (iii) has granted to any
Person any power of attorney that is currently in force with respect to any Tax matter, (iv) has been a member of an affiliated, consolidated,
combined, unitary or similar Tax group (other than a group the common parent of which was the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), and (v)
has any Liability for any unpaid Taxes of any other Person pursuant to Treasury Regulations §1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of Law), as
a transferee or  successor,  by assumption,  or  by Contract  (excluding any Contract  entered into in the Ordinary Course of  Business and not
primarily related to Taxes), by operation of Law;

(l)    in the last two (2) years, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has distributed stock of another Person, or has
had its stock distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code §355 or
§361;

(m)     the  Company  is  taxed  as  a  corporation  under  Subchapter  C  of  the  Code  for  federal  and  applicable  state  and  local
income Tax purposes, and each of the Company's Subsidiaries is classified as a disregarded entity within the meaning of Treasury Regulation
Section 301.7701-2(a);

(n)    in the last three (3) years, no claim has been made by a Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries does not file a Tax Return such that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to taxation by, or required
to file such Tax Return in, that jurisdiction;
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(o)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been a party to any "reportable transaction," as defined in Code
§6707A(c)(1) and Treasury Regulations §1.6011-4(b);

(p)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) deferred the employer's share of any "applicable employment taxes"
under  §2302  of  the  CARES  Act,  (ii)  received  or  claimed  any  Tax  credits  under  §7001  through  §7005  of  the  Families  First  Coronavirus
Response Act or  §2301 of the CARES Act,  and (iii)  deferred any payroll  tax obligations (including those imposed by Code §3101(a)  and
§3201) (for example, by failure to timely withhold, deposit or remit such amounts in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Code
and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder) pursuant to or in connection with the Payroll Tax Executive Order; and

(q)    each Tax allocation agreement,  Tax indemnity agreement,  Tax sharing agreement or similar Contract (excluding any
Contract entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and not primarily related to Taxes) between the Company and its Subsidiaries, on
the one hand, and any other Person, on the other hand, has been terminated as of the day immediately preceding the Closing such that, on,
from and after the Closing, such agreements shall have no further effect for any taxable year or period and no additional payments shall be
required to be made pursuant to any such agreement for any Tax period.

For purposes of this Section 5.09, any reference to the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be deemed to include any Person that merged with
or was liquidated or converted into such Company or Subsidiary.

5.10    Contracts and Commitments

.

(a)    Except as set forth on the Contracts Schedule, as of the date hereof, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a
party to any:

(i)    collective bargaining agreement; 

(ii)    Contract for the employment of any officer, individual employee or other person on a full-time or consulting
basis providing for base compensation in excess of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) per annum;

(iii)    Contract relating to the incurrence, assumption or guarantee, whether directly or indirectly, of any Indebtedness
or  to  mortgaging,  pledging  or  otherwise  placing  a  Lien  (other  than  a  Permitted  Lien)  on  any  portion  of  the  assets  of  the
Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  including  indentures,  guarantees,  loan  or  credit  agreements,  sale  and  leaseback
agreements, purchase money obligations incurred in connection with the acquisition of property, pledge agreements, security
agreements, or conditional sale or title retention agreements;

(iv)     guaranty of any obligation for borrowed money or other material guaranty;

(v)    lease or agreement under which it is lessee of, or holds or operates any personal property owned by any other
party, for which the annual rental exceeds twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000);

(vi)    lease or agreement under which it is lessor of or permits any third-party to hold or operate any property, real or
personal, for which the annual rental exceeds twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000);
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(vii)     other  than  purchase  orders  entered  into  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business,  Contracts  or  group  of  related
Contracts with any supplier required to be listed on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule;

(viii)     other  than  purchase  orders  entered  into  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business,  Contract  or  group  of  related
Contracts with any customer required to be listed on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule;

(ix)     Contracts  which  purport  to  or  that  prohibit  the  Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  from freely  engaging  in
business (including any contract with a non-competition provision with respect to the company or any of its Subsidiaries or
any product produced or sold by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) anywhere in the world or any Contract containing
covenants of the Company not to solicit or hire any person with respect to employment;

(x)    Contract containing a minimum purchase requirement by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to purchase
during the twelve (12) month period immediately following December 31, 2020, in the aggregate, a minimum of one hundred
thousand dollars ($100,000) or more of goods or services on an annual basis;

(xi)    Contract containing a minimum supply commitment by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to supply during
the  twelve  (12)  month  period  immediately  following  December  31,  2020,  in  the  aggregate,  a  minimum  of  one  hundred
thousand dollars ($100,000) or more of goods or services on an annual basis;

(xii)    (A) Contracts providing for the grant of any license, right, permission, consent or non assertion relating to any
Intellectual Property by (y) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to a third party or (z) a third party to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries, and (B) Contracts affecting the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' ability to use or disclose any material
Intellectual  Property,  in  the  case  of  each  of  the  foregoing  clauses  (A)  and  (B),  other  than  (1)  licenses  for  commercially
available, off the shelf software used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (2) Contracts that arise as a matter of law by
implication as a result of sales of products and services by the Company or its Subsidiaries, or (3) Contracts entered into by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with its customers in the Ordinary Course of Business, under which the Company or
its Subsidiaries grants to a customer a non-exclusive license of Company Intellectual Property;

(xiii)    Contracts providing for the authorship, invention, creation, conception or other development of any material
Intellectual Property by (A) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any third party or (B) a third party for the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, in the case of (B), other than Contracts with employees whereby employees are obligated to assign all
intellectual property rights to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(xiv)    Contracts providing for the assignment or transfer of any ownership interest in material Intellectual Property
by (A) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to a third party or (B) a third party to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,
in the case of  (B) other  than Contracts  with Persons whereby such Persons are obligated to  assign all  intellectual  property
rights  to  the  Company or  one of  its  Subsidiaries,  and in  the  case  of  (A),  Contracts  entered into  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of
Business with customers;
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(xv)    Contract containing any future capital expenditure obligation(s) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in
excess of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000);

(xvi)    each partnership, strategic alliance or joint venture Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
is a party;

(xvii)    Contract with a "most favored nation" or similar provision;

(xviii)     Contracts  relating  to  the  acquisition  or  disposition  (whether  by  merger,  sale  of  units,  sale  of  all  (or
substantially  all)  assets  or  otherwise)  of  any  Person  or  line  of  business,  or  other  substantial  amount  of  assets  (other  than
inventory  and  raw  materials,  or  other  assets  acquired  or  disposed  of  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business),  or  the  future
acquisition or disposition (whether by merger, sale of units, sale of all (or substantially all) assets or otherwise) of any Person
or line of business, or other substantial amount of assets (other than inventory and raw materials, or other assets acquired or
disposed of in the Ordinary Course of Business);

(xix)    Contract that requires the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to indemnify any Person (excluding indemnities
contained in agreements for the purchase, sale or license of products or services entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business); and

(xx)    Contract under which the Company or its Subsidiaries has made advances or loans to any other Person.

(b)    As of the date hereof, each of the Contracts listed or required to be listed on the Contracts Schedule is in full force and
effect,  and  is  a  legal,  valid  and  binding  obligation  of  the  Company  or  a  Subsidiary  of  the  Company  which  is  party  thereto,  and,  to  the
Knowledge of the Company, of the other parties thereto enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms, in each case, subject
to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors'  rights or to general principles of
equity.  Except as set  forth on the Contracts Schedule,  as  of  the date hereof,  neither  the Company nor any Subsidiary of  the Company (as
applicable) is in material default under any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other party
to each of the Contracts listed on the Contracts Schedule is not in material default thereunder. Except as set forth on the Contracts Schedule,
as of the date hereof, no event has occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a material breach or
default  on the  part  of  the  Company,  or  any Subsidiary of  the  Company or,  to  the  Knowledge of  the  Company,  any other  party  under  any
Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule. To the Knowledge of the Company, as of the date hereof, (i) no party to any Contract listed on the
Contracts Schedule has exercised or given written notice that it will exercise any termination rights with respect thereto, and (ii) no party has
given written notice of any material dispute with respect to any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule. The Company has made available
to the Purchaser true and correct copies of each Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule, together with all amendments, modifications or
supplements thereto.

5.11    Intellectual Property.

(a)     The  Intellectual  Property  Schedule  sets  forth  a  list  of  all  (i)  registered  Trademarks  and  applications  to  register
Trademarks, (ii)  material unregistered and common law trademarks, trade dress and service marks, if  any; (iii)  issued patents and pending
patent  applications;  (iv)  registered copyrights and applications to register  copyrights;  (v)  registered Internet  domain names;  and (vi)  social
media accounts, in each case, that are owned by or registered to, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as of the date hereof (collectively, the
"Scheduled Company Intellectual Property").
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(b)    Except as set forth on the Intellectual Property Schedule:

(i)    the Company or one of its Subsidiaries has good and valid title to the Company Intellectual Property;

(ii)    the Company Intellectual Property is exclusively owned by or registered to the Company or its Subsidiaries free
and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens);

(iii)    the Company and its Subsidiaries are not currently licensing any Company Intellectual Property, other than (a)
licenses  that  arise  as  a  matter  of  law  by  implication  as  a  result  of  sales  of  products  and  services  by  the  Company  or  its
Subsidiaries, or (b) agreements under which the Company or its Subsidiaries grants to a customer a non-exclusive license of
Company Intellectual Property;

(iv)     the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  have  not  received  within  the  past  three  (3)  years  any  written  claims  or
demands  alleging  that  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has  infringed,  violated  or  misappropriated  the  Intellectual
Property of any other Person;

(v)     to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  (a)  the  Company  Intellectual  Property  and  the  current  operation  of  the
businesses  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  do  not  infringe,  misappropriate,  interfere  with,  or  violate  the  Intellectual
Property or proprietary rights of any Person, and (b) no proceeding with respect thereto is currently pending, has within the
past three (3) years been threatened or filed, or is currently being threatened, in writing by any Person against the Company or
its Subsidiaries;

(vi)     the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  have  not  received  within  the  past  three  (3)  years  any  written  notice
challenging the validity or enforceability of the Company Intellectual Property;

(vii)    the Company and its Subsidiaries have not received within the past three (3) years any notice, claim or other
communication, in writing, from any Person asserting any ownership interest in the Company Intellectual Property;

(viii)    to the Knowledge of the Company, no Person is currently asserting any ownership interest in the Company
Intellectual Property, or has asserted an ownership interest in the Company Intellectual Property within the past (3) years;

(ix)    to the Knowledge of the Company, no Person is engaging in any activity that infringes, interferes with, violates
or  misappropriates  any  Company  Intellectual  Property,  and  no  proceeding  with  respect  thereto  is  currently  pending  or  is
currently being threatened in writing against any Person by the Company or its Subsidiaries;

(x)    the Company and its Subsidiaries have no current or future obligation to pay sales-based royalties to any Person
for development, license, use, sale, distribution or modification of any Company Intellectual Property;

(xi)    the Company and its Subsidiaries take commercially reasonable measures to keep in full force and effect all
Company Intellectual Property;
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(xii)    no current or former employee, consultant or independent contractor of the Company or its Subsidiaries who is
or was involved in the conduct of the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries is, to the Knowledge of the Company, in
violation  of  any  term  or  covenant  of  any  Contract  with  the  Company  or  its  Subsidiaries  relating  to  invention  disclosure
(including  patent  disclosure),  invention  assignment,  or  non-disclosure  of  trade  secrets  or  proprietary  information  of  the
Company or its Subsidiaries;

(xiii)     the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  take  commercially  reasonable  steps  to  protect  and  preserve  the
confidentiality  of  all  material  confidential  or  non-public  information  included  in  Company  Intellectual  Property;  any
disclosure  of  such  information  constituting  a  trade  secret  by  the  Company  or  its  Subsidiaries  to  a  third  party  has  been
pursuant to the terms of a written Contract between the Company or its Subsidiaries and such third party; and the Company
has a policy that all employees and consultants of the Company or its Subsidiaries having access to such information execute
and deliver to the Company or its Subsidiaries an agreement regarding the protection of such information;

(xiv)    all personally identifiable information which has been collected, stored, maintained or otherwise used by the
Company and its Subsidiaries has, within the past three (3) years, been collected, stored, maintained and used in accordance
with the published privacy policies of the Company and its Subsidiaries and all applicable laws, in all material respects, and
no  proceedings  are  pending  or,  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  have  been  threatened  or  filed  or  are  currently  being
threatened, in writing against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to the collection or use of personally identifiable
information; and

(xv)     to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  the  computers,  servers,  workstations,  routers,  hubs,  switches,  circuits,
networks,  and  other  information  technology  equipment  (collectively,  "Company  IT  Assets")  owned  or  controlled  by  the
Company and its  Subsidiaries have not  materially malfunctioned or  materially failed since January 1,  2019.  The Company
and  its  Subsidiaries  have  taken  commercially  reasonable  steps  to  protect  the  confidentiality,  integrity  and  security  of  the
Company  IT  Assets  (and  all  information  and  transactions  stored  or  contained  therein  or  transmitted  thereby)  against  any
unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification or corruption. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person has gained
unauthorized  access  to  or  made  any  unauthorized  use  of  any  data  collected,  stored,  maintained  or  otherwise  used  by  the
Company and its Subsidiaries.

5.12    Litigation. Except as set forth on the Litigation Schedule, there are no Proceedings pending or, to the Company's Knowledge,
threatened, in either case, seeking (x) monetary damages in excess of $100,000, or (y) injunctive relief,  against the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries  (or,  to  the  Company's  Knowledge,  pending or  threatened against  any of  the officers,  directors,  managers  or  employees  of  the
Company with respect to their business activities on behalf of the Company) or to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is otherwise
a party,  at  law or in equity,  or before or by any Governmental  Body as of the date hereof.  Except as set  forth on the Litigation Schedule,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any outstanding Order or, to the Knowledge of the Company, investigation of
any Governmental Body as of the date hereof.

5.13    Governmental Consents.  Except  for  the requirements of  the HSR Act that  have been satisfied prior  to the date hereof,  and
except as set forth on the Governmental Consents Schedule, no authorization of any Governmental Body is required in connection with any
of the execution, delivery or performance of this
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Agreement or the other Company Documents by the Company or the consummation by the Company of any other transaction contemplated
hereby.

5.14    Employee Benefit Plans.

(a)     The  Employee  Benefits  Schedule lists  each  material  Plan.  For  purposes  of  this  Agreement,  "Plan"  means  any  (i)
nonqualified  deferred  compensation  or  retirement  plans,  (ii)  qualified  "defined  contribution  plans"  (as  such  term  is  defined  under
Section 3(34) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA), (iii) qualified "defined benefit plans" (as such term is defined under Section 3(35)
of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) (the plans described in the foregoing clauses (ii) and (iii) are collectively referred to herein as
the "Pension Plans"), (iv) bonus, incentive, stock purchase, stock option or similar plan (the "Incentive Plans"); or (v) any "welfare plans" (as
such term is defined under Section 3(1) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) (the "Welfare Plans"), in each case, that are sponsored
or  maintained by the  Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  or  to  which the  Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  has  any Liability;  provided,
however,  that  the  term  "Plan"  shall  not  include  any  governmental  or  statutory  benefit  plans  and  plans,  programs,  policies,  or  agreements
required to be maintained by applicable Law or are maintained by any Governmental Body. Each Pension Plan which is intended to meet the
requirements of a "qualified plan" under Section 401(a) of the Code, has either received a favorable determination letter or opinion letter from
the Internal Revenue Service that such Pension Plan is so qualified or has requested such a favorable determination letter within the remedial
amendment  period  of  Section  401(b)  of  the  Code  and  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  there  are  no  facts  or  circumstances  that  would
reasonably  be  expected  to  jeopardize  the  qualification  of  such  Pension  Plan.  The  Plans  comply  in  form  and  in  operation  in  all  material
respects with their terms and the requirements of the Code and ERISA and other applicable Law (including in all material respects with the
related Affordable Care Act requirements under Sections 6055 and 6056 of the Code).

(b)    Except as set forth on the Employee Benefits Schedule, with respect to the Plans, except as would not result in material
liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (i) all required benefits, premiums and contributions have been timely made or properly
accrued,  (ii)  there  are  no actions,  suits  or  claims pending or,  to  the  Knowledge of  the  Company,  threatened,  other  than routine  claims for
benefits,  (iii)  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  there  have  been  no  "prohibited  transactions"  (as  that  term  is  defined  in  Section  406  of
ERISA or  Section 4975 of  the  Code),  (iv)  all  material  reports,  returns  and similar  documents  required  to  be  filed  with  any Governmental
Body  or  distributed  to  any  Plan  participant  have  been  timely  filed  or  distributed;  and  (v)  the  Plans,  in  both  form  and  operation,  are  in
compliance  with  all  applicable  Law and  with  the  terms  and  provisions  of  each  such  Plan's  plan  document  and  all  related  documents  and
policies, including, the Code, ERISA and, as applicable, the Affordable Care Act.

(c)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, has any of their respective
directors, officers or employees or any other "fiduciary," as such term is defined in Section 3 of ERISA, committed any material breach of
fiduciary  responsibility  imposed  by  ERISA or  any  other  applicable  Law with  respect  to  the  Plans  which  would  subject  the  Company,  its
Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers or employees to any material liability under ERISA or any applicable Law.

(d)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any material liability for any Tax or civil penalty imposed
by Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502 of ERISA which has not been satisfied in full.

(e)     Except  as  set  forth  on  the Employee  Benefits  Schedule,  no  "pension  plan"  (within  the  meaning  of  Section  3(2)  of
ERISA) maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any material Liability,
including on account of an ERISA Affiliate,
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which  is  subject  to  Section  302  of  ERISA or  Section  412  of  the  Code  has  incurred  any  "accumulated  funding  deficiency"  (as  defined  in
Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code), whether or not waived.

(f)    Except as set forth on the Employee Benefits Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has at any time
within  the  six  year  period preceding the  date  of  this  Agreement  sponsored,  contributed  to,  had an  obligation to  contribute  to  or  otherwise
participated in, or has any material Liability, including on account of an ERISA Affiliate with respect to, any plan that is subject to Title IV of
ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, including any "multiemployer plan" (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA).

(g)     Except  as  set  forth  on  the Employee  Benefits  Schedule,  none  of  the  Welfare  Plans  obligates  the  Company  or  its
Subsidiaries to provide a current or former employee (or any dependent thereof) any life insurance or medical or health benefits after his or
her termination of employment with the Company or its Subsidiaries, other than as required under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA,
Section 4980B of the Code or any similar state Law.

(h)    There are no pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened claims (other than routine claims for benefits) under,
related to or arising out of any of the Plans by or on behalf any Governmental Body, and no Plan has, within three years prior to the date
hereof,  been  the  subject  of  an  examination  or  audit  by  a  Governmental  Body.  None  of  the  Company,  its  Subsidiaries,  any  predecessors
thereto, or any of the Plans has received notice from either the DL or the IRS related to the untimely filing or failure to file one or more Form
5500 annual reports on behalf of any Plan.

(i)    With respect to any Plan, to the Company's knowledge, no event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that has
resulted in or would subject the Company to a tax under Section 4971 of the Code or the assets of the Company to a lien under Section 430(k)
of the Code.

(j)     No  employee  of  the  Company  is  on  a  leave  of  absence  for  short-term  disability,  long-term  disability  or  a  leave  of
absence under the Family Medical Leave Act of 1994, as amended.

(k)    Except as set forth on the Employee Benefits Schedule, neither the execution nor the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement will: (i) result in the payment to any employee, director or consultant of the Company of any money or other
property; (ii) accelerate the vesting of or provide any additional rights or benefits (including funding of compensation or benefits through a
trust or otherwise) to any employee, director or consultant of the Company, except as a result of any partial plan termination resulting from
this  Agreement;  or  (iii)  limit  or  restrict  the ability of  Purchaser  or  its  Affiliates to merge,  amend or terminate any Plan,  in each case,  as  a
result of the execution of this Agreement.

(l)    Except as set forth on the Employee Benefits Schedule, neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code.

(m)    Except as set forth on the Employee Benefits Schedule, each Plan that constitutes a nonqualified deferred compensation
within  the  meaning  of  and  subject  to  Section  409A  of  the  Code  complies,  and  at  all  times  after  December  31,  2008  has  complied  in  all
material respects, both in form and operation, with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the final regulations thereunder.

5.15    Insurance. The Insurance Schedule sets forth each insurance policy maintained by the Company or its Subsidiaries as of the
date hereof on their properties, assets, products, business or personnel (the "Insurance Policies"). All Insurance Policies are for such amounts
as are sufficient for all requirements of Law and all Contracts to which the Company and its Subsidiaries are party or bound. All Insurance
Policies are
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currently in full force and effect, and all premiums due and payable thereon have been paid in full when due. As of the date hereof, neither
the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has  received  any  notice  from the  insurer  with  respect  to  the  cancellation  or  non-renewal  of  any
Insurance Policy or threatening any such cancellation or non-renewal. Except as set forth on the Insurance Schedule, all Insurance Policies
will remain in full force and effect immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

5.16    Environmental Matters.

(a)    Except as set forth on the Environmental Matters Schedule:

(i)    The Company and its Subsidiaries are and for the past three (3) years have been in material compliance with all
Environmental Laws.

(ii)     Neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has  received  any  unresolved  written  notice  from  any
Governmental  Body alleging it  is  in  material  violation of  or  has  a  material  liability  or  material  investigatory,  corrective or
remedial obligation under Environmental Laws.

(iii)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any current or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened claim,  order,  directive or  complaint  alleging material  noncompliance with,  or  asserting a  material  investigatory,
corrective or remedial obligation or material liability under, Environmental Laws.

(iv)    The Company and its Subsidiaries hold and are in material compliance with all material Permits required under
Environmental  Laws for  their  current  operations  at  and  occupancy of  the  Owned Real  Property  and  Leased  Real  Property
(each  an  "Environmental  Permit"),  and  there  is  no  lawsuit,  claim,  action,  audit,  investigation,  arbitration  or  similar  legal
proceeding  pending,  or  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company  threatened,  to  revoke,  terminate,  suspend,  cancel  or  materially
modify any such Environmental Permit.

(v)    No event has occurred that (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) would constitute a default under, or
violation of, in any material respect, any Environmental Permit.

(vi)     None  of  the  Environmental  Permits  will  be  materially  impaired  or  materially  adversely  affected  by  the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(vii)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor any predecessor thereof or any other Person for whom
the  Company  or  its  Subsidiaries  may  be  held  responsible  under  any  Environmental  Law,  has  treated,  stored,  disposed  of,
arranged for or permitted the disposal of, transported, handled, released or exposed any person to any Hazardous Substance,
in  each  case,  as  has  given  or  would  reasonably  be  expected  give  rise  to  material  liabilities  or  obligations  under  any
Environmental Laws.

(viii)     There is not currently, nor has there been since January 1,  2018, any leaking underground storage tanks in
which Hazardous Substances are being or have been treated, stored or disposed of on any Owned Real Property or Leased
Real Property and for which the Company or its Subsidiaries would be required to perform remedial or corrective action in
order to comply with Environmental Laws.
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(ix)    All mining and mining-related processing, storage, transportation, production or other mining facilities located
in or on the Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property, or lands pooled or unitized therewith, that have been abandoned
by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their predecessors in interest for which the Company or such Subsidiary
may have  continuing  responsibility,  have  been  abandoned  in  accordance  in  all  material  respects  with  any  lease  provisions
from the land owner and in material  compliance with all  applicable Environmental  Laws and all  applicable Environmental
Permits.  The  Company  or  its  Subsidiary,  as  applicable,  has  performed  in  all  material  respects  any  Abandonment  and
Reclamation Obligations currently required to be performed by it.

(x)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has contractually assumed or provided an indemnity for any
material liabilities or obligations arising under Environmental Law (including Abandonment and Reclamation Obligations) of
a third party.

(xi)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have made available to the Purchaser (i) copies of all material environmental
reports and audits relating to environmental matters pertaining to the Leased Real Property and the Owned Real Property, and
to  any real  property  formerly  owned,  leased,  or  operated  by  the  Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries,  and  (ii)  copies  of  all
material  Environmental  Permits,  in the case of each of the foregoing clauses (i)  and (ii),  that  are within the Companies'  or
their Subsidiaries' possession or control.

5.17     Affiliated  Transactions.  Except  for  transactions  between  or  among  the  Company  or  any  of  the  Company's  Subsidiaries,
employment relationships, the provision of compensation and benefits to employees and powers of attorney and similar grants of authority
made in the Ordinary Course of Business, and except as set forth on the Affiliated Transactions Schedule, no officer, director, manager or
Affiliate of the Company or its Subsidiaries (a) currently has any direct or indirect interest of any kind, controls, or is a director, manager,
officer,  employee of,  consultant to,  lender to or borrower from any Person that is  a customer, supplier,  competitor,  lender or debtor of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) currently has any direct or indirect interest in any material property or asset that is owned or used by
the Company in the conduct of its business (except, as applicable, an indirect interest as an equityholder of the Company) (c) is a party to any
Contract with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (d) owes any amount to the Company (nor does the Company owe any amount to, or
has the Company committed to make any loan or extend or guarantee credit to or for the benefit of such Person) or (e) has any claim or cause
of action against the Company.

5.18    Brokerage. Except as set forth on the Brokerage Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have incurred or
are  liable  for  brokerage  commissions,  finders'  fees  or  similar  compensation  in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this
Agreement based on any arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

5.19    Permits; Compliance with Laws.

(a)    The Permits Schedule contains a complete list,  as of the date of this Agreement, of all  material Permits issued to the
Company or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  which are  required for  the operation of  the business  of  the Company and its  Subsidiaries  as  presently
conducted.  Except  as  set  forth  on  the Permits Schedule,  as  of  the  date  hereof,  each  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  holds  and  is  in
compliance, in all  material respects,  with all  material Permits which are required for the operation of the business of the Company and its
Subsidiaries as presently conducted and all such Permits are in full force and effect in all material respects. Neither the Company nor any of
its Subsidiaries have received written notice of any Proceedings pending or,  to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, relating to the
suspension, revocation or
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modification  of  any  material  Permit  which  is  required  for  the  operation  of  the  business  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  as  presently
conducted. The Company is not in material default or violation and no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time or both,
would constitute a default or violation, in any material respect, of any term condition or provision of any material Permit which is required
for the operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted, and to the Company's Knowledge, there are no
facts or circumstances which could form the basis for any such default  or violation. None of the material Permits that are required for the
operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted will be materially impaired or in any way materially and
adversely affected by the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b)    Except as set forth on the Compliance with Laws Schedule, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries are, and during the past
three (3) years have been, in compliance, in all material respects, with all Laws applicable to their respective businesses, operations and assets
as  currently  operated;  and  (ii)  neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has,  during  the  past  three  (3)  years,  received  any  written
demand or notice (A) of any Proceeding against it alleging any material failure to comply with any applicable Law, (B) regarding a pending
investigation  or  review  by  any  Governmental  Body  or  (C)  threatening  to  revoke,  suspend,  or  modify  any  Permit  owned  or  held  by  the
Company.

5.20    International Trade Compliance. Except as set forth on the International Trade Compliance Schedule, the Company and its
Subsidiaries  are,  and  during  the  past  three  (3)  years  have  been,  in  compliance,  in  all  material  respects,  with  the  Export  Administration
Regulations,  the  International  Traffic  in  Arms  Regulations,  the  statutes,  regulations,  and  Executive  Orders  administered  by  the  U.S.
Department of the Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and the U.S. import laws administered by
U.S. Customs and Border Protection.

5.21    Employees. Since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet, there has not been any material change in the compensation of any
employee of the Company (except for compensation increases and decreases in the Ordinary Course of Business). Since the date of the Latest
Balance  Sheet,  neither  the  Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  has  taken  any  action  which  would  constitute  a  "plant  closing"  or  "mass
layoff" within the meaning of WARN or issued any notification of a plant closing or mass layoff required by WARN. Except as set forth on
the Contracts Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement with any
labor organization. Except as set forth on the Employees Schedule: (i) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are and within the past three
(3) years have been no union organizing activities, representation election petition or application for certification involving employees of the
Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries;  (ii)  there  are  no  pending  or,  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  overtly  threatened  strikes,  work
stoppages,  walkouts,  lockouts  or  similar  material  labor  disputes,  and  no  such  disputes  have  occurred  within  the  past  three  (3)  years;  and
(iii) within the past six (6) months, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has committed an unfair labor practice, and there are no
pending  or,  to  the  Knowledge  of  the  Company,  threatened  unfair  labor  practice  charges  or  complaints  against  the  Company  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries  before  the  National  Labor  Relations  Board  or  other  Governmental  Body.  Within  the  past  three  (3)  years,  there  have  been  no
material labor grievance or material labor arbitration demands or proceedings and there are no current material labor grievances or material
labor arbitrations pending or threatened in writing against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

5.22    Customers and Suppliers. The Customers and Suppliers Schedule sets forth (a) a list of the top twenty (20) customers of the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis by sales revenue to such customers, and (b) a list of the top twenty (20) suppliers of the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis by dollar value of net purchases from such suppliers, in each case, for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Except as set forth on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule, since December 31,
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2020, no customer listed on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule has terminated its relationship with the Company or materially decreased
the  rate  of,  or  materially  changed  the  payment  or  price  terms  with  respect  to,  buying  products  from the  Company.  As  of  the  date  hereof,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written, or to the Knowledge of the Company, oral, indication from any of
the customers listed on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule to the effect that any such customer will stop, materially decrease the rate of,
or materially change the payment or price terms with respect to, buying products from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the
Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  is  involved  in  any  dispute  with  any  customer  listed  on  the Customers  and  Suppliers  Schedule that,
individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely impact the business of the Company as currently
conducted. Except as set forth on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule, since December 31, 2020 no supplier listed on the Customers and
Suppliers Schedule has terminated its relationship with the Company or materially decreased the rate of, or materially changed the payment
or price terms with respect to, supplying products or services to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. As of the date hereof, neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written, or to the Knowledge of the Company, oral, indication from any of the suppliers
listed on the Customers and Suppliers Schedule to the effect that any such supplier will stop, materially decrease the rate of, or materially
change  the  payment  or  price  terms with  respect  to,  supplying  products  or  services  to  the  Company or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries.  Neither  the
Company  nor  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  is  involved  in  any  dispute  with  any  supplier  listed  on  the  Customers  and  Suppliers  Schedule  that,
individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  would  reasonably  be  expected  to  materially  and  adversely  impact  the  business  of  the  Company  and  its
Subsidiaries, as currently conducted, taken as a whole.

5.23    Bank Accounts; Powers of Attorney. The Bank Accounts Schedule provides the following information with respect to each
account maintained by or for the benefit of the Company and its Subsidiaries, as of the date hereof, at any bank or other financial institution
as of the date hereof: (a) the name of the bank or other financial institution at which such account is maintained; (b) the account number; (c)
the type of account; and (d) the names of all Persons who are authorized to sign checks or other documents with respect to such accounts.
Except  as  set  forth  on  the Bank Accounts  Schedule,  no  Person  holds  a  power  of  attorney  to  act  on  behalf  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries.

5.24    Reserves.

(a)    All Mine operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries are conducted within the perimeter boundaries of the applicable
Mine or on Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property and no operations encroach on the lands of any third party for which the Company
or its Subsidiaries do not have the right of ingress or egress. The mining plans and reserve estimates of the Company and its Subsidiaries do
not  require  and  are  not  conditioned  on  the  acquisition  of  additional  mining  rights  outside  of  the  Owned  Real  Property  or  Leased  Real
Property.

(b)    Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries have provided to Purchaser true, correct, and complete copies of all material
final  reserve and resource estimates,  reserve and resource reports  and engineering studies  in  its  possession and control  with respect  to  the
Mines. Such reserve reports provided to Purchaser were prepared in compliance with industry standards and practices in the preparation of
mineral reserve reports, and such reports represent a good faith estimate of the mineral reserves held by the Company or such Subsidiary, as
applicable, as of the date thereof.

(c)    Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries have all surface and access rights, including as applicable fee simple estates,
leases, easements, rights of way and permits, or licenses from landowners or Governmental Bodies, permitting the use of land by each of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, and other interests that are required for the current state of exploiting the development potential of the Mines,
and no third
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party or group holds any such rights that would be required to conduct mineral exploration, drilling activities, and production on any of the
Mines.

(d)    To the Knowledge of the Company, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries have made available to the Purchaser all
material written and other material documentary (including plats and maps, surveys and other written data) information and data pertaining to
the Mines in its possession and control, including mining plans and plans of operation; reclamation plans; life of mine studies and reports;
notices of intent; including those related to exploration drilling, pad and road construction; mining exploration; land and survey records; the
existence  of  minerals  within  the  Owned  Real  Property  and  Leased  Real  Property,  including  relevant  reserve  and  resource  estimates;
metallurgical testwork and sampling data; drill data and assay results; all reclamation and bond release information; and financial assurances
for reclamation.

(e)    The estimated proven and probable mineral reserves and estimated indicated, measured and inferred mineral resources
publicly  disclosed  by  each  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries,  if  any,  have  been  prepared  and  disclosed  in  all  material  respects  in
accordance  with  accepted  mining,  engineering,  geoscience  and  other  approved  industry  practices,  and  all  applicable  Laws.  Outside  of
production in the Ordinary Course of Business, there has been no material reduction in the aggregate amount of estimated mineral reserves or
estimated mineral resources of the Company or its Subsidiaries from the amounts so disclosed.  To the Knowledge of the Company, there are
no facts or conditions which would reasonably be expected to render the conclusions of resources and reserves contained in the most current
reserve reports materially inaccurate.

(f)    The Reserves Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the material water rights, water leases and water
supply agreements, ditch rights or other interests in water conveyance rights owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries that are used
and useful in the operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including the owner and lessee with respect to each such right
or interest (the "Water Rights").  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries have valid title or leaseholder interest  or otherwise holds valid
permits  for  the  Water  Rights  of  the  Company or  its  Subsidiaries,  in  each  instance,  free  and  clear  of  all  Liens  other  than  Permitted  Liens.
Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole:  (i) neither the Company nor
any of  its  Subsidiaries  have received from any Governmental  Body or  person any unresolved written  notice  or  claim affecting title  to  the
Water Rights, including notice of non-use regarding such Water Rights; and (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no current facts
or conditions that would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely impact the Water Rights and such Water Rights are sufficient to
address the current and currently projected operational requirements of the Mines in the Ordinary Course of Business.

5.25    PPP Loan.

(a)     The  application  by  the  Company's  Subsidiary  for  the  PPP  Loan,  including  all  representations  and  certifications
contained therein, was true, correct and complete in all material respects and was otherwise completed in accordance with all guidance issued
in respect of the Paycheck Protection Program of the CARES Act. Full and complete copies of the Company's application for the PPP Loan
and all other PPP Loan documentation have been provided to Purchaser.

(b)    The proceeds of the PPP Loan have been used solely (i) by the Company and its Subsidiaries and (ii) for the purposes
permitted  by  the  CARES  Act,  and  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  have  complied  in  all  material  respects  with  all  requirements  of  the
CARES Act and Paycheck Protection Program in connection therewith.
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(c)     The PPP  Loan  Schedule sets  forth  (i)  the  original  amount  of  the  PPP  Loan  received  by  the  Company  and  (ii)  the
proceeds of the PPP Loan used by the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the date hereof, including a description of the use of such proceeds,
amounts and dates of use, (iii) the outstanding amount of the PPP Loan as of the date immediately prior to the date hereof. The outstanding
amount  of  the  PPP  Loan  has  been  placed  into  escrow  with  Woodforest  National  Bank  pursuant  to  the  Escrow  Agreement,  dated  as  of
September 18, 2020, by and among River Aggregates, LLC, MS Equity Holdings, Inc. and Woodforest National Bank.

5.26    COVID-19 and Related Matters. The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable actions to mitigate,
remedy,  respond  to  or  otherwise  address  the  effects,  if  any,  of  the  COVID-19  pandemic  on  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries'  business,
including complying with shelter in place and non-essential business orders by any Governmental Body. Other than (a) the PPP Loan and (b)
as set forth on the COVID-19 and Related Matters Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have availed themselves of any
benefits, programs or arrangements (including any loans or grants) pursuant to the CARES Act, Paycheck Protection Program, Main Street
Lending Program or any other legislation enacted after the date hereof in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

5.27    Warranty.

(a)    Each product sold, delivered, distributed or provided by, or on behalf of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the
last three (3) years has, in all material respects, been sold, delivered or distributed in conformity with all applicable contractual commitments
and all Laws relating to product safety and related matters, and all express and implied warranties with respect thereto. In the past three (3)
years, there have been no recalls (whether voluntary or compulsory) of any of the products sold, delivered, distributed or provided by, or on
behalf of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently, and has not in the past three
(3)  years  been,  subject  to  any  product  liability  lawsuits  or  any  investigation  by  any  Governmental  Body  (other  than  immaterial  ordinary
course governmental inspections or inquiries). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liability, or to the Knowledge of the
Company is there any reasonable basis for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to be subject to, any liability arising from or alleged to
arise from any injury to person or property as a result of any product sold, delivered, distributed or provided by, or on behalf of, the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries.

(b)    Except as set forth on the Warranty Schedule, (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries makes any guaranty,
warranty, right of return, right of credit or other indemnity as to any products (a "Warranty"), and there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of
the Company, threatened proceeding alleging any breach of any Warranty and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any
liability or obligation under any Warranty beyond that which is typically assumed in the Ordinary Course of Business by Persons engaged in
businesses comparable in size and scope of  the business of  the Company and its  Subsidiaries.  Each product  sold,  delivered,  distributed or
provided by or on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries has been sold, delivered, distributed or provided in conformity in all material
respects with all Warranties made by, and all other contractual commitments of, the Company and its Subsidiaries.

Article VI 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER

The Purchaser represents and warrants to the Company, the Sellers and the Representative that the statements in this Article VI are
true and correct:
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6.01    Organization and Corporate Power. The Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the Laws of the State of Delaware, with full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to be
executed by the Purchaser in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Purchaser Documents") and to perform
its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

6.02     Authorization.  The  execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement  and  each  of  the  Purchaser  Documents  by  the
Purchaser and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by
all  requisite  corporate  action,  and  no  other  corporate  Proceedings  on  their  part  are  necessary  to  authorize  the  execution,  delivery  or
performance of this Agreement. This Agreement has been, and each of the Purchaser Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and
validly authorized,  executed and delivered by the Purchaser,  and assuming that  each of  this  Agreement and the Purchaser  Documents  is  a
valid and binding obligation of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement constitutes, and each of the Purchaser Documents when so
executed and delivered will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance
with its respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors'
rights or to general principles of equity.

6.03    No Violation. The Purchaser is not subject to or obligated under (a) its governing documents, (b) any applicable Law (c) any
Contract,  franchise  or  permit,  or  (d)  any  Order,  which  would  be  breached,  violated  or  conflict  with  the  Purchaser's  execution,  delivery  or
performance of this Agreement and the Purchaser Documents, other than, in the case of clauses (b), (c) and (d), such breaches, violations or
conflicts that would not prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Purchaser to execute and deliver this Agreement or
the Purchaser Documents or consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

6.04    Governmental Bodies; Consents. Except for the requirements of the HSR Act that have been satisfied prior to the date hereof
or  any  filings  required  by  applicable  securities  Laws,  the  Purchaser  is  not  required  to  submit  any  notice,  report  or  other  filing  with  any
Governmental Body in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated  hereby.  No  consent,  approval  or  authorization  of  any  Governmental  Body  or  any  other  party  or  Person  is  required  to  be
obtained  by  the  Purchaser  in  connection  with  the  execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement  or  the  consummation  of  the
transactions contemplated hereby.

6.05    Litigation. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the Purchaser's knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Purchaser at
law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Body, which would adversely affect the Purchaser's performance under this Agreement or
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

6.06    Brokerage. Except as set forth on the Purchaser Brokerage Schedule, there are no claims for brokerage commissions, finders'
fees or similar compensation in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any arrangement or agreement
made by or on behalf of the Purchaser.

6.07    Investment Representation. The Purchaser is acquiring the Units for its own account with the present intention of holding such
securities for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution of such securities in violation of any
securities Laws.

6.08    Financing. The Purchaser has, and at all times from the date hereof through the Closing will have, the financial capability and
sufficient  cash on hand or available to be drawn under revolving credit  facilities or  term loan facilities  on an unconditional  basis  that  will
provide the Purchaser with sufficient sources
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of immediately available cash funds necessary to consummate the Closing and make all payments required under Section 2.03 and any other
amounts incurred or otherwise payable by the Purchaser in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth herein. The Purchaser Financing Schedule sets forth (i) the Purchaser's immediately available cash on hand
and (ii) the amount of undrawn capacity currently immediately available to Purchaser under its revolving credit facilities, in each case, as of
the date hereof. The Purchaser has no reason to believe that such funds will not be available to it on the Closing Date and at the Closing, and
Purchaser  has  not  incurred  any  obligation,  commitment,  restriction  or  liability  of  any  kind  that  would  impair  or  adversely  affect  such
capabilities and sources of funds.

6.09    Solvency. Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and assuming the accuracy of
the representations and warranties set forth in Articles IV and V, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries will be able to pay their respective
debts as they become due and will own assets with a fair saleable value greater than the amount that will be required to pay their respective
debts and contingent liabilities as they become absolute and matured. Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement,  and assuming the  accuracy of  the  representations  and warranties  set  forth  in Articles IV and V,  the Company and each of  its
Subsidiaries  will  have adequate  capital  to  carry on their  respective  businesses.  No transfer  of  property is  being made and no obligation is
being incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present
or future creditors of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

Article VII 

COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

7.01    Conduct of the Business.

(a)     From  the  date  hereof  until  the  Closing  or  the  earlier  termination  of  this  Agreement,  the  Company  shall  use  its
commercially  reasonable  efforts  to  conduct  its  and  its  Subsidiaries'  businesses  in  the  Ordinary  Course  of  Business,  except  as  otherwise
contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby,  as  set  forth  on  the Covenants  Exceptions
Schedule or as consented to in writing by the Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).

(b)    From the date hereof until the Closing or the earlier termination of this Agreement, except as otherwise contemplated by
this  Agreement  or  in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby,  as  set  forth  on  the Covenants  Exceptions  Schedule or  as
consented to  in  writing by the Purchaser  (such consent  not  to  be unreasonably withheld,  delayed or  conditioned),  the Company shall,  and
shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to:

(i)     not  (A)  amend  or  propose  to  amend  the  respective  certificates  of  incorporation  or  articles  of  association  or
bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in any manner or (B) split, combine or
reclassify the shares, capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(ii)    not issue, sell, pledge, transfer, or dispose of, or agree to issue, sell pledge, transfer or dispose of, any shares,
shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or issue any shares, shares of capital
stock or equity interests of any class or issue or become a party to any subscriptions,  warrants,  rights,  options,  convertible
securities  or  other  agreements  or  commitments  of  any  character  relating  to  the  issued  or  unissued  shares,  capital  stock  or
other equity interests of the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries (other than this Agreement and the agreements contemplated hereby), or grant any stock appreciation or similar
rights;

(iii)    (A) not redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any outstanding shares, shares of capital stock or other equity
interests  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  or  declare  or  pay  any  dividend  or  make  any  other  distribution  to  any
Person other than the Company or one (1) or more of its Subsidiaries on or prior to the Closing Date, or (B) not declare, set
aside or make any payment or distribution of cash or other property to any of its equityholders or their Affiliates with respect
to such equityholder's equity interest or otherwise, other than (x) to the Sun Consultant pursuant to the Consulting Agreement
or  (y)  as  wages  or  other  compensation  or  benefits  paid  to  employees  of  the  Company  or  its  Subsidiaries  in  the  Ordinary
Course of Business;

(iv)     not  sell,  lease,  transfer,  or  otherwise  dispose  of,  any  material  property  or  material  assets  owned  by  the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except for (A) the sale, lease, licensing, transfer or disposition of inventory or obsolete
machinery, equipment, or other assets in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) as to the Leased Real Property, the exercise of
the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' rights and remedies under any Lease, in the Ordinary Course of Business, including
any expiration,  termination,  renewal,  expansions,  reductions or similar  rights  as to such Leased Real  Property,  and (C) the
expiration of Intellectual Property in accordance with its statutory terms;

(v)     not  make  any  change  in  any  method  of  accounting  or  auditing  practice,  including  any  working  capital
procedures or practices, other than changes required as a result of changes in GAAP or applicable Law;

(vi)    not accelerate the collection of, or discount, accounts receivable, or delay the payment of accounts payable or
accrued expenses, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(vii)    not take any action or fail to take any action that has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, the effect
of accelerating to pre-Closing periods sales to customers that would otherwise be expected to occur after the Closing;

(viii)    not make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person other than loans,
advances or capital contributions by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (A) to any Subsidiary of the Company, (B) to any
employee in connection with travel, entertainment or related business expenses or other customary out-of-pocket expenses in
the Ordinary Course of Business or (C) in the Ordinary Course of Business to any customer, distributor, licensor, supplier or
other Person with which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has significant business relations;

(ix)     not  (A)  make  or  change  any  Tax  election,  (B)  change  any  annual  Tax  accounting  period,  (C)  change  any
method  of  Tax  accounting,  (D)   enter  into  any  "closing  agreement"  with  any  taxing  authority  with  respect  to  a  material
amount of Taxes, (E) settle any claim or assessment in respect of a material amount of Tax, or (F) consent to any extension or
waiver of the limitations period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment, in each case, to the extent such election, change,
agreement,  settlement,  consent  or  other  action  would  increase  the  Taxes  of  the  Company  or  any  of  the  Company's
Subsidiaries after the Closing;
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(x)     not  (A)  increase  the  amount  of  any  bonus,  salary  or  other  compensation  payable,  or  of  any  benefits,  to  any
employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries making in excess of $200,000 per year, or (B) grant any bonus to any director or
executive officer of the Company or its Subsidiaries;

(xi)    not permit the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to enter into or agree to enter into any merger, consolidation,
acquisition or joint venture;

(xii)     not  adopt  a  plan  of  complete  or  partial  liquidation,  dissolution,  restructuring,  recapitalization  or  other
reorganization of the Company or its Subsidiaries, or otherwise alter the Company's and its Subsidiaries' corporate structure;

(xiii)    other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, not amend, waive, modify or consent to the termination of any
Contracts listed or required to be listed on the Contracts Schedule;

(xiv)    not enter into any Contract with a term greater than two (2) years or that requires the payment or receipt of
amounts  greater  than $500,000 in  the next  twelve (12)  months; provided,  that  any Contract  with  a  term that  is  less  than 2
years  or  that  requires  the  payment  or  receipt  of  amounts  less  than  $500,000  in  the  next  twelve  (12)  months  shall  only  be
entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xv)     not  authorize,  or  make  any  commitment  with  respect  to,  any  single  capital  expenditure  that  is  in  excess  of
$100,000,  individually,  or  capital  expenditures  that  are,  in  the  aggregate,  in  excess  of  $500,000  for  the  Company  and  its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole;

(xvi)    not enter into any Contract that, if entered into prior to the date hereof, would be required to be set forth on the
Affiliated Transactions Schedule;

(xvii)     not  commence  or  settle  any  Proceeding,  other  than  any  Proceeding  involving  only  monetary  relief  in  an
amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) or less; and

(xviii)    not authorize, or commit or agree to take any action described in this Section 7.01(b).

(c)     Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  herein,  (i)  nothing  shall  prevent  the  Company  or  any  of  the  Company's
Subsidiaries  from  taking  or  failing  to  take  any  action  (including  the  establishment  of  any  policy,  procedure  or  protocol)  in  response  to
COVID-19 or any COVID-19 Measure that would otherwise violate or breach this Agreement or otherwise potentially serve as a basis for the
Purchaser to terminate this Agreement or assert that any of the conditions to the Closing contained herein have not been satisfied, and (ii) no
consent  of  the Purchaser  shall  be required with respect  to any matter  (A) to the extent  that  the requirement of  such consent  would violate
applicable Law, or (B) such action is taken, or omitted to be taken, by the Company or the Company's Subsidiaries pursuant to COVID-19 or
any COVID-19 Measure.

7.02     Access  to  Books  and  Records.  From  the  date  hereof  until  the  Closing  or  the  earlier  termination  of  this  Agreement,  the
Company,  consistent  with  applicable  Law,  shall  provide  the  Purchaser  and  its  authorized  representatives  with  reasonable  access  at  all
reasonable  times and upon reasonable  advance notice  to  the offices,  properties,  books and records of  the Company and its  Subsidiaries  in
order for the Purchaser to have the opportunity to make such investigation as it shall reasonably desire to make of the affairs of the Company
and its Subsidiaries, is permissible under applicable Law (after taking into account any applicable COVID-19
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Measures) and does not jeopardize the health and safety of any employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries; provided, that such access does
not unreasonably interfere with the normal operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries; provided, further, that all requests for access shall
be directed to Colin Oerton or Sean McGrath (as representatives for the Company) or such other person(s) as they may designate from time to
time (each such person, an "Authorized Representative");  and provided, further,  that such access shall  not extend to any (i)  environmental
sampling  or  testing  or  invasive  or  subsurface  investigation,  (ii)  trade  secrets  or  other  competitively  sensitive  information  or  (iii)  any
information that is subject to any applicable confidentiality restrictions or attorney-client, work product or other privilege (provided that the
Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make alternative arrangements to disclose such privileged information in a manner that
does  not  waive  or  violate  such  privilege).  Neither  the  Company,  the  Representative  nor  any  of  the  Sellers  makes  any  representation  or
warranty as to the accuracy of any information (if any) provided pursuant to this Section 7.02, and the Purchaser may not rely on the accuracy
of any such information, in each case, other than the representations and warranties of the Sellers and the Company expressly and specifically
set forth in Article IV and Article V, as qualified by the Disclosure Schedules. The information provided pursuant to this Section 7.02 will be
used solely for the purpose of  effecting the transactions contemplated hereby,  and will  be governed by all  the terms and conditions of the
Confidentiality Agreement.

7.03    Exclusive Dealing. During the period from the execution of this Agreement by the parties hereto through the Closing or the
earlier termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01, neither the Sellers nor the Company shall take any action to initiate or engage
in discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person (other than the Purchaser and its Affiliates and representatives)
concerning any purchase  of  the  Units  or  any merger,  sale  of  substantial  assets  or  similar  transaction  involving the  Company or  any of  its
Subsidiaries (other than assets and services sold in the Ordinary Course of Business).

7.04    Payoff Letters. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Purchaser payoff letters from the holders of Indebtedness
identified  on  the Indebtedness  Schedule and  shall  make  arrangements  for  such  holders  of  such  Indebtedness  to  deliver  all  related  Lien
releases to the Purchaser as soon as practicable after the Closing.

7.05     FIRPTA.  Prior  to  the  Closing,  the  Company  shall  deliver  to  the  Purchaser  an  affidavit  from  each  Seller  in  the  form  of
Exhibit  D stating  that  such  Seller  is  not  a  "foreign  person"  as  defined  in  Code  Section  1445  (it  being  understood  that  Purchaser's  only
recourse for the Company or any Seller failing to deliver such an affidavit is to withhold pursuant to Section 2.06).

7.06     Resignations.  Prior  to  the  Closing,  the  Company  shall  deliver  to  the  Purchaser  a  resignation  letter  in  form  and  substance
reasonably  satisfactory  to  Purchaser  from all  the  managers  and  officers  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  set  forth  on  the  Resignation
Schedule.

7.07    Title Insurance. Prior to the Closing, in connection with Purchaser's pursuit of the issuance of any policy of title insurance, the
Company shall, and shall cause its applicable Subsidiary to, use commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver to the applicable title
insurer, customary owner's affidavits as to parties in possession and mechanic's liens in form reasonably acceptable to the Company and such
title insurer.

7.08    Code Section 280G Equityholder Approval.

(a)    The Company shall take commercially reasonable actions to solicit, prior to the initiation of the requisite equityholder
approval procedure set forth in Section 7.08(b), a waiver from each individual who the Company reasonably believes is, with respect to the
Company or any Affiliate, a "disqualified individual" (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and the Treasury Regulations
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promulgated  thereunder),  as  determined immediately  prior  to  the  initiation  of  the  requisite  equityholder  approval  vote  set  forth  in Section
7.08(b), and who might otherwise have, receive, or have the right or entitlement to receive a potential parachute payment under Section 280G
of the Code as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b)     Prior  to the Closing and after  the Company's  receipt  of  the waivers  described in Section 7.08(a),  the Company shall
submit to the equityholders for approval (in a manner that satisfies the applicable requirements of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder) by such number of the equityholders as is required by the terms of Code Section 280G(b)(5)
(B)  so as  to  render  the  parachute  payment  provisions of  Section 280G of  the  Code inapplicable  to  any and all  payments  or  other  benefits
pursuant  to  contracts  or  arrangements  that  have  been  waived  in  accordance  with Section 7.08(a) and  that  might  otherwise  result,  whether
separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any amount and/or the provision of any benefit that would not be deductible by reason of
Section  280G  of  the  Code,  which  determination  shall  be  made  by  the  Company,  in  its  discretion  (such  payments  and/or  benefits  being
referred to herein as, the "Waived 280G Benefits"). To the extent Purchaser enters into (or enters into a legally binding promise to provide)
any arrangements with any "disqualified individual" that could constitute a potential parachute payment under Section 280G of the Code prior
to the Closing, Purchaser will promptly, and in any event no less than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, provide a copy or written
description  of  any  new  arrangement  and  the  estimated  value  of  such  arrangement  to  the  Company,  and  such  new  arrangement(s)  from
Purchaser  shall  be  included  in  the  Waived  280G  Benefits  and  related  approval  materials  so  long  as  such  information  is  timely  provided
pursuant to this Section 7.08(b). If any of the Waived 280G Benefits fail to be approved as contemplated above, such Waived 280G Benefits
shall not be made or provided to the applicable individuals. No later than the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Purchaser evidence that a
vote of the equityholders was solicited in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 7.08(b) and that either (x) the requisite
number  of  votes  of  the  equityholders  was  obtained  with  respect  to  the  Waived  280G  Benefits  (the  "280G  Approval")  or  (y)  the  280G
Approval was not obtained and, as a consequence, the Waived 280G Benefits shall not be paid or provided to the applicable individuals.

Article VIII 

COVENANTS OF THE PURCHASER

8.01    Access to Books and Records. From and after the Closing for a period of six (6) years, the Purchaser shall, and shall cause
each  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  to,  provide  the  Sellers  and  the  Representative  and  their  respective  agents  and  advisors  with
reasonable  access  (for  the  purpose  of  examining  and  copying),  during  normal  business  hours,  and  upon reasonable  advance  notice,  to  the
books  and  records  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  with  respect  to  periods  or  occurrences  prior  to  the  Closing  Date  and  reasonable
access, during normal business hours, and upon reasonable advance notice, to employees (if any) of each of the Purchaser, the Company and
the Company's Subsidiaries, and each of their respective Affiliates for purposes of complying with any applicable tax, financial reporting or
regulatory requirements or any other bona fide reasonable business purpose; provided, that such access does not unreasonably interfere with
the normal operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, shall be subject to customary confidentiality and securities Laws requirements, is
permissible under applicable Law (after taking into account any applicable COVID-19 Measures), does not jeopardize the health and safety
of any employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries, and does not jeopardize any attorney-client privilege, protection under the work product
doctrine or other legal privilege of the Company or its Subsidiaries (provided, that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
make alternative arrangements to provide such access or information in a manner that does not waive or violate such privilege or protection).
Unless otherwise consented to in writing by the Representative, none of the Purchaser, the Company or the Company's Subsidiaries shall, for
a period of six (6) years following the

49



Closing Date, destroy, alter or otherwise dispose of any of the books and records of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries for any period
prior to the Closing Date without first offering to surrender to the Representative such books and records or any portion thereof which the
Purchaser or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may intend to destroy, alter or dispose of.

8.02    Director, Manager and Officer Liability and Indemnification.

(a)     Prior  to  or  simultaneously  with  the  Closing,  the  Purchaser  shall,  or  shall  cause  the  Company  to  purchase  from  an
insurance  carrier  with  the  same or  better  credit  rating  as  the  Company's  current  insurance  carrier  with  respect  to  directors',  managers'  and
officers' liability insurance a prepaid insurance policy (i.e., "tail coverage") which provide "side A, B and C directors and officers" insurance
coverage for each of the individuals who were officers, directors, managers or similar functionaries of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
at or prior to the Closing on terms no less favorable (including with respect to policy limit and scope) as the policy or policy(ies) maintained
by the Company or any of the Company's Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Closing for the benefit of such individuals for an aggregate
period of  not  less  than six  (6)  years  with  respect  to  claims arising from acts,  events  or  omissions  that  occurred at  or  prior  to  the  Closing,
including  with  respect  to  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  (such  policies,  the  "D&O  Tail  Policies"); provided,  that  the
premium for  the  D&O Tail  Policies  shall  be  borne  by equally  by the  Purchaser,  on  one  hand,  and  by the  Sellers,  on  the  other  hand;  and,
provided, further, that in no event shall the aggregate cost for the D&O Tail Policies exceed three-hundred percent (300%) of the Company's
and its Subsidiaries' most recent annual premium allocation.

(b)     For  a  period  of  six  (6)  years  after  the  Closing,  the  Purchaser  shall  not,  and  shall  not  permit  the  Company  and  its
Subsidiaries  to,  amend,  repeal  or  otherwise  modify  any  provision  in  the  Company's  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries'  certificate  or  articles  of
incorporation or formation, bylaws or limited liability company agreement (or equivalent governing documents) relating to the exculpation or
indemnification  of  any  officers,  directors  or  similar  functionaries  (unless  to  provide  for  greater  exculpation  or  indemnification  or  unless
required by Law), it being the intent of the parties hereto that the current and former officers, directors, managers and similar functionaries of
the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  shall  continue  to  be  entitled  to  such  exculpation  and  indemnification  (including  with  respect  to
advancement of expenses) to the full extent of the Law. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that this Section 8.02 shall be binding on the
Purchaser's successors and assigns.

(c)    If the Company or its Subsidiaries or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) shall consolidate with or merge
into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) shall transfer
all  or  substantially  all  of  its  properties  and  assets  to  any Person,  then,  and  in  each  such case,  proper  provisions  shall  be  made so  that  the
successors and assigns of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall assume all of the obligations set forth in this Section 8.02.

(d)     Notwithstanding  anything  in  this  Agreement  to  the  contrary,  if  any  claim,  action,  suit,  Proceeding  or  investigation
(whether arising before, at or after the Closing) is made against any individual who was an officer, director, manager or similar functionary of
the Company or its Subsidiaries at or prior to the Closing or any other party covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance, on or prior
to  the sixth (6th)  anniversary of  the Closing,  the provisions of  this Section 8.02 shall  continue in  effect  until  the  final  disposition of  such
claim, action, suit, Proceeding or investigation.

(e)    The obligations under this Section 8.02 shall not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to affect adversely any
indemnitee or exculpee to whom this Section 8.02 applies without the consent of such affected indemnitee or exculpee. The provisions of this
Section 8.02 are intended for the benefit of, and
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will be enforceable by (as express third party beneficiaries), each current and former officer, director, manager or similar functionary of each
of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  and  his  or  her  heirs  and  representatives,  successors  and  assigns  and  are  in  addition  to,  and  not  in
substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any such person may have had by Contract or otherwise.

8.03    Efforts.  On  the  terms  and  subject  to  the  conditions  of  this  Agreement,  the  Purchaser  will  use  its  commercially  reasonable
efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to satisfy the conditions to the Closing (and
refrain  from  taking  any  action  that  would  reasonably  be  expected  to  have  the  effect  of  materially  delaying,  preventing  or  impeding  the
Closing). In furtherance of the foregoing, the Purchaser shall (a) use commercially reasonable efforts to make or cause to be made all filings
and submissions under any Laws or regulations applicable to the Purchaser required for the consummation of the transactions contemplated
herein,  (b)  reasonably  coordinate  and  cooperate  with  the  Company  in  exchanging  such  information  and  providing  such  assistance  as  the
Company  may  reasonably  request  in  connection  with  all  of  the  foregoing  and  (c)  supply  promptly  any  additional  information  and
documentary material that may be requested in connection with such filings, make any further filings pursuant thereto that may be necessary,
proper, or advisable in connection therewith, and take all actions necessary to obtain all required clearances.

8.04    Contact with Business Relations. The Purchaser is not authorized to and shall not (and shall not permit any of its employees,
agents,  representatives  or  Affiliates  to)  contact  any  officer,  director,  manager,  employee  (in  each  case,  other  than  an  Authorized
Representative), customer, supplier, distributor or other material business relation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with reference to
or  in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  prior  to  the  Closing  without  the  prior  written  consent  and  coordination  of  an
Authorized Representative  (not  to  be  unreasonably  delayed,  conditioned or  withheld); provided, that,  this Section 8.04 shall  not  limit  any
ongoing  contact  between  any  officer,  director,  manager  or  employee  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  and  an  employee,  agent,
representative  or  Affiliate  of  the  Purchaser  on  or  after  the  date  hereof  to  the  extent  such  contact  was  and  remains  ongoing  as  of  the  date
hereof in connection with Purchaser's review and consideration of the transactions contemplated hereby.

8.05    Termination of Confidentiality Agreement. From the date hereof until the Closing, the Purchaser shall remain bound by that
certain Mutual Nondisclosure Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2020, by and between Arcosa, Inc., an Affiliate of the Purchaser, and the
Company (the "Confidentiality Agreement"). As of the Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement shall, without any further action of any party,
terminate and be of no further force or effect.

8.06     Access  and  Investigation;  Non-Reliance.  Each  of  the  Purchaser  and  its  representatives  (a)  have  had  access  to  and  the
opportunity to review all  of  the documents  in the "Project  Sapphire"  data room maintained by CapLinked on behalf  of  the Company,  and
(b) has been afforded reasonable access to the books and records, facilities and officers, directors, employees and other representatives of the
Company and its  Subsidiaries for purposes of conducting a due diligence investigation with respect thereto.  The Purchaser and each of its
Non-Recourse  Parties  has  conducted  to  its  satisfaction  an  independent  investigation  and  verification  of  the  financial  condition,  results  of
operations,  assets,  liabilities,  properties  and projected  operations  of  the  Company and each  of  its  Subsidiaries,  and  any  of  their  respective
businesses, and, in making its determination to proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, each of the Purchaser and its
Non-Recourse Parties  (i)  has  relied solely on the results  of  such independent  investigation and verification and on the representations and
warranties of the Company and the Sellers expressly and specifically set forth in Article IV and Article V, respectively, as qualified by the
Disclosure Schedules, and any representations and warranties specifically set forth in an Ancillary Document, and (ii) have not relied on any
other representations, warranties or statements (including by omission) of any kind or nature, whether written or oral, expressed or implied,
statutory or
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otherwise (including, for the avoidance of doubt, relating to quality, quantity, condition, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose or
conformity to samples) of any of the Company, the Sellers, the Optionholders, the Representative or any of their respective Non-Recourse
Parties  as  to  any  matter  concerning  the  Company,  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  or  any  of  their  respective  businesses  or  in  connection  with  this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any information provided
to  (or  otherwise  acquired  by)  the  Purchaser  or  any  of  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  in  connection  with  this  Agreement  or  the  transactions
contemplated  by  this  Agreement  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  any  statements,  information,  documents,  projections,  forecasts  or
other  materials  made  available  to  the  Purchaser  or  any  of  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  in  certain  "data  rooms"  or  presentations,  including
"management presentations"). In connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, Purchaser has been represented by, and adequately
consulted with, legal counsel of its choice and each of Purchaser and such counsel has carefully read this Agreement and has been given time
to  consider  this  Agreement,  understands  this  Agreement  and,  after  such  consideration,  and  with  such  understanding,  Purchaser  has
knowingly, freely and without coercion entered into this Agreement and, in particular, this Section 8.06, Section 10.01, Section 11.02, and
Section 13.16.

Article IX 

TERMINATION

9.01    Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing only as follows, and in no other manner:

(a)     by mutual written consent of  the Purchaser,  on the one hand,  and the Company and the Representative,  on the other
hand;

(b)    by the Purchaser, on the one hand, or by the Company or the Representative, on the other hand, by written notice to the
other, upon the issuance by any Governmental Body of an order, decree or ruling or its taking of any other action restraining, enjoining or
otherwise prohibiting the performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, which order, decree,
ruling or any other action shall have become final and non-appealable and which renders the condition set forth in Section 3.03(a) incapable
of being satisfied; provided,  that  no termination may be  made under  this Section 9.01(b) by  a  party  if  the  issuance  of  such order,  decree,
ruling or such other action has been primarily caused by the action or inaction of such party;

(c)    by the Purchaser, on the one hand, or by the Company or the Representative, on the other hand, by written notice to the
other, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the date 90 days from the date hereof (the "Outside Date"); provided, however, that
no termination may be made under this Section 9.01(c) by a party if the failure to close shall have been caused by the action or inaction of
such party;

(d)    by the Purchaser, if the Purchaser is not then in material breach of this Agreement, by written notice to the Company,
upon a breach of any covenant or agreement on the part of Sellers or the Company set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or
warranty  contained  in Article IV or Article V shall  be  or  have  become untrue,  in  either  case,  such  that  any  of  the  conditions  set  forth  in
Section  3.01(a) or Section  3.01(b) would  not  be  satisfied; provided, however,  that,  if  such  breach  is  curable  through  the  exercise  of
commercially reasonable efforts and for so long as the Company or Sellers, as applicable, continues to exercise such commercially reasonable
efforts, the Purchaser may not terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(d) prior to the earlier of (i) thirty (30) Business Days after
providing written notice of such breach to Company and (ii) the Outside Date; or
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(e)    by the Company or the Representative, if the Company, the Representative and Sellers, as applicable, are not then in
material  breach  of  this  Agreement,  by  written  notice  to  the  Purchaser,  upon  a  breach  of  any  covenant  or  agreement  on  the  part  of  the
Purchaser set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Purchaser shall be or have become untrue, in either case,
such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 3.02(a) or Section 3.02(b) would not be satisfied; provided, however, that, if such breach
(other  than breach  or  failure  to  consummate  the  Closing when required  pursuant  to Section 2.02)  is  curable  by the  Purchaser  through the
exercise of commercially reasonable efforts and for so long as the Purchaser continues to exercise such commercially reasonable efforts, the
Company and the Representative may not terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(e) prior to the earlier of (i) thirty (30) Business
Days after providing written notice of such breach to Purchaser and (ii) the Outside Date.

9.02    Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01, this Agreement shall become void and of no
further  force  and  effect  (other  than Article I, Section 8.05,  this Section 9.02, Section 13.02, Section 13.11, Section 13.12, Section 13.13,
Section 13.16, and Section 13.19, which shall survive the termination of this Agreement) without any liability or obligation on the part of any
party  hereto,  (a)  other  than  liabilities  and  obligations  under  the  Confidentiality  Agreement  and  (b)  except  that  no  such  termination  shall
relieve  any  party  hereto  of  any  liability  for  damages  resulting  from any  willful  breach  of  this  Agreement  by  such  party.  For  purposes  of
clarification, the parties hereto agree that if the Purchaser does not close the transactions contemplated hereby in circumstances in which all
of  the  closing  conditions  set  forth  in Article III have  been  satisfied  or  waived  (other  than  those  conditions  that,  by  their  terms,  are  to  be
satisfied  at  the  Closing),  such  failure  or  refusal  to  close  shall  be  deemed  to  be  a  willful  breach  of  this  Agreement  by  the  Purchaser.  In
determining losses or damages recoverable upon termination by a party hereto for another party's breach, the parties hereto acknowledge and
agree that such losses and damages shall not be limited to reimbursement of expenses or out-of-pocket costs, and shall include the benefit of
the bargain lost by such party hereto, taking into consideration all relevant matters.

Article X 

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS

10.01     Acknowledgement  by  the  Purchaser.  The  representations  and  warranties  of  the  Sellers  and  the  Company  expressly  and
specifically set forth in Article IV and Article V, as qualified by the Disclosure Schedules, and any representations and warranties specifically
set forth in an Ancillary Document constitute the sole and exclusive representations, warranties, and statements (including by omission) of
any kind or nature, whether written or oral,  expressed or implied, statutory or otherwise (including, for the avoidance of doubt,  relating to
quality,  quantity,  condition,  merchantability,  fitness  for  a  particular  purpose  or  conformity  to  samples)  of  the  Company,  the  Sellers,  the
Optionholders,  the  Representative  or  any  of  their  respective  Non-Recourse  Parties  as  to  any  matter  concerning  the  Company,  any  of  its
Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
or with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any information provided to (or otherwise acquired by) the Purchaser or any of its Non-
Recourse  Parties  in  connection  with  this  Agreement  or  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of
doubt,  any statements,  information,  documents,  projections,  forecasts  or  other  material  made available to the Purchaser  or  any of  its  Non-
Recourse Parties in certain "data rooms" or presentations including "management presentations") and all other purported representations and
warranties or statements (including by omission) are hereby disclaimed by the Company, the Sellers, the Optionholders, the Representative
and each of their respective Non-Recourse Parties and (i) each of the Purchaser and its Non-Recourse Parties has only relied, and will only
rely, on the representations and warranties of the Sellers and the Company expressly and specifically set forth in Article IV and Article V,
respectively, and any representations and warranties specifically set forth in an Ancillary Document, (ii) each of the
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Purchaser and its Non-Recourse Parties hereby expressly and irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that he, she or it has not relied and will
not  rely  on any other  representations,  warranties  or  statements  (including by omission),  and (iii)  none of  the Purchaser  or  any of  its  Non-
Recourse Parties shall have any claim with respect to their purported use of, or reliance on, any such representations, warranties or statements
(including by omission) on any basis or legal theory whatsoever (whether sounding in contract or tort, at law or in equity, on public policy
grounds, under any Law (including under securities Laws or the Racketeer Influence and Corrupt Organizations Act of 1970 ("RICO")), on
the basis of "unjust enrichment" or otherwise). The Purchaser is otherwise acquiring the Company, its Subsidiaries, its joint ventures and their
respective  businesses  on  an  "AS  IS,  WHERE  IS"  basis.  Without  in  any  way  limiting  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  the  Purchaser
acknowledges  that  there  are  uncertainties  inherent  in  attempting  to  make  projections,  forward  looking  statements  and  other  forecasts  and
estimates, and certain business plan information, that the Purchaser is familiar with such uncertainties, and that, subject to the representations
and  warranties  of  the  Sellers  and  the  Company  expressly  and  specifically  set  forth  in Article  IV and Article  V,  respectively,  and  any
representations  and warranties  specifically  set  forth  in  an  Ancillary  Document,  the  Purchaser  and its  Non-Recourse  Parties  are  taking  full
responsibility for making their own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of any such projections, forward looking statements, forecasts,
estimates  and  business  plan  information  provided  to  (or  otherwise  acquired  by)  the  Purchaser  and  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  in  connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such projections, forward
looking  statements,  forecasts,  estimates  and  business  plan  information).  Under  no  circumstances  shall  any  of  the  representations  and
warranties of the Company or the Sellers made herein be imputed to, or deemed to have been made by, any other Person (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the Representative (other than those representations and warranties the Representative makes in its capacity as a Seller
and not in its role as the Representative)).

10.02    Further Assurances. From time to time following the Closing, as and when requested in writing by any party hereto and at
such  requesting  party's  expense,  any other  party  shall  execute  and deliver,  or  cause  to  be  executed  and delivered,  all  such  documents  and
instruments and shall take, or cause to be taken, all such further or other actions as such requesting party may reasonably deem necessary to
evidence and effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

10.03    Employees and Employee Benefits.

(a)    Salary and Wages. The Purchaser will  cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to continue the employment effective
immediately after the Closing of all  employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries,  including each such employee on medical,  disability,
family or other leave of absence as of the Closing Date. All such employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries who are employed by the
Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  immediately  following  the  Closing  are  referred  to  as  "Retained  Employees".  The  Purchaser  will  cause  the
Company and its  Subsidiaries  to provide each such Retained Employee who remains employed with at  least  the same base wages,  annual
base salary and annual rate of cash bonus potential (determined as a percentage of annual base salary) (but excluding any equity plan program
or  arrangement)  provided  to  each  such  employee  on  the  Closing  Date  for  a  period  of  at  least  one  (1)  year  following  the  Closing  Date;
provided, however, that nothing in this Section 10.03(a) shall obligate the Purchaser or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to continue the
employment of any such Retained Employee for any specific period.

(b)    Employee Benefits. For a period of at least one (1) year following the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall provide, or shall
cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to provide, each Retained Employee with all benefits (other than any equity-based compensation) that
are substantially comparable in the aggregate than the benefits provided to such Retained Employee immediately prior to the Closing.
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(c)    Employee Service Credit. The Purchaser (i) shall give, or cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to give, each Retained
Employee credit under all benefit plan or personnel policies that cover the Retained Employee after the Closing, including any vacation, sick
leave  and  severance  policies,  for  purposes  of  eligibility,  vesting  and  entitlement  to  vacation,  sick  leave  and  severance  benefits  for  the
Retained Employee's service with the Company and its Affiliates prior to the Closing, to the same extent recognized by the Company or its
Subsidiaries or any predecessor thereof as of the Closing Date, (ii) shall allow such Retained Employees to participate in each plan providing
welfare benefits (including medical, life insurance, long-term disability insurance and long-term care insurance) without regard to preexisting
condition limitations, waiting periods, evidence of insurability or other exclusions or limitations not imposed on the Retained Employee by
the corresponding Plans immediately prior to the Closing, and (iii) if coverage for Retained Employees under any Welfare Plan is terminated
prior to the end of the plan year that includes the Closing Date, shall credit the Retained Employee with any expenses that were covered by
such Welfare Plan(s) for purposes of determining deductibles, co-pays and other applicable limits under any similar replacement plans.

(d)    Vacation Pay and Personal Holidays. The Purchaser shall cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to continue to credit
to each Retained Employee all  vacation and personal  holiday pay that  the Retained Employee is  entitled to use but  has not  used as of the
Closing Date (including any earned vacation or personal holiday pay to be used in future years), and shall retain all Liability for the payment
of such amounts.

(e)    Labor Agreements. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that each of the agreements set forth in subsections (i) or (ii) of
the Contracts Schedule currently in effect or that govern the terms and conditions of employment for any employee of the Company or its
Subsidiaries  shall  remain  in  effect  following the  Closing in  accordance with  the  terms of  such agreements  and applicable  Law.  Purchaser
shall cause the Company or its relevant Subsidiaries to continue (for so long as such Contracts are in effect and in accordance with applicable
Law) to be bound by the agreements set forth in subsection (i) of the Contracts Schedule.

(f)     No  Third  Party  Beneficiaries.  The  provisions  of  this Section  10.03 are  solely  for  the  benefit  of  the  parties  to  this
Agreement, and no current or former employee, officer, director, manager or consultant, or any other individual associated therewith, shall be
regarded for any purpose as a third party beneficiary of this Section 10.03. In no event shall the terms of this Agreement be deemed to (i)
establish, amend or modify any Plan or any other "employee benefit plan" as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, or any other benefit plan,
program, agreement or arrangement maintained or sponsored by the Company, the Purchaser, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries
or any of their respective Affiliates; (ii) alter or limit the ability of the Purchaser or the Company and their respective Subsidiaries to amend,
modify or terminate any Plan or any other benefit or employment plan, program, agreement or arrangement after the Closing; or (iii) confer
upon any current or former employee, officer, director or consultant, any right to employment or continued employment or continued service
with  the  Purchaser  or  the  Company  or  any  of  their  respective  Subsidiaries,  or  constitute  or  create  an  employment  agreement  with  any
employee.

10.04    Seller's Release.

(a)    Each Seller, on behalf of itself and such Seller's controlling and controlled Affiliates (each, a "Releasor"), hereby release
and forever discharge the Company and its Subsidiaries and its and their respective Non-Recourse Parties in their capacities as such (each, a
"Releasee")  from  any  and  all  claims,  demands,  Proceedings,  causes  of  action,  Contracts,  Losses  and  Liabilities  whatsoever  (including
reasonable attorneys' fees) and all consequences thereof, at Law or in equity, which a Seller or other Releasor now has, has ever had or may
hereafter  have  against  any  Releasee  arising  contemporaneously  with  or  prior  to  the  Closing  in  their  capacity  as  an  equityholder  of  the
Company  or  otherwise  with  respect  to  their  investment  in  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  (collectively,  "Released  Claims"); provided,
however, that nothing contained herein will
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operate  to  release,  and  the  Released  Claims  will  not  include,  any  claims,  demands,  Proceedings,  causes  of  action,  Contracts,  Losses  or
Liabilities  whatsoever  (including  reasonable  attorneys'  fees)  or  any  consequences  thereof,  at  Law  or  in  equity,  (i)  arising  under  this
Agreement  or  the  Ancillary  Documents,  (ii)  for  indemnification  or  exculpation  (or  under  related  insurance)  in  accordance  with  the
organizational  documents  of  the  Company  or  its  Subsidiaries,  or  (iii)  available  to  any  Seller  under  an  employment  agreement  with  the
Company or its Subsidiaries or for any compensation and benefits earned in the Ordinary Course of Business and unpaid as of the Closing
Date (the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), each, an "Excluded Claim"). Each Seller, on behalf of itself and such Seller's other Releasors,
agrees that this release shall act as a release of all Released Claims, whether such Released Claims are currently known or unknown, foreseen
or  unforeseen,  contingent  or  absolute,  asserted  or  unasserted,  and  each  Seller,  on  behalf  of  itself  and  such  Seller's  other  Releasors,
intentionally and specifically waives any statute or rule which may prohibit the release of future rights or a release with respect to unknown
claims. The Releasees are intended third-party beneficiaries of this release, and this release may be enforced by each of them in accordance
with  the  terms  hereof  in  respect  of  the  rights  granted  to  such  Releasees  hereunder.  If  any  provision  of  this  release  is  held  invalid  or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the other provisions of this release will remain in full force and effect.

(b)     Each Seller,  on behalf  of  itself  and on behalf  of  such Seller's  other  Releasors,  irrevocably  covenants  that  it  will  not,
directly  or  indirectly,  sue,  commence  any  Proceeding  against,  or  make  any  demand  upon  any  Releasee  in  respect  of  any  of  the  matters
released pursuant to Section 10.04(a); provided, however, for the avoidance of doubt, this Section 10.04(b) shall not prohibit the right to sue,
commence any Proceeding against or make any demand upon a Releasee if such action is based upon, or for, an Excluded Claim.

(c)    Other than with respect to the Excluded Claims, the release provided for in Section 10.04(a) may be pleaded by any of
the Releasees as a full and complete defense and may be used as the basis for an injunction against any action at law or equity instituted or
maintained  against  any  of  them  in  violation  hereof.  If  any  Released  Claim  is  brought  or  maintained  by  any  Seller  or  any  other  Releasor
against any Releasee in violation of the release contemplated by Section 10.04(a), such Seller or Releasor will be responsible for all costs and
expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by the Releasee in defending such Released Claim.

(d)    In providing the release contemplated by Section 10.04(a), each Seller does so with full knowledge of any and all rights
that such Seller may have with respect to such release, that each Seller has received independent legal advice with respect to such release and
with respect to the rights and asserted rights arising out of such release, and that each Seller is providing such release of such Seller's own
free will.

Article XI 

NO SURVIVAL OR CLAIMS FOR REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, OR PRE-CLOSING COVENANTS

11.01    Survival. None of the representations or warranties set forth in Article IV, Article V, or Article VI shall survive the Closing
and  each  such  representation  and  warranty  shall  terminate  on  and  as  of  the  Closing,  and  no  claims  may  be  brought  with  respect  to  such
representations or warranties from or after the Closing. None of the covenants in this Agreement to the extent required to be performed prior
to the Closing shall survive the Closing and each such covenant shall terminate on and as of the Closing, and no claims may be brought with
respect to such covenants from or after the Closing. All other covenants which are to be performed at or after the Closing shall survive for the
time periods specified therein and shall terminate once such covenants are fully
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performed. Nothing in this Section 11.01 shall (a) limit a party's right to bring a claim (and, if successful, recover Losses) for Fraud or (b)
limit amounts recoverable by the Purchaser under the R&W Insurance Policy.

11.02    Exclusive Remedy. From and after (a) the date hereof until the Closing, the Purchaser's and its Non-Recourse Parties' sole
and exclusive remedy against the Representative, the Sellers, the Optionholders, and each of their respective Non-Recourse Parties, whether
in any individual, corporate or any other capacity, with respect to any and all claims relating (directly or indirectly) to the subject matter of
this  Agreement  or  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby,  regardless  of  the  legal  theory  under  which  such  Liability  or  obligation  may  be
sought  to  be  imposed  (whether  sounding  in  contract  or  tort,  or  whether  at  law  or  in  equity,  on  public  policy  grounds,  under  any  Law
(including under securities Laws or RICO), on the basis of "unjust enrichment" or otherwise), shall be solely pursuant to the provisions of
Section 9.01 or Section 13.19 in accordance with the terms hereof, and (b) the Closing, except as expressly provided in Section 11.03 and
Annex I, the Purchaser's and its Non-Recourse Parties' sole and exclusive remedy against the Representative, the Sellers, the Optionholders,
and each of  their  respective  Non-Recourse  Parties,  whether  in  any individual,  corporate  or  any other  capacity,  with  respect  to  any and all
claims relating (directly or indirectly) to the subject matter of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, regardless of the legal
theory under which such Liability or obligation may be sought to be imposed (whether sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or in
equity,  on  public  policy  grounds,  under  any  Law  (including  under  securities  Laws  or  RICO),  on  the  basis  of  "unjust  enrichment"  or
otherwise), shall be solely and exclusively for breach of any agreement or covenant herein surviving, and requiring performance at or after,
the Closing to the extent provided in Section 11.01 or the provisions of the Escrow Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Purchaser
hereby waives and releases to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, the Company and its Subsidiaries, the Representative, the
Sellers,  the  Optionholders,  and  each  of  their  respective  Non-Recourse  Parties,  whether  in  any  individual,  corporate  or  any  other  capacity,
from  and  against  any  and  all  other  rights,  claims  and  causes  of  action  it  may  have  against  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries,  the
Representative, the Sellers, the Optionholders or their respective Non-Recourse Parties relating (directly or indirectly) to the subject matter of
this  Agreement  or  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  (including  relating  to  any  exhibit,  Schedule  or  document  delivered  hereunder),
regardless of the legal theory under which right, claim or cause of action may arise (whether sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or
in  equity,  on  public  policy  grounds,  under  any  Law  (including  under  securities  Laws  or  RICO),  on  the  basis  of  "unjust  enrichment"  or
otherwise) and including any rights to rescission of the transactions contemplated hereby, other than claims for breach of any agreement or
covenant herein surviving, and requiring performance at or after, the Closing to the extent provided in Section 11.01 or the provisions of the
Escrow Agreement.  The limits  imposed on the Purchaser's  and its  Non-Recourse  Parties'  remedies  with  respect  to  this  Agreement  and the
transactions contemplated hereby (including this Section 11.02 and the limitations set forth in Section 11.03 and Annex I) were specifically
bargained for between sophisticated parties  and were specifically taken into account in the determination of  the amounts to be paid to the
Sellers and the Optionholders hereunder. None of the Purchaser or any of its Non-Recourse Parties may avoid the limitations on Liability set
forth  in  this  Agreement  by  seeking  damages  for  breach  of  contract,  tort  or  pursuant  to  any  other  theory  of  liability.  Nothing  in  this
Section 11.02 shall limit a party's right to (i) seek specific performance of the other parties' obligations under any covenant herein surviving,
and  requiring  performance  after,  the  Closing  in  accordance  with Section 13.19,  (ii)  bring  a  claim  (and,  if  successful,  recover  Losses)  for
Fraud, (iii) bring a claim pursuant to, and in accordance with, the dispute resolution procedures in accordance with Section 2.04, (iv) make a
claim for  indemnification pursuant  to,  and in  accordance with the terms and conditions of, Section 11.03 and Annex I (and, if  successful,
recover  Losses  in  accordance  therewith),  or  (v)  bring  a  claim  under  and  in  accordance  with  the  terms  and  conditions  of  any  Ancillary
Document (and, if successful, recover Losses or obtain specific performance or other relief in accordance therewith).

11.03    Backstop Indemnity.  The Representative (in its capacity as such on behalf of all  of the Sellers,  the Optionholders and the
Phantom Award Recipients) shall indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser and
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each  of  its  Affiliates  (collectively  and,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  including  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  following  the  Closing,
the "Purchaser Indemnified Parties")  in accordance with the requirements,  limitations and other terms and conditions set  forth on Annex I
hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in this Section 11.03 mutatis mutandis.

Article XII 

TAX MATTERS

12.01    Tax Returns;  Allocation  of  Certain  Taxes.  The  Purchaser  shall  be  either  (i)  a  C-corporation  for  U.S.  federal  income Tax
purposes or (ii)  a limited liability company that is wholly owned by a C-corporation for U.S. federal income Tax purposes. The Company
shall prepare or cause to be prepared all Tax Returns for the Company and its Subsidiaries that are required to be filed before the Closing
Date. All such Tax Returns shall be prepared and filed in accordance with past practice of the Company and its Subsidiaries, unless otherwise
required  by  applicable  Law.  The  Company  shall  use  commercially  reasonable  efforts  to  provide  drafts  of  such  income  Tax  Returns  to
Purchaser  for  review  and  comment  at  least  twenty  (20)  days  prior  to  the  due  date  for  filing  such  Tax  Returns  (taking  into  account  any
applicable extensions), and the Company shall consider in good faith any such comments timely provided by Purchaser. If the Company is
permitted, but not required, under applicable non-U.S., state or local income Tax Laws to treat the Closing Date as the last day of a taxable
period, such day shall be treated as the last day of a taxable period. In the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of any Taxes based on or
measured by income, receipts, or payroll of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined based on an
interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the taxable period of any partnership or
other pass-through entity in which the Company or any of its  Subsidiaries holds a beneficial  interest  shall  be deemed to terminate at  such
time) and the amount of other Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries for a Straddle Period that relates to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall
be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire taxable period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in
the  taxable  period  ending  on  the  Closing  Date  and  the  denominator  of  which  is  the  number  of  days  in  such  Straddle  Period;  provided,
however, that any item determined on an annual or periodic basis (such as real or personal property, other ad valorem Taxes or deductions for
depreciation) shall be apportioned on a daily basis.

12.02    Transfer Taxes. At the Closing or, if due thereafter, promptly when due, all gross receipts, transfer Taxes, gains Taxes, real
property  transfer  Taxes,  sales  Taxes,  use  Taxes,  excise  Taxes,  stamp Taxes,  conveyance Taxes  and any other  similar  Taxes  applicable  to,
arising out of or imposed upon the transactions contemplated hereunder, and expenses incurred for the preparation and filing of Tax Returns
related to such amounts ("Transfer Taxes") shall be paid by the Purchaser, and 50% of such amount shall constitute a Transaction Expense.
The Purchaser shall  prepare and timely file  any related Tax Return or other document with respect  to such Transfer Taxes and the parties
shall cooperate in the preparation of such Tax Returns.

12.03    Post-Closing Actions. Purchaser and its Affiliates (including on or after the Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall
not, unless otherwise required pursuant to a "determination" within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code, (a) amend a Tax Return of the
Company or its Subsidiaries for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (b) extend or waive the applicable statute of limitations with respect to a Tax of
the Company or its Subsidiaries for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (c) file any ruling or request with any taxing authority that relates to Taxes or
Tax Returns of the Company or its Subsidiaries for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, or (d) make any Tax election with respect to the Company or
its Subsidiaries (including an election under Section 336 or 338 of the Code or any similar provision of foreign, state or local law) that relates
to,  or  is  retroactive  to,  a  Pre-Closing  Tax  Period,  in  the  case  of  each  of  the  preceding  clauses  (a)  through  (d),  if  any  such  action  could
reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the Sellers (including, for the avoidance of

58



doubt, any impact on the calculation of the Closing Cash Proceeds, or Transaction Tax Deductions), in each case, without the prior written
consent of the Representative, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

12.04    No Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter. The Purchaser shall not take any action or cause any action to be taken with respect
to the Company subsequent to the Closing that would cause the transactions contemplated hereby to constitute part of a transaction that is the
same as, or substantially similar to, the "Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter" described in Internal Revenue Service Notice 2001-16, 2001 1
C.B. 730, and Internal Revenue Service Notice 2008-20 I.R.B. 2008 6 (January 17,  2008),  and Internal Revenue Service Notice 2008-111
I.R.B. 1299 (December 1, 2008).

12.05    Assistance and Cooperation. Purchaser and the Representative shall: (i) assist the other party or parties, as the case may be, in
preparing any Tax Returns  that  such other  party  or  parties,  as  the  case  may be,  is  responsible  for  preparing and filing in  accordance with
Section 12.01, (ii) cooperate fully in responding to any inquiries from or preparing for any audits of, or any disputes with a Governmental
Body regarding, any Taxes or Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries; and (iii) make available to the other party or parties, as the
case may be, as reasonably requested, all information in its possession relating to any Tax matters of the Company and its Subsidiaries that
may  be  relevant  to  any  Tax  Return,  audit  or  examination,  proceeding  or  determination,  as  reasonably  requested  by  Purchaser  or  the
Representative, including all information, records, and documents relating to Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Article XIII 

MISCELLANEOUS

13.01    Press Releases and Communications. No press release or public announcement related to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated herein, or, prior to the Closing, any other announcement or communication (other than by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries
or any of their respective officers, employees and agents in the Ordinary Course of Business) to the employees, customers, suppliers or other
business  relations  of  the  Company or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries,  shall  be  issued  or  made  without  the  joint  approval  of  the  Purchaser  and  the
Representative, unless required by Law (in the reasonable opinion of counsel) in which case the Purchaser and the Representative shall have
the right to review and comment on such press release or announcement prior to publication to the extent reasonably practicable; provided,
that,  notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  (a)  Purchaser  and  its  Affiliates  (including  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries)  may  make  filings  and
disclosures as Purchaser and its Affiliates may reasonably determine is necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable securities Laws
(including  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934)  or  rules  or  requirements  of  the  New  York  Stock  Exchange  or  the  U.S.  Securities  and
Exchange Commission and, in connection with any such filing and disclosure, Purchaser and its Affiliates may make public announcements,
including on investor or earnings calls, consistent in all material respects with such filings and disclosures; provided, that in connection with
any  of  the  foregoing  disclosures,  filings  or  announcements,  the  Representative  shall  have  the  right  to  review  and  comment  on  (which
comments  the  Purchaser  shall  consider  in  good faith)  such disclosure(s),  filing(s)  or  announcement(s)  in  advance to  the  extent  reasonably
practicable, and (b) the Representative shall be entitled to communicate with and may disclose the terms and the existence of this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated herein with reasonable and customary confidentiality restrictions to its direct and indirect equityholders, as
applicable, in order that such Persons may provide information about the subject matter of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
herein with reasonable and customary confidentiality restrictions to their  respective investors and prospective investors in connection with
their fundraising and reporting activities, and the Representative and its Affiliates shall retain the right to disclose the Company's historical
aggregated sales and aggregated earnings information for the period during which the Company was owned by
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the Representative or its Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, each party hereto may make announcements to their respective employees or
other business relations that are not inconsistent in any material respects with the parties' prior public disclosures regarding the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

13.02     Expenses.  Whether  or  not  the  Closing  takes  place,  except  as  otherwise  provided  herein,  all  fees,  costs  and  expenses
(including fees, costs and expenses of legal counsel, investment bankers, brokers or other representatives and consultants and appraisal fees,
costs and expenses, and travel, lodging, entertainment and associated expenses) incurred in connection with the negotiation and performance
of this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (a) by the Company
and its Subsidiaries shall be paid by the Sellers or, prior to the Closing, by the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (b) by the Purchaser shall be
paid by the Purchaser.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Purchaser shall  pay any and all  expenses relating to the R&W
Insurance Policy.

13.03     Notices.  Except  as  otherwise  expressly  provided  herein,  all  notices,  demands  and  other  communications  to  be  given  or
delivered  under  or  by  reason  of  the  provisions  of  this  Agreement  shall  be  in  writing  and  shall  be  deemed  to  have  been  given  (a)  when
personally  delivered,  (b)  when  transmitted  by  electronic  mail  if  the  sender  on  the  same  day  sends  a  confirming  copy  of  such  notice  by  a
recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid), (c) the day following the day (except if not a Business Day, then the next Business
Day)  on  which  the  same  has  been  delivered  prepaid  to  a  reputable  national  overnight  air  courier  service  or  (d)  the  third  Business  Day
following the day on which the same is sent by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, in each case to the respective parties hereto at the
address set forth below, or at such other address as such party may specify by written notice to the other party hereto:

Notices to the Purchaser and, following the Closing, the Company:

Arcosa Materials, Inc. 
500 North Akard Street, Suite 400 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Attention: Mark Elmore 
Email: Mark.Elmore@arcosa.com
StonePoint Materials LLC 
Duane Morris Plaza 
30 South 17th Street, Suite 840 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 
Attention: Colin Oerton, Chief Executive Officer 
Email: caoerton@stonepointmaterials.com
with a copy to:

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP 
200 Crescent Court, Suite 300 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Attention: Richard Frye 
Email: Richard.frye@weil.com
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Notices to the Representative and, prior to the Closing, the Company:

c/o Sun Capital Partners, Inc. 
5200 Town Center Circle, 4th Floor 
Boca Raton, Florida 33486 
Attention: C. Deryl Couch, M. Steven Liff and Daniel Florian 
Email: dcouch@suncappart.com, sliff@suncappart.com and dflorian@sunncappart.com
with a copy to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 
300 North LaSalle Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60654 
Attention: Douglas C. Gessner, P.C., Jeremy S. Liss, P.C., Matthew S. Arenson, P.C., and
Jeffrey P. Swatzell 
Email: douglas.gessner@kirkland.com, jeremy.liss@kirkland.com,
matthew.arenson@kirkland.com, and jeffrey.swatzell@kirkland.com

13.04    Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations
hereunder may be assigned or delegated by either the Purchaser or the Company without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto;
provided, that, at or following the Closing, each of the Purchaser and the Company may assign their respective rights under this Agreement
(a) to their lenders as collateral security for their obligations under any of their secured debt financing arrangements without the consent of
any  other  party  hereto,  (b)  to  the  issuer  of  the  R&W  Insurance  Policy  without  the  consent  of  any  other  party  hereto,  and  (c)  to  any  of
Purchaser's Affiliates.

13.05    Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable Law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable Law, such provision
shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining
provisions of this Agreement.

13.06     Construction.  The  language  used  in  this  Agreement  shall  be  deemed  to  be  the  language  chosen  by  the  parties  hereto  to
express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Person. The parties hereto hereby agree that time is
of  the  essence  with  respect  to  the  performance  of  each  of  the  parties'  obligations  under  this  Agreement.  The  headings  of  the  sections  and
paragraphs of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall in no way restrict or otherwise modify any of
the  terms  or  provisions  hereof.  The  specification  of  any  dollar  amount  or  the  inclusion  of  any  item  in  the  representations  and  warranties
contained in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules or exhibits is not intended to imply that the amounts, or higher or lower amounts, or
the items so included,  or  other  items,  are  or  are  not  required to  be disclosed (including whether  such amounts  or  items are  required to  be
disclosed as material or threatened) or are within or outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, and no party shall use the fact of the setting
of the amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any item in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules, or exhibits in any dispute or controversy
between the parties hereto as to whether any obligation, item or matter not set forth or included in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules,
or exhibits is or is not required to be disclosed (including whether the amount or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened)
or is within or outside of the Ordinary Course of Business for purposes of this Agreement. In addition, matters
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reflected  in  the  Disclosure  Schedules  are  not  necessarily  limited  to  matters  required  by  this  Agreement  to  be  reflected  in  the  Disclosure
Schedules.  Such  additional  matters  are  set  forth  for  informational  purposes  only  and  do  not  necessarily  include  other  matters  of  a  similar
nature.  The Disclosure Schedules have been arranged for  purposes of  convenience in separate sections corresponding to the sections of in
Article IV and Article V; provided, that information disclosed on one section of the Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to be disclosed on
another section of the Disclosure Schedules or be deemed to be an exception to another representation and warranty in Article IV or Article
V,  in  each case,  if  the  relevance of  such information to  such other  section of  the  Disclosure  Schedules  is  reasonably apparent  on its  face.
Capitalized terms used in the Disclosure Schedules and not otherwise defined therein have the meanings given to them in this Agreement.
The  information  contained  in  this  Agreement,  in  the  Disclosure  Schedules,  and  exhibits  hereto  is  disclosed  solely  for  purposes  of  this
Agreement, and no information contained herein or therein shall be deemed to be an admission by any party hereto to any third party of any
matter whatsoever (including any violation of Law or breach of contract).

13.07    Amendment and Waiver. Except as provided herein, any provision of this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules or exhibits
hereto may be amended or waived only in a writing signed by the Purchaser, the Company, the Sellers and the Representative. No waiver of
any  provision  hereunder  or  any  breach  or  default  thereof  shall  extend  to  or  affect  in  any  way  any  other  provision  or  prior  or  subsequent
breach or default.

13.08     Complete Agreement.  This  Agreement,  the  Ancillary  Documents,  and  the  other  agreements,  instruments,  and  documents
contemplated  hereby  or  thereby  or  executed  in  connection  herewith  or  therewith  (including  the  Confidentiality  Agreement)  contain  the
complete  agreement  between  the  parties  hereto  and  supersede  any  prior  understandings,  agreements  or  representations  by  or  between  the
parties hereto, written or oral, which may have related to the subject matter hereof in any way, including any letter of intent. In the event an
ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises with respect to this Agreement, the terms and provisions of the execution version of
this Agreement will control and prior drafts of this Agreement and the documents referenced herein will not be considered or analyzed for
any purpose (including in support of parol evidence proffered by any Person in connection with this Agreement) and will be deemed not to
provide any evidence as to the meaning of the provisions hereof or the intent of the parties hereto.

13.09    Third Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Agreement are intended for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by the
Representative for the benefit of, the Sellers, and the Representative shall have the right, but not the obligation, to enforce any obligations of
the Purchaser under this Agreement for the benefit of the Sellers. Section 8.02 shall be enforceable by each of the current and former officers,
directors  or  similar  functionaries  of  the  Company and its  Subsidiaries  and his  or  her  heirs  and representatives,  and Section 13.15 shall  be
enforceable  by  K&E  LLP. Section  7.04 shall  be  enforceable  by  each  Releasee.  Except  as  otherwise  expressly  provided  herein,  nothing
expressed or referred to in this Agreement will be construed to give any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim under or with respect to this
Agreement or any provision of this Agreement to any Person other than (i) the parties to this Agreement, (ii) for purposes of Section 8.02,
each  of  the  current  and  former  officers,  directors  or  similar  functionaries  of  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries  and  his  or  her  heirs  and
representatives, (iii) for purposes of Section 10.04, each Releasee, and (iv) for purposes of Section 13.15, K&E LLP.

13.10    Counterparts. This Agreement and any signed agreement or instrument entered into in connection with this Agreement, and
any  amendments  hereto  or  thereto,  may  be  executed  in  two  (2)  or  more  counterparts,  all  of  which  shall  constitute  one  and  the  same
instrument. Any such counterpart, to the extent delivered by .pdf, .tif, .gif, .jpeg or similar attachment to electronic mail (any such delivery,
an "Electronic Delivery") shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original executed counterpart and shall be considered to have the
same binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. At the request of any party hereto, each other
party hereto or to any signed agreement or instrument
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entered into in connection with this Agreement, or any amendments hereto or thereto, shall re-execute the original form of this Agreement, or
the applicable signed agreement, instrument or amendment, and deliver such form to all other parties hereto or thereto. No party hereto shall
raise  the  use  of  Electronic  Delivery  to  deliver  a  signature  or  the  fact  that  any  signature  or  agreement  or  instrument  was  transmitted  or
communicated through the use of Electronic Delivery as a defense to the formation of a contract, and each such party forever waives any such
defense, except to the extent such defense relates to lack of authenticity. Minor variations in the form of the signature page, including footers
from earlier versions of this Agreement or any such other document, will be disregarded in determining a party's intent or the effectiveness of
such signature.

13.11     GOVERNING  LAW;  CHOICE  OF  LAW.  ALL  ISSUES  AND  QUESTIONS  CONCERNING  THE  CONSTRUCTION,
VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SCHEDULES ATTACHED HERETO
AND THE PERFORMANCE OF THE OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED HEREUNDER SHALL BE INTERPRETED AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE  WITH  THE  LAWS  OF  THE  STATE  OF  DELAWARE.  ANY  AND  ALL  ACTIONS  AND  CAUSES  OF  ACTION
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR STATUTE, SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, INCLUDING ITS STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS (EXCEPT AS
OTHERWISE  EXPRESSLY  SET  FORTH  HEREIN),  WITHOUT  GIVING  EFFECT  TO  ANY  CHOICE  OF  LAW  OR  CONFLICT  OF
LAW RULES OR PROVISIONS (WHETHER OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION) THAT WOULD
RESULT  IN  THE  APPLICATION  OF  THE  LAWS  OR  STATUTE  OF  LIMITATIONS  OF  A  JURISDICTION  OTHER  THAN  THE
STATE OF DELAWARE.

13.12    Arbitration; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.

(a)    Except for disputes, controversies or claims arising under Section 2.04 (which will be resolved in accordance with the
dispute resolution provisions set forth therein), for other claims seeking injunctive relief (for which the provisions of Section 13.19 will be
applicable) or as otherwise explicitly set forth in an Ancillary Document, all disputes, controversies or claims arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (whether in contract, tort, equity or otherwise), including the arbitrability of any dispute
or  controversy  that  cannot  be  settled  by  mutual  agreement  will  be  finally  settled  by  binding  arbitration  appointed  in  accordance  with  the
JAMS Comprehensive Arbitration Rules & Procedures ("JAMS") and this Section 13.12. Any party hereto aggrieved will deliver a notice to
the other party setting forth the specific points in dispute. Any points remaining in dispute twenty (20) days after the giving of such notice
may, upon ten (10) days' notice to the other party, be submitted to JAMS arbitration conducted before a panel of three (3) arbitrators in New
York, New York (provided, that if the arbitrators determine in their reasonable discretion that an arbitration cannot be conducted in-person in
such location due to COVID-19 Measures or otherwise without jeopardizing the health and safety of the parties or the arbitrators, then the
arbitration may be conducted either in an alternative location or via telephonic or video conference, as determined by the arbitrators in their
reasonable discretion). The Purchaser and the Representative will each appoint one (1) arbitrator (the "Party-Appointed Arbitrators") and the
Party-Appointed  Arbitrators  will  appoint  the  third  and  presiding  arbitrator  within  fourteen  (14)  days  of  the  appointment  of  the  second
arbitrator; provided, that, any arbitrator not timely appointed herein will be appointed in accordance with the JAMS upon the written demand
of  any  party  to  the  dispute.  The  arbitrators  may  enter  a  default  decision  against  any  party  that  fails  to  participate  in  the  arbitration
proceedings.

(b)    The decision of the arbitrators on the points in dispute will  be final,  unappealable and binding, and judgment on the
award  may  be  entered  in  any  court  having  jurisdiction  thereof.  The  arbitrators  will  only  be  authorized  to  interpret  the  provisions  of  this
Agreement, and will not amend, change or add to any such provisions. The parties hereto agree that this provision has been adopted by the
parties to rapidly and
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inexpensively resolve any disputes between them and that this provision will be grounds for dismissal of any court action commenced by any
party  with  respect  to  this  Agreement  (other  than  disputes,  controversies  or  claims  arising  under Section  2.04 (which  will  be  resolved  in
accordance  with  the  dispute  resolution  provisions  set  forth  therein)  or  other  claims  seeking  injunctive  relief  (for  which  the  provisions  of
Section 13.19 will be applicable)). In the event that any court determines that this arbitration procedure is not binding, or otherwise allows
any litigation regarding a dispute, claim, or controversy covered by this Agreement to proceed, the parties hereto hereby waive any and all
right to a trial by jury in or with respect to such litigation.

(c)     The  parties  hereto  and  the  arbitrators  will  keep  confidential,  and  will  not  disclose  to  any  person,  except  the  parties'
advisors and legal representatives, or as may be required by law, the existence of any controversy under this Section 13.12, the referral of any
such controversy to arbitration or the status or resolution thereof.

(d)     The  parties  hereto  may  seek  any  interim  or  conservatory  relief,  including  an  injunction  or  injunctions  to  prevent
breaches  of  this  Agreement  in  the  Court  of  Chancery  of  the  State  of  Delaware; provided, however,  that  if  such  court  does  not  have
jurisdiction over any such action or Proceeding, such action or Proceeding will be heard and determined exclusively in any Delaware state or
federal court sitting in the City of Wilmington, Delaware, this being in addition to any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or
in  equity.  The  application  of  a  party  to  an  above-mentioned  judicial  authority  for  such  measures  or  for  the  implementation  of  any  such
measures ordered by an arbitral tribunal will not be deemed to be an infringement or a waiver of this Section 13.12 and will not affect the
relevant powers reserved to the arbitral tribunal.

(e)    Each party hereby irrevocably consents to the service of process by registered mail or personal service.

(f)     EACH  OF  THE  PARTIES  HERETO  HEREBY  IRREVOCABLY  WAIVES,  TO  THE  FULLEST  EXTENT
PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING (I) ARISING UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT OR (II) IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES
HERETO  IN  RESPECT  OF  THIS  AGREEMENT  OR  ANY  OF  THE  TRANSACTIONS  RELATED  HERETO,  IN  EACH  CASE
WHETHER  NOW  EXISTING  OR  HEREAFTER  ARISING,  AND  WHETHER  IN  CONTRACT,  TORT,  EQUITY,  OR  OTHERWISE
(INCLUDING, FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, ANY SEEKING EQUITABLE RELIEF).

13.13    Prevailing Party.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.04,  in any dispute arising out of or related to this Agreement
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any dispute arbitrated under Section 13.12), any of the exhibits or schedules hereto, or any agreement,
document,  instrument  or  certificate  contemplated  hereby,  or  any  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  thereby,  the  applicable  adjudicating
body shall award to the prevailing party, if any, the costs and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred by the prevailing party in connection with
the  dispute  and  the  enforcement  of  its  rights  under  this  Agreement,  any  of  the  exhibits  or  schedules  hereto,  or  any  agreement,  document,
instrument or certificate contemplated hereby and, if the adjudicating body determines a party to be the prevailing party under circumstances
where the prevailing party won on some but not all of the claims and counterclaims, the adjudicating body may award the prevailing party an
appropriate percentage of the costs and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred by the prevailing party in connection with the adjudication and the
enforcement of its rights under this Agreement, any of the exhibits or schedules hereto, or any agreement, document, instrument or certificate
contemplated hereby or thereby.

13.14    Representative.
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(a)    Effective upon the execution of this Agreement,  and without any further act  of any Seller,  Optionholder or Phantom
Award Recipient, the Representative is hereby irrevocably appointed as the representative, agent, proxy, and attorney in fact (coupled with an
interest)  for  all  Sellers,  Optionholders and Phantom Award Recipients for  all  purposes under this  Agreement including the full  power and
authority  on  the  Sellers',  Optionholders'  and  Phantom  Award  Recipients'  behalf,  as  applicable:  (i)  to  consummate  the  transactions
contemplated under this Agreement and the other agreements,  instruments,  and documents contemplated hereby or executed in connection
herewith,  (ii)  to  negotiate  claims  and  disputes  arising  under,  or  relating  to,  this  Agreement  and  the  other  agreements,  instruments,  and
documents  contemplated  hereby or  executed  in  connection  herewith  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  the  adjustment  of  the  Closing
Cash Proceeds contemplated by Section 2.04 or the indemnification provided pursuant to Section 11.03 and Annex I),  (iii)  to  receive and
disburse to, or caused to be received or disbursed to, any Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient any funds received on behalf of
such  Seller,  Optionholder  or  Phantom  Award  Recipient  under  this  Agreement  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  any  portion  of  the
Enterprise Value) or otherwise, (iv) to withhold any amounts received on behalf of any Seller,  Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient
pursuant to this Agreement or to satisfy any and all obligations or liabilities of any Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient or the
Representative in the performance of any of their commitments hereunder (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the satisfaction of payment
obligations (on behalf of the Sellers, the Optionholders or the Phantom Award Recipients) in connection with the adjustment of the Closing
Cash Proceeds contemplated by Section 2.04 or  the  indemnification  provided  pursuant  to Section 11.03 and Annex I),  (v)  to  execute  and
deliver any amendment or waiver to this Agreement and the other agreements, instruments, and documents contemplated hereby or executed
in connection herewith (without the prior approval of any Seller), (vi) to receive and disburse to, or cause to be received or disbursed to, any
individual  any  funds  received  on  behalf  of  such  individual  pursuant  to  any  incentive  compensation  agreement  providing  for  a  transaction
bonus, in effect as of the Closing and (vii) to take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of any Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award
Recipient  in  connection  with  this  Agreement  and  the  other  agreements,  instruments,  and  documents  contemplated  hereby  or  executed  in
connection herewith. Such agency and proxy are coupled with an interest, are therefore irrevocable without the consent of the Representative
and shall survive the death, incapacity, bankruptcy, dissolution or liquidation of each Seller, Optionholder and Phantom Award Recipient. All
decisions and actions by the Representative shall be binding upon each Seller, Optionholder and Phantom Award Recipient, and no Seller,
Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient shall have the right to object, dissent, protest or otherwise contest the same. The Representative
shall have no duties or obligations hereunder, including any fiduciary duties, except those set forth herein, and such duties and obligations
shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Agreement.

(b)    Effective upon the execution of this Agreement,  and without any further act of any Seller,  Optionholder or Phantom
Award  Recipient,  the  Representative  and  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  shall  be  indemnified,  held  harmless  and  reimbursed  by  each  Seller,
Optionholder and Phantom Award Recipient severally (based on the relative portion of proceeds received by each Seller, Optionholder and
Phantom Award Recipient hereunder), and not jointly, against all costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and
amounts  paid  or  incurred  by  the  Representative  and  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  in  connection  with  any  claim,  action,  suit  or  Proceeding  to
which the Representative or such other Person is made a party by reason of the fact that it is or was acting as the Representative pursuant to
the  terms  of  this  Agreement  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  the  satisfaction  of  payment  obligations  (on  behalf  of  the  Sellers,
Optionholders  and  Phantom  Award  Recipients)  in  connection  with  the  adjustment  of  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  contemplated  by
Section  2.04 or  the  indemnification  provided  pursuant  to Section 11.03 and Annex  I).  Any  and  all  amounts  paid  or  incurred  by  the
Representative and its  Non-Recourse Parties  in connection with any claim,  action,  suit  or  Proceeding to which the Representative or  such
other Person is made a party by reason of the fact that it is or was acting as the Representative pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are on
behalf of
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the Sellers, Optionholders and Phantom Award Recipients, as applicable (and, not for the avoidance, on behalf of the Representative in any
other capacity, as a Seller or otherwise).

(c)    Neither the Representative nor any of its Non-Recourse Parties shall incur any Liability to any Seller, Optionholder or
Phantom  Award  Recipient  by  virtue  of  the  failure  or  refusal  of  the  Representative  or  any  of  its  Non-Recourse  Parties  for  any  reason  to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or relating to the performance of their duties hereunder. The Representative and its Non-
Recourse  Parties  shall  have  no  Liability  in  respect  of  any  action,  claim  or  Proceeding  brought  against  any  such  Person  by  any  Seller,
Optionholder  or  Phantom  Award  Recipient,  regardless  of  the  legal  theory  under  which  such  Liability  or  obligation  may  be  sought  to  be
imposed, whether sounding in contract or tort,  or whether at law or in equity, or otherwise, if  any such Person took or omitted taking any
action in good faith.

(d)    If the Representative pays or causes to be paid any amounts (on behalf of the Sellers, Optionholders or Phantom Award
Recipients)  in  connection  with  any  obligation  or  Liability  of  a  Seller,  Optionholder  or  Phantom  Award  Recipient  in  connection  with  the
transactions  contemplated  hereby  (including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  the  adjustment  of  the  Closing  Cash  Proceeds  contemplated  by
Section 2.04 or the indemnification provided pursuant to Section 11.03 and Annex I), any such payments and the reasonable expenses of the
Representative incurred in administering or defending the underlying dispute or claim may be reimbursed, when and as incurred, from the
Representative  Holdback  Amount  (and,  if  not  so  reimbursed  from  the  Representative  Holdback  Amount,  the  Representative  shall  be
indemnified,  held  harmless  and  reimbursed  by  each  Seller,  Optionholder  and  Phantom  Award  Recipient  severally  (based  on  the  relative
portion of proceeds received by each Seller, Optionholder and Phantom Award Recipient hereunder), and not jointly for such amount(s)). The
Representative may, in its sole and absolute discretion, distribute, or caused to be distributed, any or all of the funds received or held by it on
behalf of the Sellers, Optionholders or Phantom Award Recipients to one or more Sellers, Optionholders or Phantom Award Recipients at any
time  after  the  Closing  Date,  which  such  distribution(s)  of  funds  may  be  different  (i.e.,  with  respect  to  amount,  timing,  conditionality  or
otherwise)  for  each  Seller,  Optionholder  or  Phantom  Award  Recipient.  Upon  full  reimbursement  of  all  expenses,  costs,  obligations  or
liabilities  incurred  by  the  Representative  in  the  performance  of  its  duties  hereunder,  the  Representative  shall  distribute,  or  caused  to  be
distributed, all remaining funds held by it on behalf of the Sellers, Optionholders or Phantom Award Recipients to the Sellers, Optionholders
or Phantom Award Recipients, as applicable.

(e)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Representative and its Affiliates shall not be liable to any
Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient for any action taken or not taken by the Representative or for any act or omission taken or
not taken in reliance upon the actions taken or not taken or decisions, communications or writings made, given or executed by the Purchaser.

(f)     All  references  to  the  "Representative"  herein  mean  such  Person  in  its  capacity  as  representative  of  the  Sellers,
Optionholders and Phantom Award Recipients and not, for the avoidance of doubt, in any other capacity, as a Seller or otherwise.

(g)    Except as may have been expressly and specifically agreed to in writing by a Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award
Recipient,  on  the  one  hand,  and  Kirkland  &  Ellis  LLP  ("K&E LLP"),  on  the  other  hand,  and  except  for  the  Representative,  Sun  Capital
Partners, Inc. and their respective Affiliates (i) K&E LLP has not and is not representing, and shall not be deemed to have represented any
Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) K&E LLP has not and is
not providing any advice or counsel (including legal advice or counsel), and shall not be deemed to have provided counsel or advice, to any
Seller, Optionholder or Phantom Award Recipient in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Seller, Optionholder and
Phantom Award Recipient agrees that K&E
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LLP  may  represent  the  Representative,  Sun  Capital  Partners,  Inc.  and  their  respective  Affiliates  in  any  matter  related  to  the  transaction
completed hereby including matters which maybe adverse to such Persons and, in furtherance thereof, each Seller, Optionholder and Phantom
Award Recipient  consents  to,  and waives,  without  limitation,  restriction or  condition of  any kind,  any actual  or  potential  conflict  or  other
actual or potential objection with respect to K&E LLP's representation of the Representative, Sun Capital Partners, Inc. and their respective
Affiliates in any matter related to the transaction completed hereby.

(h)    Purchaser and its Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries following the Closing) have the right to rely,
without  independent  investigation  upon  all  actions  taken  or  omitted  to  be  taken  by  the  Representative  pursuant  to  this  Agreement,  all  of
which  actions  or  omissions  shall  be  legally  binding  upon  the  Sellers,  Optionholders  and  Phantom  Award  Recipients.  Purchaser  and  its
Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall be fully protected in dealing with the Representative under this Agreement
and  the  Ancillary  Documents  and  may  rely  upon  the  authority  of  the  Representative  to  act  on  behalf  of  the  Sellers,  Optionholders  and
Phantom  Award  Recipients.  Any  payment  by  Purchaser  and  its  Subsidiaries  (including  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries)  to  the
Representative  to  the  extent  authorized under  and in  compliance with  this  Agreement  shall  be  considered a  payment  by Purchaser  and its
Subsidiaries  (including  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries)  to  the  Sellers,  Optionholders  or  Phantom Award  Recipients,  as  applicable,  and
Purchaser and its Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall have no Liability to any Seller, Optionholder or Phantom
Award Recipient for any payments so made.

13.15    Legal Representation. Following consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the Company's and its Subsidiaries'
current and former legal counsel (including K&E LLP and Klehr Harrison Harvey Branzburg LLP) (each, "Company Counsel") may serve as
counsel to each and any of the Representative, the Sellers and their respective Non-Recourse Parties, in connection with any litigation, claim
or  obligation  arising  out  of  or  relating  to  this  Agreement  or  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  notwithstanding  such
representation or any continued representation of any other Person (including the Representative and its Affiliates), and each of the parties
hereto (on behalf of itself and each of its Non-Recourse Parties) consents thereto and waives any conflict of interest arising therefrom. The
decision  to  represent  any  of  the  Representative,  the  Sellers  and  their  respective  Non-Recourse  Parties  shall  be  solely  that  of  any  such
Company Counsel. Any attorney-client privilege, work product protection or expectation of confidentiality arising out of or as a result of any
Company Counsel's representing of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in any matter relating in any way to the Representative and its
Affiliates or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, the "Privileges") shall survive the Closing and
shall remain in full force and effect; provided, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any Company Document,
the Privileges and all information, data, documents or communications, in any format and by whomever possessed, covered by or subject to
any of the Privileges (collectively, "Privileged Materials") shall, from and after the Closing, automatically be assigned and exclusively belong
to,  and  be  controlled  by,  the  Representative.  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  as  to  any Privileged Materials,  the  Purchaser  and the  Company,
together  with  any  of  their  respective  Affiliates,  successors  or  assigns,  agree  that  no  such  party  may  use  or  rely  on  any  of  the  Privileged
Materials  in  any  action  or  claim  against  or  involving  any  of  the  parties  hereto  or  any  of  their  respective  Non-Recourse  Parties  after  the
Closing, and the Representative and its Affiliates shall have the right to assert any of the Privileges against the Company and its Subsidiaries.
The Purchaser further agrees that, on its own behalf and on behalf of its Subsidiaries (including, following the Closing, the Company), any
Company Counsel's retention by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be deemed completed and terminated without any further action
by  any  Person  effective  as  of  the  Closing.  The  Company  shall  cause  each  of  its  future  direct  and  indirect  Subsidiaries  and  its  and  their
successors and assigns that are not signatories to this Agreement to fulfill and comply with the terms of this Section 13.15 and take any and
all  other steps necessary to effect  the agreements in this Section 13.15.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else to the contrary set
forth herein, in the event that a dispute (including with respect to this Agreement or any of the
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Ancillary Documents) arises between the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries (including the Company and its Subsidiaries), on the one hand,
and a third party (including, for the avoidance of doubt, a Governmental Body) other than a Seller or their respective Non-Recourse Parties,
on  the  other  hand,  the  Purchaser  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  (including  the  Company  and  its  Subsidiaries),  as  applicable,  may  assert  the
attorney-client  privilege  with  respect  to  Privileged Materials  to  prevent  disclosure  of  confidential  communications  to  such  third  party  and
such Privileged Materials shall be deemed to belong, and be controlled by, the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries (including the Company
and its Subsidiaries) for such limited purpose.

13.16    Non-Recourse Parties.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement or otherwise, the parties to this Agreement agree
that  no  Non-Recourse  Party  of  a  party  to  this  Agreement  shall  have  any  Liability  relating  to  this  Agreement  or  any  of  the  transactions
contemplated herein except to the extent agreed to in writing by such Non-Recourse Party.

13.17    Deliveries to the Purchaser. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that all documents or other items uploaded and made
available in the online "data room" established by CapLinked for "Project Sapphire" on or before the date that is one (1) Business Day prior
to the date hereof shall be deemed to have been delivered, provided or made available to the Purchaser or its representatives for all purposes
hereunder.

13.18     Conflict  Between  Transaction  Documents.  The  parties  hereto  agree  and  acknowledge  that  to  the  extent  any  terms  and
provisions of this Agreement are in any way inconsistent with or in conflict with any term, condition or provision of any other agreement,
document or instrument contemplated hereby, this Agreement shall govern and control.

13.19    Specific Performance.

(a)    The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement
were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, and that money damages or legal remedies would not
be an adequate remedy for any such damages. Therefore, it is accordingly agreed that each party shall be entitled to enforce specifically the
terms  and  provisions  of  this  Agreement,  or  to  enforce  compliance  with,  the  covenants  and  obligations  of  any  other  party,  in  any  court  of
competent jurisdiction, and appropriate injunctive relief shall be granted in connection therewith. Any party seeking an injunction, a decree or
order of specific performance shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection therewith and any such remedy shall
be in addition and not in substitution for any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or in equity.

(b)    If, before the Outside Date, any party hereto brings any action to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and
provisions  hereof  by  any  other  party,  then  the  Outside  Date  will  automatically  be  extended  (i)  for  the  period  during  which  such  action  is
pending  and  until  such  action  has  been  finally  resolved  by  a  non-appealable  ruling  by  an  arbitrator  or  court  of  competent  jurisdiction  in
accordance  with  the  terms  hereof, plus ten  (10)  Business  Days,  or  (ii)  by  such  greater  time  period  established  by  the  court  or  arbitrator
presiding over such action, as the case may be.

13.20    Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute the parties hereto as joint venturers, alter
egos,  partners  or  participants  in  an  unincorporated  business  or  other  separate  entity,  nor,  except  as  expressly  and  specifically  set  forth  in
Section 13.14, in any manner create any principal-agent, fiduciary or other special relationship between the parties hereto. No party shall have
any duties (including fiduciary duties) towards any other party hereto except as specifically set forth herein.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Unit Purchase Agreement on the date first above written.

The Company:

STONEPOINT ULTIMATE HOLDING, LLC

By:        /s/ Colin Oerton                 
Name:    Colin Oerton 
Its:    Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Unit Purchase Agreement]



The Purchaser:

ARCOSA MATERIALS, INC.

By:        /s/ Reid S. Essl                 
Name:    Reid S. Essl 
Its:    Chairman and President    

[Signature Page to Unit Purchase Agreement]



The Sellers:

SUN STONEPOINT AGGREGATOR, LP
in its capacity as a Seller and as the Representative

By:    Sun StonePoint Aggregator GP, LLC 
Its:    General Partner

By:        /s/ Mark Hajduch             
Name:    Mark Hajduch 
Its:    Vice President & Assistant Secretary

    

[Signature Page to Unit Purchase Agreement]



NICK CODER

    /s/ Nick Coder                 

CARL DAVIS

    /s/ Carl Davis                 

PERRY DONAHOO

    /s/ Perry Donahoo             

SEAN MCGRATH

    /s/ Sean McGrath             

ROB VAN TIL

    /s/ Rob Van Til                 

COLIN OERTON

    /s/ Colin Oerton                

[Signature Page to Unit Purchase Agreement]



Exhibit 10.1
Execution Version

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO.  1  TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this  “Amendment”) is
made  as  of  March  26,  2021,  by  and  among  ARCOSA,  INC.,  a  Delaware  corporation  (the  “Borrower”),  the  lenders  listed  on  the
signature pages hereof (the “Lenders”), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent
(in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 2,
2020, by and among the Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and the Administrative Agent (as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined
herein shall have the meaning given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent are parties to the Credit Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement
on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the requisite number of Lenders have agreed to amend the
Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein in accordance with Section 9.02 of the Credit Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto have agreed
to the following:

Section 1.    Amendments to the Credit Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section
2 below, on the Amendment Effective Date (as defined below), the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a)     Section  1.01  of  the  Credit  Agreement  is  hereby  amended  by  inserting  the  following  defined  terms  in  appropriate
alphabetical order:

    “Payment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8.06(c)(i).

    “Payment Notice” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8.06(c)(ii).

(b)    Section 6.09 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (a) inserting a comma immediately after the word “thereof”
appearing  at  the  end  of  clause  (v)  therein,  (b)  deleting  the  word  “and”  appearing  immediately  before  clause  (vi)  therein,  and  (c)
inserting a new clause (vii) as follows:



“and  (vii)  the  foregoing  shall  not  apply  to  restrictions  and  conditions  imposed  by  any  agreement  relating  to  other
Indebtedness  permitted  under  this  Agreement  so  long  as  such  restrictions  and  conditions  are  not  more  onerous  for  the
Borrower and the Subsidiaries than the restrictions and conditions contained in the Loan Documents.”

(c)    Section 8.06 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting a new clause (c) as follows:

(c) (i) Each Lender hereby agrees that (x) if the Administrative Agent notifies such Lender that the Administrative Agent has
determined  in  its  sole  discretion  that  any  funds  received  by  such  Lender  from  the  Administrative  Agent  or  any  of  its
Affiliates  (whether  as  a  payment,  prepayment  or  repayment  of  principal,  interest,  fees  or  otherwise;  individually  and
collectively,  a  “Payment”)  were  erroneously  transmitted  to  such  Lender  (whether  or  not  known  to  such  Lender),  and
demands  the  return  of  such  Payment  (or  a  portion  thereof),  such  Lender  shall  promptly,  but  in  no  event  later  than  one
Business Day thereafter, return to the Administrative Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which
such a demand was made in same day funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date
such Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Lender to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent
at the greater of the NYFRB Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry
rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect, and (y) to the extent permitted by applicable law, such Lender
shall  not assert,  and hereby waives,  as to the Administrative Agent,  any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or
recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Administrative Agent for the return of any Payments
received,  including  without  limitation  any defense  based on “discharge  for  value”  or  any similar  doctrine.  A notice  of  the
Administrative Agent to any Lender under this Section 8.06(c) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(ii) Each Lender hereby further agrees that if it receives a Payment from the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates (x)
that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of payment sent by the Administrative
Agent  (or  any  of  its  Affiliates)  with  respect  to  such  Payment  (a  “Payment  Notice”)  or  (y)  that  was  not  preceded  or
accompanied by a Payment Notice, it shall be on notice, in each such case, that an error has been made with respect to such
Payment. Each Lender agrees that, in each such case, or if it otherwise becomes aware a Payment (or portion thereof) may
have been sent in error, such Lender shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent of such occurrence and, upon demand
from  the  Administrative  Agent,  it  shall  promptly,  but  in  no  event  later  than  one  Business  Day  thereafter,  return  to  the
Administrative Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same day
funds,  together  with interest  thereon in respect  of  each day from and including the date such Payment  (or  portion thereof)
was received by such Lender to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent at the greater of the NYFRB Rate
and  a  rate  determined  by  the  Administrative  Agent  in  accordance  with  banking  industry  rules  on  interbank  compensation
from time to time in effect.
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(iii) The Borrower and each other Loan Party hereby agrees that (x) in the event an erroneous Payment (or portion thereof)
are not  recovered from any Lender  that  has received such Payment  (or  portion thereof)  for  any reason,  the Administrative
Agent shall be subrogated to all the rights of such Lender with respect to such amount and (y) an erroneous Payment shall not
pay, prepay, repay, discharge or otherwise satisfy any Obligations owed by the Borrower or any other Loan Party.

(iv)  Each  party’s  obligations  under  this  Section  8.06(c)  shall  survive  the  resignation  or  replacement  of  the  Administrative
Agent or any transfer of rights or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments or the
repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all Obligations under any Loan Document.

Section  2.     Amendment  Effective  Date;  Conditions  Precedent.  This  Amendment  shall  become  effective  on  the  date  on
which the following conditions have been satisfied or waived (the “Amendment Effective Date”):

(a)     the  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received  a  counterpart  of  this  Amendment  executed  by  the  Borrower,  the
Administrative Agent and each of the Required Lenders;

(b)    the representations and warranties contained in Section 3 hereof shall be true and correct; and

(c)    the Administrative Agent shall have received such other documents, instruments and agreements as the Administrative
Agent shall reasonably request.

Section 3.    Representations and Warranties and Reaffirmations of the Borrower.

(a)    The Borrower hereby represents and warrants that (i) this Amendment and the Credit Agreement as previously executed
and as modified hereby constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower and are enforceable against the Borrower in
accordance  with  their  terms,  subject  to  applicable  bankruptcy,  insolvency,  reorganization,  moratorium  or  other  laws  affecting
creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at
law, and (ii) at the time of and immediately after giving effect to this Amendment on the Amendment Effective Date, no Default or
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

(b)    The Borrower hereby represents and warrants that the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the
Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifiers set forth therein) on
and as of the Amendment Effective Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier
date,  in  which  case  they  are  true  and  correct  in  all  material  respects  (or,  in  the  case  of  any  representation  or  warranty  already
qualified  by  materially,  in  any  respect)  as  of  such  earlier  date,  and  except  that  the  representations  and  warranties  contained  in
Sections 3.04(a)(i) and (a)(ii) of the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the most recent statements furnished pursuant to
Sections 5.01(a) and (b) of the Credit Agreement, respectively.
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(c)    Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment and after giving effect hereto, the Borrower hereby reaffirms all covenants,
representations and warranties made in the Credit Agreement as modified hereby, and agrees that all such covenants, representations
and  warranties  shall  be  deemed  to  have  been  remade  as  of  the  Amendment  Effective  Date,  except  that  any  such  covenant,
representation, or warranty that was made as of a specific date shall be considered reaffirmed only as of such date.

Section 4.    Reference to the Effect on the Credit Agreement.

(a)     Upon  the  effectiveness  of Section  1 hereof,  on  and  after  the  date  hereof,  each  reference  in  the  Credit  Agreement
(including  any  reference  therein  to  “this  Credit  Agreement,”  “this  Agreement,”  “hereunder,”  “hereof,”  “herein”  or  words  of  like
import referring thereto) or in any other Loan Document shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as modified hereby.

(b)     Except  as  specifically  modified  above,  the  Credit  Agreement  and  all  other  documents,  instruments  and  agreements
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c)     The  execution,  delivery  and  effectiveness  of  this  Amendment  shall  not  operate  as  a  waiver  of  any  right,  power  or
remedy of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other
documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith.

(d)    Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2 hereof and the execution hereof by the Borrower, the Lenders
and the Administrative Agent, this Amendment shall be binding upon all parties to the Credit Agreement.

(e)    This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document.

Section  5.     GOVERNING  LAW.  THIS  AMENDMENT  SHALL  BE  CONSTRUED  IN  ACCORDANCE  WITH  AND
GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Section 6.    Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall
not constitute a part of this Amendment for any other purpose.

Section 7.     Counterparts.  This  Amendment  may be executed  in  counterparts  (and by different  parties  hereto  on different
counterparts),  each  of  which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but  all  of  which  when  taken  together  shall  constitute  a  single  contract.
Delivery of  an executed counterpart  of  a  signature  page of  this  Amendment  by telecopy,  e-mailed .pdf  or  any other  electronic  means that
reproduces  an  image  of  the  actual  executed  signature  page  shall  be  effective  as  delivery  of  a  manually  executed  counterpart  of  this
Amendment.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

ARCOSA, INC., 
as the Borrower

By        /s/ Gail M. Peck     
Name:     Gail M. Peck 
Title:     Senior Vice President, Finance and Treasurer

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., individually as a Lender, as the Swingline Lender,
as an Issuing Bank and as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Kody J. Nerios     
Name: Kody J. Nerios     
Title: Authorized Officer    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Kara Treiber     
Name: Kara Treiber     
Title: Director    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Allison W. Connally     
Name: Allison W. Connally     
Title: Senior Vice President    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



TRUIST BANK,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Johnetta Bush     
Name: Johnetta Bush     
Title: Director    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Jonathan F. Lindvall     
Name: Jonathan F. Lindvall     
Title: Senior Vice President    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



BOKF, NA DBA BANK OF TEXAS, 
as a Lender

By: /s/ Mike Meredith     
Name: Mike Meredith     
Title: SVP    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Lender

By: /s/ R. Ruining Nguyen     
Name: R. Ruining Nguyen     
Title: Senior Vice President    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



ZIONS BANCORPORATION, N.A. DBA AMEGY BANK,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Kathy Magee     
Name: Kathy Magee     
Title: SVP    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Arcosa, Inc.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Antonio Carrillo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Arcosa, Inc.;

2. Based  on  my  knowledge,  this  report  does  not  contain  any  untrue  statement  of  a  material  fact  or  omit  to  state  a  material  fact  necessary  to  make  the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based  on  my  knowledge,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  financial  information  included  in  this  report,  fairly  present  in  all  material  respects  the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The  registrant’s  other  certifying  officer(s)  and  I  are  responsible  for  establishing  and  maintaining  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  (as  defined  in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that  material  information relating to the registrant,  including its  consolidated subsidiaries,  is  made known to us by others  within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant’s  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  and  presented  in  this  report  our  conclusions  about  the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal  quarter  (the  registrant’s  fourth  fiscal  quarter  in  the  case  of  an  annual  report)  that  has  materially  affected,  or  is  reasonably  likely  to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s  other certifying officer(s)  and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal  control  over financial  reporting,  to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2021

/s/ Antonio Carrillo

Antonio Carrillo
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Scott C. Beasley, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Arcosa, Inc.;

2. Based  on  my  knowledge,  this  report  does  not  contain  any  untrue  statement  of  a  material  fact  or  omit  to  state  a  material  fact  necessary  to  make  the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based  on  my  knowledge,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  financial  information  included  in  this  report,  fairly  present  in  all  material  respects  the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The  registrant’s  other  certifying  officer(s)  and  I  are  responsible  for  establishing  and  maintaining  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  (as  defined  in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that  material  information relating to the registrant,  including its  consolidated subsidiaries,  is  made known to us by others  within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant’s  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  and  presented  in  this  report  our  conclusions  about  the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal  quarter  (the  registrant’s  fourth  fiscal  quarter  in  the  case  of  an  annual  report)  that  has  materially  affected,  or  is  reasonably  likely  to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s  other certifying officer(s)  and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal  control  over financial  reporting,  to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2021

/s/ Scott C. Beasley

Scott C. Beasley
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In  connection  with  the  Quarterly  Report  of  Arcosa,  Inc.  (the  “Company”)  on Form 10-Q for  the  period ended March 31,  2021 as  filed  with  the  Securities  and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”),  I,  Antonio Carrillo,  President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company, as of, and
for, the periods presented in the Report.

/s/ Antonio Carrillo

Antonio Carrillo
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 30, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In  connection  with  the  Quarterly  Report  of  Arcosa,  Inc.  (the  “Company”)  on Form 10-Q for  the  period ended March 31,  2021 as  filed  with  the  Securities  and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott C. Beasley, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company, as of, and
for, the periods presented in the Report.

/s/ Scott C. Beasley

Scott C. Beasley
Chief Financial Officer
April 30, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 95
Mine Safety Disclosures

The Company owned or operated mines during the three months ended March 31, 2021. The Financial Reform Act ("Dodd-Frank") requires us to disclose in our
periodic reports filed with the SEC, specific information about each of our mines comprised of notices, violations, and orders  made by the Federal Mine Safety
and Health Administration pursuant to the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977.

The following table is a summary of the reportable information required for our mines that operated during the three months ended March 31, 2021:

Mine or Operating 
 Name/MSHA 
 Identification 

 Number

Section 104
S&S Citations

(#)

Section
104(b)

Orders (#)

Section 104(d)
Citations and

Orders (#)

Section 110(b)
(2) Violations

(#)

Section
107(a)

Orders (#)

Total Dollar Value
of MSHA

Assessments
Proposed 

($)

Total
Number of

Mining
Related

Fatalities (#)

Received
Notice of
Pattern of
Violation

Under Section
104(e) (yes/no)

Received
Notice of

Potential to
Have Pattern
under Section

104(e) (yes/no)

Legal Actions
Pending as of
Last Day of
Period (#)

Legal 
 Actions 
 Initiated 
 During 
 Period 

 (#)

Legal Actions
Resolved

During Period
(#)

Asa 
(4104399) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Belton 
(4101043) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Cottonwood 
(4104553) — — —  — — $ — 

2

— No No — — — 
Kimball Bend 
(4105462) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
Kopperl 
(4104450) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Malloy Bridge 
(4102946) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Paradise 
(4103253) — — —  — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
Anacoco 
(1600543) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Indian Village 
(1600348) — — —  — — $ 250 — No No — — — 
Rye 
(4102547) — — —  — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
Pearl River 
(1601334) — — —  — — $ — 

2

— No No — — — 
Eaves Loop 
(1601589) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Moody 
(4105204) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Cameron 1336 (1) 
(4104482) — — — — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
ACG Materials Bouse Junction 
(3401828) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Materials Diamond 
(3401660) 1 — —  — — $ — 

3

— No No — — — 
ACG Materials Diamond North 
(3401977) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Materials Shamrock 
(4104758) — — —  — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
Adams Claim 
(2600668) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Harrison Gypsum #2 
(3401364) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 

1 Significant and Substantial (S&S) citations are reported on this form. Non-S&S citations are not reported on this form but any assessments resulting from non-S&S citations are reported.
2 Proposed penalty amounts are pending regarding non-S&S citation(s) issued during the reporting period.
3 Proposed penalty amounts are pending regarding S&S citation(s) issued during the reporting period.
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Mine or Operating 
 Name/MSHA 
 Identification 

 Number

Section 104
S&S Citations

(#)

Section
104(b)

Orders (#)

Section 104(d)
Citations and

Orders (#)

Section 110(b)
(2) Violations

(#)

Section
107(a)

Orders (#)

Total Dollar Value
of MSHA

Assessments
Proposed 

($)

Total
Number of

Mining
Related

Fatalities (#)

Received
Notice of
Pattern of
Violation

Under Section
104(e) (yes/no)

Received
Notice of

Potential to
Have Pattern
under Section

104(e) (yes/no)

Legal Actions
Pending as of
Last Day of
Period (#)

Legal 
 Actions 
 Initiated 
 During 
 Period 

 (#)

Legal Actions
Resolved

During Period
(#)

Harrison Gypsum #5 
(3401964) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
Ludwig 
(2602775) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Ainsworth 
(4105117) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Garrett 
(4105169) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Mentone Pit 
(4105458) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Ft Stockton 
(4104943) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Materials Orla LLC 
(4104958) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
ACG Stanton 
(4105067) 1 — —  — — $ 905 — No No — — — 
Dilley Pit 
(4104879) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Midkiff 
(4104913) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
McCamey Pit 
(4105507) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
Seven Points 
(4104495) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
J A Jack & Sons 
(4503239) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
KRMI Quarry 
(4503363) — — —  — — $ 409 — No No — — — 
Marianna Quarry 
(0801267) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Wills Point Lester 
(4104071) — — —  — — $ — — No No — — — 
Boulder 
(0504415) 2 — —  — — $ 1,390 — No No — — — 
Brooklyn 
(1200254) 5 — — — — $ 7,350 

4

— No No — — — 
Brooks 
(1500187) — — — — — $ — — No No — — — 
Erwinville 
(1600033) — — — — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
Frazier Park 
(0400555) — — —  — — $ 250 — No No — — — 
Livingston 
(0100034) — — — — — $ 125 — No No — — — 
Streetman 
(4101628) — — —  — — $ — 

2

— No No — — — 

4 Proposed penalty amounts are pending regarding non-S&S and S&S citation(s) issued during the reporting period.


